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Percent

Year Ended December 31 2004 2003 Change
Consolidated revenues — nonregulated (Millions) * $3,598.6 $3,137.6 14.7
Consolidated revenues — utility (Millions) * 1,292.0 1,183.7 9.1
Margins —~ nonregulated (Miltions) 139.8 121.0 15.5
Margins - utility (Millions) 715.8 651.4 9.9
Income from continuing operations (Millions) * 156.2 110.6 41.2
Income avaiiable for common shareholders (Millions) 139.7 94.7 47.5

Earnings per average share of common stock

Income from continuing operations — basic * $4.09 $3.26 25.5
Income from continuing operations — diluted * 4.07 3.24 256
Income available for common shareholders — basic 3.74 2.87 30.3
income available for common shareholders — diluted 3.72 2.85 30.5
Dividends per share § 2.20 $ 2.16 1.9
Book value per share 29.30 27.40 6.9
Common stock price at year end $49.96 $46.23 8.1
Shares outstanding at year end (excludes treasury
stock and shares in deferred compensation trust) 37,259,553 36,621,976 1.7
Total assets (Millions) $4,445.6 $4,292.3 3.6

* Refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis for an explanation of changes
in revenue and a discussion of discontinued operations.

Cash Flow Summary

Year Ended December 31 (Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Net cash operating activities $243.0 $ 62.4 $188.5
Net cash investing activities ’ (312.6) (244.0) (265.4)
Net cash financing activities 76.8 198.6 93.1
Change in cash and cash equivalents ~ continuing operations $ 72 $ 17.0 $ 16.2

2004 Earnings By Segment (Millions)

—B8 Electric Utility $ 68.8
Gas Utility 17.3
] WPS Energy Services 36.7 |
—ll WPS Power Development 5.0 |
ll Other 11.9
Total Earnings $139.7
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Craig Maternoski manages communications
technologies for Wisconsin Public Service. He is
leadmg a team that is building a communications




Business
Established in 1883.
Regulated electric and natural gas utility.

Operates in northeast and central Wisconsin and an
adjacent portion of Upper Michigan (see map at left).

2,462 employees.

Market
Serves 421,240 electric and 305,648 natural gas customers.

Provides electric and natural gas products and services to
residential, farm, commercial, and industrial customers. Also
provides electric power to wholesale customers.

Electric operations accounted for 66% and natural gas
operations accounted for 34% of 2004 revenues.

Electric revenues are comprised of 87% retail sales and
13% wholesale sales.

Wisconsin customers accounted for 97% and Michigan
customers accounted for 3% of 2004 revenues.

Facilities

Electric generating capacity based on 2005 summer capacity
ratings is 2,198 megawatts, including share of jointly owned
facilities. A peak demand was reached on July 20, 2004, with
a system demand of 2,180 megawatts.

Electric property includes 20,897 miles of electric distribution lines,
90% of which are operated at 24.9 kV.

Gas property includes 7,483 miles of gas main, 70% of which
is plastic main, and 86 gate and city regulator stations.

Business
[] Established in 1884.
[ Regulated electric utility.

[ Operates in primarily rural countryside covering 10 of the 15 counties
in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan (see map at left).

[1 174 employees.

Market
[ Serves 51,941 electric customers in 99 communities.
[ Provides electric energy to 36 wholesale customers.

[ Main industries served are forest products, tourism, and
small manufacturing.

[3 Electric revenues are comprised of 83% retail sales and
17% wholesale sales.

Facilities

[ Electric generating capacity based on 2005 summer capacity ratings
is 78 megawatts. A peak demand was reached on January 29, 2004,
with a system demand of 149 megawatts.

[ Electric property includes 3,070 miles of electric distribution lines.

Business

[ Established in 1995.

[3J Owns and operates various nonregulated electric generation facilities.
[0 Owns a portion of a synthetic fuel facility.

[ Provides electric power generation services.

[J 180 employees.

Market

1 Operates nationwide and in adjacent portions of Canada
(see map at left).

[ Significant focus on the northeast quadrant of the United States.

Products and Services

0 Provides engineering and management services and operations
and maintenance services.

[ Areas of expertise include cogeneration, distributed generation,
generation from renewables, and generation plant repowering projects.

Facilities
3 74 megawatts of hydroelectric and diesel generation facilities in the
state of Maine and in New Brunswick, Canada.

[J 503 megawatts of primarily coal-fired generation facilities in
Pennsylvania.

[J 259 megawatts of combined cycle and fluidized bed generation
facilities in upstate New York.

[1 50-megawatt cogeneration facility in Combined Locks, Wisconsin.
[J 53-megawatt coalfired generation facility in Cassville, Wisconsin.
[J A minority interest in a synthetic fuel facility located in Kentucky.

{J Landfill and wood waste gas generating facilities in
Wisconsin and steam boilers in other states.
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Belief also plays an equally important role in our industry.
Customers believe in our ability to supply their energy
needs—to be there whenever they want light, heat, or

energy for @ myriad of needs. They believe in our reliability
and our dependability in delivering energy in a safe and
-environmentally responsible manner and at competitive prices.

Investors believe in our ability to manage our business well
and to provide them with reasonable returns and prudent risk
management. They believe we will continue to protect and grow
the value of their investments.

Employees believe in their own abilities and the abilities of their
co-workers to get the job done, to do the right thing for our
customers and the communities we serve, and to work in an
atmosphere that provides respect, opportunity, and safety for all.

Communities and the public believe in our ability to make the
right decisions in energy matters, environmental stewardship, and
community involvement. They have learned to trust us to be there
in their time of need and help resolve their immediate concerns.

Believing in someone or something first requires trust. A

big part of our job at WPS Resources is to build the trust
necessary for all stakeholders to believe in our willingness
and ability to contribute positively to today’s society. That
contribution may he in the form of energy, community support,
employment opportunities, or just caring.

Our employees have completed another year of building that
trust and enabling others to believe in us. They are continuing
1o create energy to believe in. Let me illustrate a few examples
from 2004.

Energy for the Future

B We began construction on Weston 4—the largest single
electric generation project in our company’s history.

B We signed a contract with Calpine Corporation, doubling
the amount of energy available to us from the Fox Energy
Center. This facility will add 470 megawatts to our
generating capacity for several years.

8 We completed a new facility housing our customer call
center. This facility will enable us to better serve our
customers during adverse conditions.

Energy for

Environmental Stewardship

O We completed the sales and donation of the Peshtigo River
lands, transferring almost 12,000 acres of recreational
lands for the future enjoyment of many generations.

O We signed an agreement to purchase 70 megawatts
of renewable energy, provided by wind generation, and
collaborated with paper customers in using by-products
as a renewable energy source.

O We are building a highly efficient generating unit in
Weston 4, which will operate under stringent emission
standards that are among the lowest in the nation for a
coalfired unit and will make the plant one of the cleanest
plants of its kind.

Energy Tor Partnershics

O We signed a joint ownership agreement with Dairyland
Power Cooperative for Weston 4. Joint ownership will reduce
the risk associated with ownership of such a large unit.

O We signed a long-term, comprehensive energy supply
agreement with Consolidated Water Power Company, a
subsidiary of Stora Enso North America, that will provide
benefits for both organizations for many years to come.

O We signed a long-term wholesale supply agreement with
Wisconsin Public Power Inc., providing the communities
they serve with part of their energy requirements.

/ative Products

O We developed portfolio optimization and risk mitigation
capabilities for WPS Energy Services that allow us to
provide new products and solutions for customers.

Energy for Innc

O We welcomed Advantage Energy into the WPS Resources
family and began offering WPS Energy Services’ products
to the New York retail markets.

O We offered new tariffs to our Wisconsin commercial and
industrial customers that provide options and enable them
o better control their energy costs.

energYTo BELIEVE IN

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION




BN overview
SF OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE | Energy for Shareholder Value
WES Resources Corporation  —  JEN

We surpassed our goal for annualized earnings-per-share
growth of 6 to 8 percent from continuing operations and
provided shareholders a 25 percent increase over 2003.

C We paid dividends for the 64th consecutive year and
increased dividends for the 46th consecutive year.

O We delivered a 13.2 percent total shareholder return for
our investors who reinvested their $2.20 in dividends
per share and held their WPS common stock from
December 31, 2003, through December 31, 2004.

$4,321.3
$4,890.6

— — 0O The Wall Street Journal reported in their February 28, 2005,
awpc Upper Peninculs B oony edition that WPS Resources ranked 6th in shareholder

return over the past five years (2000 to 2004) out of a
universe of 44 electric utilities.

‘0 We reviewed and revised our corporate governance policies,
2o ' which led to top quartile scores by corporate governance
~ ) ) 4 t rating agencies.
—

Energy for Great
Customer Relationships

- g — 0 S
pous 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 |

Nonregulated Subsidiaries . .
! O In customer satisfaction surveys done by us and others,

WEs Energy Services. ine. . .

our customers have consistently given us high marks for

our performance.

I We've worked hard on ensuring customer satisfaction, and

this was once again proven when WPS Energy Services’
customers rated us 7th in overall customer satisfaction
and 6th by industrial customers in a 2004 national survey
conducted by Mastio & Company. Since we first appeared in

$3,553.5
$1,087.3

the Mastio rankings in 1999, customers have consistently

rated WPS Energy Services among the top 10 energy

HUTWES Péwer Davy marketers in North America.

Energy for Meeting
Our Challenges

O As part of our asset management strategy and in an effort
to modify our risk profile for our customers, in November
2003 we announced the pending sale of the Kewaunee

nuclear power plant. We've received all necessary
approvals, except one. The Public Service Commission
of Wisconsin initially rejected the sale, but granted our
request for reconsideration.

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION




O As part of our asset management strategy and following
a shift in the markets in Pennsylvania, we announced the
sale of our Sunbury generating facility. This sale has not
occurred as scheduled, but we are progressing with a sale
process using an investment banking advisor and expect
the sale to occur during 2005.

Energy for Winning Strategies

B We have developed a portfolio of regulated and
nonregulated businesses that have adhered to our core
competencies of energy and energy-related activities.

This combination has provided higher growth opportunities,
diversified our risk profile, and enabled us to provide
customers with more energy solutions.

& We are continuing to seek balanced growth of our
businesses, placing greater emphasis on growth of
our regulated utility business while at the same time
carefully growing our nonregulated subsidiaries.

& We have maintained a conservative financial strategy
and risk profile while growing the company and providing
investors with above-average returns.

@

In the coming months, we will be taking steps to make our
operations work even more effectively and efficiently than
they have in the past. We will be reaching for higher levels
of competitive excellence through innovation and creativity.
Our goal is for every process in the company to be “best in
class” in our industry. We expect that these efforts will
result in higher standards of service for our customers,
lower prices, and highly effective operations.

Energy for Leading the Future

The challenges and opportunities we face, as individual
employees and as a business, are changing rapidly, and
we are continually developing the management team and
the organization necessary for our continuing success.

Our focused succession planning process is one of the critical
initiatives that is helping us successfully manage our destiny
in new environments. It is an ongoing assessment and
development of our people, ensuring the necessary knowledge,
skill, and ability to support our corporate strategy for growth.

It is the drive to create even more energy to believe in.

energ>/m BELIEVE IN

The tone of an organization is set by senior management's
actions and deeds much more than by their words. Our

leaders must be those that our employees, the communities
we serve, the financial community, and our shareholders
believe will deliver the vaiue they seek. So, in 2004, | made

a number of changes to my senior staff to bring to the forefront
strong models of trust and service.

This past year, we restructured the operations of WPS Energy
Services and WPS Power Development to better capture
synergies. Both companies are now under the leadership

of Mark Radtke as President.

Phit Mikulsky is now Executive Vice President - Development for
the holding company and is responsible for our transmission team
and our expanded asset management and portfolio strategy.

Tom Meinz is now Executive Vice President - Public Affairs.

Tom also serves as Chairman of the Board for Upper Peninsula
Power Company, President for Wisconsin River Power Company,
and Vice President for Wisconsin Valley Improvement Company.

Wisconsin Public Service Corporation has two new Presidents
in Charlie Schrock, President and Chief Operating Officer -
Generation, and Larry Borgard, President and Chief Operating
Officer - Energy Delivery.

Upper Peninsula Power Company has a new Chief Executive
Officer in Larry Borgard and a new President in Gary Erickson.

Bud Tremi is now Senior Vice President - Human Resources
for hoth WPS Resources and Wisconsin Public Service.

Barbara Nick is now Vice President - Corporate Services for
WPS Resources and is leading our new initiative in technology
and project management.

These leadership changes are evidence of a wide-reaching
effort throughout our companies to build the face of the future.

Grow our earnings-per-share froem continuing operations

at 6 to 8 percent-orni- rage-annualized basis.

Achieve 15 to 25 perceht -ofour earnings from our
nonregulated-energy supply and services company.

i Continue our moderate- grewth in the annual dividend paid.

Provide investors with a;‘se:lii&—re:turn on their investments.




returns on INVESTMENT

Many other changes have occurred, as well, to place leaders
and their employees in a position where they can use their Basic Earnings Per Common Share

strengths for the good of our customers and shareholders.

We also have a number of new Vice Presidents and Assistant
Vice Presidents in other key areas:

O Brad Johnson, Vice President and Treasurer for
WPS Resources and Wisconsin Public Service

T Bill Bourbonnais, Vice President - Transmission for
WPS Resources
1 H _ = H .00/ R S— S ___8____38 _
O Dave Harpole, Vice President - Energy Supply - Projects 1995 1996 1997 1998 1993 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

for Wisconsin Public Service

O Jim Schott, Vice President - Regulatory Affairs for

Wisconsin Public Service Dividends Per Common Share

O Terry Jensky, Assistant Vice President - Energy Supply -
Operations for Wisconsin Public Service

O Howard Giesler, Assistant Vice President for
WPS Power Development

This new team has skill, knowledge, diversity, and drive
and is already creating even more energy to believe in.

A Compa ny to Be“eve In %1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Our company had a very successful 2004, and our success
is directly related to all of our employees. They are working
to provide for our customers’ current and future energy Cumulative Total Return*
requirements, protect our resources for future generations,

and earn an even higher level of trust.

We respect your trust and will never take it for granted.

Thank you for believing in WPS Resources and choosing
us for your investment. We're proud to provide you with

an energy company to believe in.

Sincerely,

$212.08

Larry L. Weyers
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer

March 8, 2005

7&«7 V7 WM == 1 > 14
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Equivalent average annual return of 12.94%.

Assumes $100 investment in common stock at year-end
1994 and all dividends reinvested quarterly. Cumulative
total return for the ten-year period is equivalentto an
average annual return of 12.94%.
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John Schneider, a line electrician for
Wisconsin Public Service, makes sure
the power is always on for customers
in northern Wisconsin. It's critical
work, at any hour and in all kinds

of weather. It shows a sense of
dedication that John's daughter,
Rachel, already understands—
and makes him a role model she
can believe in.




Believe in the FUTURE

The rapidly changing world is posing complex issues that
command attention for our energy future—growing energy use,
rising energy costs, a need for balance between technology and
the environment, and new ways to generate, sell, deliver, and
save energy. That's why we're making deliberate choices to not
only meet the demands of today, but anticipate the needs of
our children, their children, and beyond.

We're continuing to expand clean, reliable power options that
can keep pace with fastrising energy use. We're offering our
customers solutions to help them manage costs as the price of
energy rises. And we're continuing to operate as the company
50 many rely on to provide the best long-term value in energy
and related services.

Here are just some of the ways we're generating “Energy to
Believe In" both now and for future generations of customers,
employees, and shareholders.

electrical systems throughout the service area, further
strengthening our ability to deliver reliable energy on demand.

Believe in COLLABORATION

We generated positive energy toward our goals tast year by
partnering with others—a bedrock value of WPS Resources’
companies.

As regulators in Wisconsin sought to expedite their approval of
much-needed new generation, we offered our Weston 4 project as
a model to move through a new, streamlined regulatory process.

The approval of Weston 4 would never have been possible
without the power of community involvement during the
approval process. Throughout the year, business people,
community leaders, and power plant neighbors gathered in
public forums and hearings. They participated in community
advisory meetings, wrote letters, raised questions, and became
familiar with the dynamics of the proposed project.

“My dad works in a bucket on power lines. When there i a §+O yYm /
he never ¢tops working, becavse it i hig J'ob.“

Believe in RELIABILITY

“Energy to Believe In"—it all begins with WPS Resources’ focus
on ensuring reliable energy. We continue to act with urgency to
improve and expand our energy infrastructure.

In Wisconsin, the need for more electric infrastructure can no
longer wait. The growth of new homes and businesses that we
serve, compounded by the rising use of computers and digital
technologies, has driven electric demand upward by 2 to

3 percent per year. At that rate of growth, customer demand

is expected to outpace our production by 250 megawatts in
just three years.

Throughout 2004, one of our key initiatives was to obtain
regulatory approval for Weston 4—a new 500-megawatt electric
generating unit that will be the first “base load” power plant
{designed to run around the clock) 1o be built by Wisconsin
Public Service, our regulated electric and natural gas utility, in
more than 20 years.

Achieving regulatory approval for Weston 4 made 2004 a
milestone year. Yet it is not the only step Wisconsin Public Service
is taking to expand and improve our infrastructure. Additional
upgrades are being made to existing natural gas facilities and

energYTo BELIEVE IN

Rachel Schneider, age 6

After a lengthy hearing process, the Public Service Commission
of Wisconsin granted approval of the Weston 4 project in the
fall of 2004, culminating a strong collaboration between
community leaders, residents, and the company. Construction
of the $750 million project began in October 2004, and we
anticipate that the plant will be operational in June 2008.

The Weston 4 project is poised to contribute back to the
community, creating as many as 1,200 construction jobs,
establishing more than 40 permanent jobs, and bringing millions
of dollars in material purchases back to the local economy.

Another example of collaborative partnering is an agreement
that reduces the financial and operational risks of owning a
facility such as Weston 4. An agreement was reached with
Dairyland Power Cooperative, a neighboring wholesale electric
cooperative headquartered in La Crosse, Wisconsin.

The agreement, signed in November 2004, means that, after
receiving pending approvals, Dairyland would have a 30 percent
ownership in the Weston 4 plant. This would supply Dairyland
with 150 megawatts of capacity, which would help the
cooperative meet its growing customer demand in the 62
counties throughout its four-state service area.

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION




Sometimes our partnerships rise from unexpected opportunities.
It was a winning situation for Marquette County, Michigan, when
our regulated electric utility, Upper Peninsula Power Company,

officially purchased the electric distribution system at K.I. Sawyer,

a former Air Force base maintained by the county.

The county purchased the distribution system—including poles,
wires, transformers, and substations—when the Air Force
abandoned the base in 1995. In June 2004, the county sold the
system to Upper Peninsula Power, and we moved quickly to
improve the system for the growing community of 3 large
industrial, 214 small business, and 1,145 residential customers.

When you believe in community, collaboration has no
boundaries. In the aftermath of 2004's Hurricane Francis, a
crew of 23 restoration technicians from Wisconsin Public
Service drove a convoy of 10 line trucks to southern Florida.
There, they spent nearly two weeks assisting the local utility,
Progress Energy, in restoring power to ravaged communities
throughout the state.

Compare My Bill allows customers to compare up to two years
of previous Wisconsin Public Service bills. By analyzing
changes in their bills over time, customers learn how costs are
affected by weather, new appliances, and living habits—history
that helps them make and keep careful budgets.

These are just some of the Energy-Saving Tools & Ideas that
clicked with customers at www.wisconsinpublicservice.com.

Believe in CARING

Caring for our customers and the communities we serve is
central to WPS Resources’ corporate culture.

The needs of our limited-income customers and the energy
burden many of them face are a growing concern and challenge
for Wisconsin Public Service. Our team of specially trained
customer assistance advisors proactively assists these
customers and links those who qualify to federal, state, and
local programs providing bill assistance, budget counseling,

“/\/\47 dad doe¢ electrical engineering to make C[ CO+V |CA 7'—17

Thcv] burn coal at Fiblic Service and work hard all ola

Believe in VALUE

Reliable energy comes with a price. In 2004, driven in large
part by escalating energy demand and the costs of building
Weston 4, Wisconsin Public Service filed for and received
approval to increase utility rates. We know increases like this
one can be difficult for our customers, and rising energy costs
bring new responsibilities in living out our mission to “provide
customers with the best value in energy and related services.”

We've turned to new ways to deliver value, giving people more
ways than ever before to manage their energy use. For
residential customers of Wisconsin Public Service, we've
developed Internet-based tools to help analyze and adapt their
energy habits.

Energy Analysis, for example, is a tool that gives customers a
better understanding of their home’s energy use. in minutes,
they can find areas of their highest energy expense and
discover cost-saving ways to change their patterns of energy
use. Plus, they can compare their home’s energy use to that of
similar residences in their area.

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION

Jordan Thapa, age 9

weatherization, and a variety of support services. The goal is
to help individuals and families work through unfortunate
situations, and help them become more self-sufficient.

And that’s just the beginning. From participating in corporate-
sponsored Habitat for Humanity projects to holding in-house
blood drives, the people of WPS Resources share generously of
their time, talents, and charitable dollars.

Each year, WPS Resources Foundation donates more than

$1 million to strengthen educational, cultural, human services,
economic, environmental, and other programs throughout the
communities we serve.

The Foundation also forms a catalyst for employee giving.
Through our “Dollars for Doers” program, the Foundation
donates $100 to the nonprofit organization of an employee’s or
retiree’s choice when the employee or retiree contributes at
least 20 hours of volunteer time. A program that matches
employees’s personal monetary contributions to qualifying
groups is also offered, and resulted in more than $40,000 in
matching gifts in 2004 alone.

We are living out the value of caring across our corporation.




For Suraj Thapa, a maintenance engineer at the Weston

Bel ieve | N CO NTRO L generating site, ensuring that more than 450 megawatts of
generation runs flawlessly is all in a day's work. The day’s end
Increasing revenue while managing rising costs is a constant brings time with Suraj's sons, Jacob (left) and Jordan (right), as

challenge for our retail, farm, commercial, and industrial well as his two daughters, and the very important job of fueling
customers. So we've invested our energies in strategic their dreams for tomorrow.
enhancements that give businesses more control over their

energy use than ever before.

For commercial customers, Wisconsin Public Service launched
an innovative pilot program called Response Rewards, which
takes managing electric costs to a whole new level. This
optional program offers lower energy rates to reward
businesses who reduce energy use during critical peaks in
energy demand and prices.

Businesses in the program enjoy off-peak and on-peak rates
that are lower than regular commercial rates. During a limited
number of “critical peak” hours, they receive a price signal that
is substantially higher than the norm. They have the option of
purchasing the higher, critical peak-priced energy or reducing
their purchases and costs. It's a classic win-win scenario.

energyTOBEL'EVE'N WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION
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“Mq mom doeg work. for Pcopfc who need ENE Y - She goeg to

Minnesota and Matne to holp them.

Wisconsin Public Service gains the ability to ease pressure on
the system-wide grid during peak demand, and commercial
customers benefit from the ability to enjoy significant savings

“throughout the year.

Day-Ahead Pricing is another power management initiative,
developed for Wisconsin Public Service’s largest industrial
customers. This program provides an alternative pricing
structure based on four levels of rates, rather than the
standard two. We advise customers by 3:30 p.m. what rates to
anticipate for the following day. This gives companies with
energy-intensive processes the ability to increase or decrease
the next day's production based on anticipated energy costs or
high-value opportunities.

Believe in SMALL BUSINESS

This year, small to mid-size businesses—the economic
engine of communities throughout Wisconsin Public
Service’s area—were armed with new energy options
to create competitive advantage.

A series of Internet-based seminars offered small business
owners new ways to manage their energy budgets and,
potentially, increase their bottom line. The information-packed
programs could be viewed from any computer with Internet
access. Specific sessions were developed for the needs of
grocery and convenience stores, restaurants, and hotels,
motels, and inns.

In a new pilot program—the Hometown Energy Checkup—
energy engineers took to the streets to help small businesses
gain maximum value for their energy dollar. Over the course
of several weeks, they conducted 250 on-site energy audits
of retailers, restaurants, gas stations, and convenience

stores in 4 cities.

Armed with backup data detailing each business’s past energy
history, our Hometown energy consultants used benchmark
data to compare energy costs against similar-sized businesses
in their category. They offered ideas for energy management
and savings, even evaluated payback models for recommended
improvements. It was guantifiable information to help small
businesses make sound decisions.

energYTo BELIEVE IN

[t muct be rcal!t«] havd to do.

isaac Monson, age 8

Believe in SUSTANABILITY

The way energy is produced and consumed continually
changes. For upcoming generations, that outiook may be
significantly different. That's why WPS Resources not only
continues to find better ways to help our customers conserve,
but maintains our commitment to renewable energy and
advocates for new wind, solar, and biomass energies.

With an eye to providing more renewable energy, Wisconsin
Public Service is stepping up the hunt for innovative, cost-
effective alternative power sources.

In 2004, we announced plans to increase our wind generation
capacity by 70 megawatts. It's a move that will expand our
renewable portfolio by 51 percent, while balancing efficiency
and commerciat viability. The increase is made possible
through an agreement to purchase power from the proposed
Forward Energy Wind Project in Brownsville, Wisconsin,
expected to be complete in 2006.

We're also expanding the availability of green power by
increasing the reach of our NatureWise® Renewable Energy
Program from Wisconsin Public Service customers to also
include Upper Peninsula Power customers. Through
NatureWise, environmentally conscious customers are able to
purchase 100-kilowatt-hour “blocks” of renewable energy.

Energy from the NatureWise program is produced by wind- and
biomass-fueled generators. It offers customers a simple means
to make a real difference-—over a year’s time, purchasing one
block of energy (100 kilowatt-hours per month) conserves
1,000 pounds of coal.

Support of promising new research is also part of our
environmental vision. WPS Resources is actively involved in the
National Mercury Reduction Research Project, a test program
being conducted at Sunflower Electric’s Holcomb Power Plant in
western Kansas. The research evaluates promising approaches
to achieving high levels of mercury removal in new and existing
coal-fired generating plants.

The new technology involves “sorbent injection”—an advanced
process that introduces an activated carbon or other similar
particle into the exhaust of a coal boiler. The mercury, which is
found in the flue gas, adheres to the sorbent and can be
collected prior to reaching the main exhaust stack.

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION




This advanced technology, which will be incorporated in

the design of Weston 4, is expected to capture more than
80 percent of the plant’s mercury emissions. As a result,
Weston 4 will be one of the nation’s cleanest coal-fired
generators of electricity, burning fuel cleanly and efficiently,
minimizing emissions, reducing overall fuel use and allowing
us to rely less heavily on our older plants.

Believe in STEWARDSHIP

Pursuit of affordable alternative energies is only part of our long-

term stewardship that balances respect for nature with sound
business practices.

Years from now, generations will continue to revel in the
unspoiled natural beauty of a premier wiiderness area
Wisconsin Public Service transferred to the state of
Wisconsin in 2004.

Current activities focus on recovery efforts such as stabilizing
the river’s banks, removing sediment and accumulations of
woody debris, reshaping the existing stream channel into a
more stable, natural state, and reforming the flood plain. In
an era when recovery action speaks louder than rhetoric, our
response to the Dead River crisis communicates integrity to
believe in.

Believe in CHOICE

Future generations will have the ability to purchase energy in
new ways. We see the power of this emerging paradigm in the
developing nonregulated energy market.

The dynamics of the free market are catalysts for innovation
and consultative service—strengths that allow our nonregulated
energy marketer, WPS Energy Services, to continue asa fast-
growing provider of competitive energy products.

“My mommy works with P@OP!C to help them pay their billg

Finalizing an agreement with the Wisconsin Department of
Natural Resources, in December, we officially transferred the
last of approximately 12,000 acres of pristine land along the
Peshtigo River. The wilderness area—a breathtaking vista of
native meadows, wild riverbeds, cascading waterfalls, and virgin
timber—will form the 11,000-acre Peshtigo River State Forest
and complete the Tommy G. Thompson Centennial State Park.
This combination of sales and donations to the state
culminated a plan of action that began in 2001.

Environmental stewardship also brings with it long-term
corporate responsibility. Upper Peninsula Power’'s Dead River
Basin recovery project in Upper Michigan is a case in point. In
May 2003, a fuse piug and its foundation failed at Silver Lake
Reservoir—unleashing the reservoir, disrupting downstream
power production, and dramatically affecting the
environmental landscape.

Upper Peninsula Power, operator of the reservoir, continues to
work hand in hand with federal, state, and local agencies to
implement a phased recovery of damage 1o the riverway. With
the help of local and federal legislators, we acquired funding to
commission a complete recovery plan and teamed up with the
Army Corps of Engineers and the Natural Resource
Conservation Service to continue phased recovery.

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION

Jimmie Shepard, age 9

In 2004, WPS Energy Services expanded its market penetration
through the purchase of Advantage Energy, a privately held
nonregutated electric power marketer based in Buffalo, New York.
The acquisition added more than 8,000 residential and commercial
customers with a peak annual load of 275 megawatts throughout
western New York to WPS Energy Services’ portfolio. It also
positions the subsidiary to leverage its existing relationships

for the future marketing of natural gas.

Our organizational structure is also evolving to better serve
the marketplace. WPS Energy Services and WPS Power
Development are working together to further streamline
operations and create synergies between our generating and
marketing businesses. This effort is creating efficiencies and
an integrated business focus.

WPS Energy Services has also ramped up the frequency and
effectiveness of customer communications, delivering timely
data to help customers make informed decisions. Tools include
Internet enhancements, plus new capabilities for voice, fax, and
pager broadcasts alerting customers to power management
issues. Information-packed publications were also launched to
keep customers abreast of factors affecting their energy assets,
from global energy news 1o outlooks on the latest energy
market activity.
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Dean Hilbert is a gas utility mechanic for
Wisconsin Public Service in Green Ba
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becomes an emergency, which benefits
the entire community. When the snow
falls, he’ll find the best snow for sledding,
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One of WPS Energy Services’ latest enhancements is the
eMiner™ energy information system—a real-time energy
monitoring program that mines and integrates energy data.
Using actionable, real-time information, customers can easily
analyze and adapt their energy use and manage their energy
assets. And, unlike other expensive software programs, eMiner
eliminates additional charges for added users. The result?
Better information, better decisions about energy use, and
better value for the customer’s energy dollar.

Believe in MANAGED RISK

Managing risk is a critical competency in all of our businesses,
but perhaps this is most evident in the merchant marketpiace.
It's a competency WPS Energy Services demonstrated
throughout 2004.

Significant increases in electric revenue and margin, as
compared to the same periods in 2003, were gained through
leveraging our assets in the marketplace. WPS Energy Services
focused intensely on optimizing our power portfolio and reducing
market risk.

We have concentrated on serving markets that are in line

with our targeted growth strategy. We have improved supply
management. We have reduced price risk while creating greater
value from our generating plants and retail supply portfolios.
And we have minimized uncontracted generation exposure with
physical products and financial instruments.

Together, this heightened focus on managing risk and delivering
greater value in our nonregulated business positions
WPS Resources for even more success in the coming years.

Believe in VISION

“Energy to Believe In” is ahout value, about reliability, and about
integrity in how we serve. It's a commitment centered in our
vision of “People Creating a World-Class Energy Company.”

According to recent independent customer ratings, the public
believes strongly in our ability to fulfill that vision.

In the past year, nearly one in four residential customers
reported that their trust in Wisconsin Public Service grew.
Small business customers rated us better than other area
utilities for being “open and honest in dealing with customers.”
And 97 percent of our large industrial customers gave us top

performance ratings for honoring commitments.

Belief is also echoed strongly in customers’ views of
WPS Energy Services. Since 1998, customers have
consistently rated WPS Energy Services among the
top 10 energy marketers in North America. The year
2004 was no exception.

Throughout WPS Resources’ companies, the ability to balance
vision and action, along with present and future needs, has
generated a powerful formula for customer satisfaction and
long-term strength.

“Daddys on call. He h@ng people, Joes to people’s hovses, vses hig

shovel, moves dirt.

improved internal risk management also provides enhanced
value for our customers. Expanded products, straﬁegies, and
systems are creating more flexibility to respond to market
opportunities on behalf of our customers.

Our customers are exercising greater control and certainty
over their energy costs by establishing fixed prices for future
deliveries of energy. And they are optimizing the value they
receive from ongoing, timely operation of their energy assets.
it's all part of a focused commitment to help those we serve
to grow and compete in an increasingly global market.

energYTo BELIEVE IN

He makes the water hot and ¢tuff like that:
If theve was anything not working, | think he would fix it”

Hayley Hilbert, age 6

In the same ways that we serve and maintain the trust of
our customers, we continually work to serve and maintain
the trust of you, our shareholders. We will do our best to
earn your continued trust.

As you go about your daily life, plan for your children's
hopes and dreams, and invest in the possibilities of the
future, you can count on us to be with you—generating
“Energy to Believe In.”

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION




FORWARD-LOOKING STATEM‘E NTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
You can identify these statements by the fact that they do not
relate strictly to historical or current facts and often include

] ”ou

words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “plan,” “project,” and other similar words. Although we
believe we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions,
there can be no assurance that indicated results will be realized.
Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or
should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results

could vary materially from those anticipated.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on

which they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise. We recommend that
you consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects
in our 10-Q, 8-K, and 10-K reports to the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

The following is a cautionary list of risks and uncertainties that
may affect the assumptions that form the basis of forward-
looking statements relevant to our business. These factors, and
other factors not listed here, could cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in forward-looking statements.

0 Resolution of pending and future rate cases and negotiations
(including the recovery of deferred costs) and other regulatory
decisions regarding Wisconsin Public Service Corporation and
Upper Peninsula Power Company;

O The impact of recent and future federal and state regulatory
changes, including legislative and regulatory initiatives
regarding deregulation and restructuring of the electric utility
industry, changes in environmental, tax, and other laws and
regulations to which WPS Resources and its subsidiaries are
subject, as well as changes in application of existing laws
and regulations;

0

Current and future litigation, regulatory investigations,
proceedings or inquiries, including manufactured gas plant
site cleanup and pending Environmental Protection Agency
investigations of Wisconsin Public Service Corporation’s
generation facilities;

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION

Resolution of audits by the Internal Revenue Service and
various state revenue agencies;

The effects, extent, and timing of additional competition in
the markets in which WPS Resources Corporation's
subsidiaries operate;

The impact of fluctuations in commeodity prices, interest rates,
and customer demand;

O Available sources and costs of fuels and purchased power;

0 Ability to control costs (including costs of decommissioning

generation facilities);

O Investment performance of employee benefit plans;

O Advances in technology;

0O Effects of and changes in political, legal, and economic

Il
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conditions and developments in the United States;

The performance of projects undertaken by nonregulated
businesses and the success of efforts to invest in and
develop new opportunities;

Potential business strategies, including acquisitions or
dispositions of assets or businesses, which cannot be
assured to be completed (such as the potential sale of the
Sunbury plant, the potential sale of the Kewaunee plant,
construction of the Weston 4 generation plant, and
construction of the Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota,
transmission ling);

The direct or indirect effect resulting from terrorist incidents
or responses to such incidents;

Financial market conditions and the results of financing
efforts, including credit ratings and risks associated with
commodity prices, interest rates, and counterparty credit;
Weather and other natural phenomena; and

The effect of accounting pronouncements issued periodically
by standard-setting bodies.




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

WPS Resources is a holding company that is exempt from the Public
Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. Our wholly owned subsidiaries
include two regulated utilities, Wisconsin Public Service Carporation
(WPSC)—which is an operating entity as well as a holding company
exempt from the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—and
Upper Peninsula Power Company (UPPCO). Another wholly owned
subsidiary, WPS Resources Capital Corporation, is a holding company
for our nonregulated businesses, including WPS Energy Services, Inc.
(ES!) and WPS Power Development, Inc. (PDI).

Our regufated and nonregulated businesses have distinct
competencies and business strategies, offer differing products and
services, experience a wide array of risks and challenges, and are
viewed uniguely by management. The following summary provides a
strategic overview and insight into the operations of our subsidiaries.

Strategic Overview

The focal point of WPS Resources’ business plan is the creation of
long-term value for our shareholders (through growth, operational
excellence, and asset management) and the continued emphasis on
reliable, competitively priced, and environmentally sound energy
services for our customers. We are seeking a balanced portfolio of
utility and nonregulated growth, but we are placing emphasis on
regutated growth. A discussion of the essential components of our
business plan is set forth below:

Maintain a Strong Utility Base - As discussed above, we are
focusing on growth in our utility operations. A strong utility base is
important in order to maintain quality credit ratings, which are critical
to our success. In 2004, WPSC signed contracts with several
wholesale customers in order to bolster growth beyond our normal
utility growth rate, and WPSC is also expanding its generation fleet
in order to meet growing electric demand and ensure the continued
reliability of our energy services.

O WPSC entered into long-term power sale agreements with two
wholesale customers in 2004. One is for Consolidated Water
Power Company’s full requirements service (between 65 and
125 megawatts of firm load) through December 31, 2017. The
other is a 50-megawatt agreement with Wisconsin Public Power
Inc. beginning May 1, 2006, and ending April 30, 2021.

0 In October 2004, WPSC began construction of its 500-megawatt
coal-fired Weston 4 base-load power plant near Wausau,
Wisconsin, and announced in May 2004 that it would pursue
plans to build a jointly owned 500-megawatt base-load electric
plant with Wisconsin Power and Light Company. The Weston 4
power plant is expected to be operational in 2008.

J Calpine Corporation's 560-megawatt, combined cycle, natural gas-
fired generating facility (Fox Energy Center) in Kaukauna,
Wisconsin, is expected to be placed in service in June 2005.
WPSC has contracted for approximately 470 megawatts of this

plant’s output over a 10-year period. WPSC also contracted to
purchase 70 megawatts of wind generation over a 20-year period
from the Forward Energy Wind Project in Brownsville, Wisconsin.
Both of these agreements were signed as a means of seeking
the most cost effective mix of energy resources to meet growing
electric demand.

Integrate Resources to Provide Operational Excellence -

WPS Resources is committed to integrating the resources of its
business units (in accordance with any applicable regulatory
restrictions) by leveraging their individual capabilities and expertise
across the company.

{0 Effective August 2004, in an effort to better manage the market
risks associated with PDI's merchant generation plants, we
restructured the management of our two nonregulated business
units (ESI and PDI) and currently have one executive
management team overseeing the operations of these two
business units.

O In January 2004, ESI implemented strategies to optimize the
value of PDI's merchant generation fleet and has reduced the
market price risk while extracting additional value from these
plants, through the use of various financial and physical
instruments (such as forward contracts, options, and swaps).
Prior to leveraging ESI's energy marketing expertise, PDI sold
uncontracted energy into liquid financial markets at spot prices
or day ahead prices, which provided less predictable revenue
and margin.

Strategically Grow Nonregulated Businesses - ES! looks to grow its
electric and natural gas business, targeting growth in the
northeastern United States and adjacent portions of Canada
(through strategic acquisitions, market penetration of existing
businesses, and new product offerings), which is where ESI has the
most market expertise. As discussed above, our utilities are our core
businesses and as such we are placing a strong emphasis on growth
of utility operations in order to balance our regulated and
nonregulated growth. PDI focuses on optimizing the operational
efficiency of its existing portfolio of assets and pursues compatible
power development projects and the acquisition of generation assets
that “fit” in well with ESI's customer base and market expertise.

O in July 2004, ESI completed the acquisition of Advantage Energy,
a privately held nonregulated electric power marketer based in
Buffalo, New York. This acquisition provides ESI with enhanced
opportunities to participate in the New York market, where we
believe there is good opportunity for further penetration and the
sale of new products.

[J ESI continues to grow its business in the energy management
sector by providing customers the expertise needed to manage
their energy needs in volatile energy markets.

Place Strong Emphasis on Asset Management - Our asset

management strategy calls for the continuing disposition and
acquisition of assets in a manner that enhances our earnings
capability. The acquisition portion of this strategy calls for the




acquisition of assets that compliment our existing assets and
strategy such as Advantage Energy. Another portion of the asset
management strategy calls for the disposition of assets, including
plants and entire business units, which are no longer required

for operations.

[0 We continue to pursue the sale of Sunbury and expect to have a
completed sale in 2005. The sale of Sunbury fits well within our
asset management strategy. Included in this strategy is the desire
to reduce risk associated with uncontracted merchant exposure.

[ We continue to pursue the sale of Kewaunee to a subsidiary of
Dominion Resources.

0 Our Peshtigo River land sale initiative (which included land
sales and donations to the Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources (WDNR) and the sale of land at public auction) was
completed in 2004. We continue to identify alternatives for the
sale of the balance of our identified excess real-estate holdings.

Regulated Utilities

Our regulated utilities include WPSC and UPPCO. WPSC derives its
revenues primarily from the production, distribution, and sale of
electricity, and the purchase, distribution, and sale of natural gas to
retail customers in a service area of approximately 11,000 square
miles in northeastern Wisconsin and an adjacent portion of the
Upper Peninsula of Michigan. The Public Service Commission of
Wisconsin {(PSCW) and the Michigan Public Service Commission
(MPSC) regulate these retail sales. WPSC also provides wholesale
electric service to numerous utilities and cooperatives for resale.
The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) regulates
wholesale sales. UPPCO derives revenues from the sale of electric
energy in a service area of approximately 4,500 square miles in
the Upper Peninsula of Michigan and is regulated by the MPSC.

The reguiatory commissions allow the utilities to earn a return on
common stock equity that is commensurate with an investor's
desired return, compensating for the risks investors face when
providing funds to the utility. The return on common stock equity
approved by the PSCW, FERC, and the MPSC was 12.0%, 11.0%, and
11.4%, respectively, in 2004, Generally, consumers bear the price
risk for fuel and purchased power costs as regulators allow the utility
to recover substantially all of these costs (to the extent they are
prudently incurred), through various cost recovery mechanisms, but
utilities bear volume risk as rates are based upon normal sales
volumes as projected by the utility. The utilities may also be able to
defer certain unexpected costs that are incurred during the year for
recovery in future rate proceedings (examples include WPSC'’s
deferral of costs associated with the extended Kewaunee outage in
2004 and deferral of costs incurred by UPPCO related to the Dead
River flood); however, these costs must be prudently incurred as
determined by the regulatory commissions. As such, the ability of our
regulated utilities to earn their approved return on equity is
dependent upon accurate forecasting techniques, their ability to
obtain timely rate increases to account for rising cost structures

(while minimizing the required rate increases in order to maintain
the competitiveness of our core industrial customer base and keep
these customers in our service area), and certain conditions that
are outside of their control, such as macroeconomic factors and
weather conditions. Unfavorable weather conditions compared

to normal for both electric and natural gas utility operations and
increased operating expenses contributed to WPSC's inability

to earn its approved rate of return in 2004.

Uncertainties related to the deregulation process are a risk for our
regulated utilities. Deregulation of natural gas service has begun in
Wisconsin. Currently, the largest natural gas customers can purchase
natural gas from suppliers other than their local utility. Efforts are
underway to make it easier for smaller natural gas customers to do
the same. We believe electric deregulation inside Wisconsin is at
least several years off as the state is focused on improving reliability
by building more generation and transmission facilities and creating
fair market rules. If electric choice oceurs, we believe we could lose
some generation load but would retain the delivery revenues and
margin. Also, the capacity that would be freed up shouid be
competitive in our marketplace. Deregulation of electricity is present
in Michigan; however, in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan, no
customers have chosen an alternative electric supplier and no
alternative electric suppliers have offered to serve any customers in
Michigan's Upper Peninsula due to the lack of excess transmission
and generation system capacity in the areas we serve, which is a
barrier to competitive suppliers entering the market.

The utilities are also exposed to costs associated with increasingly
stringent environmental rules and regulations to the extent recovery
of these costs is disallowed in rate proceedings. WPSC and UPPCO
are also members of the Midwest Independent System Operator,
which is in the process of restructuring the electric market in its
footprint. For further discussion of environmental risks, see Note 17,
“Commitments and Contingencies,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and for further discussion of the Midwest
Independent System Operator, see Trends.

WPS Energy Services

ESI offers nonregulated natural gas, electric, and alternate fuel
supplies, as well as energy management and consulting services, to
retail and wholesaie customers primarily in the northeastern
quadrant of the United States and adjacent portions of Canada.
Although ESI has a widening array of products and services,
revenues are primarily derived through sales of electricity and natural
gas to retail and wholesale customers.

ESI's marketing and trading operations manage power and natural
gas procurement as an integrated portfolio with its retail and
wholesale sales commitments. ESI strives to maintain a low risk
portfolio with relatively few open positions, balancing natural gas and
electricity purchase commitments with corresponding sales
commitments. In 2004, ESI purchased electricity required to fuffill
these sales commitments primarily from independent generators,
energy marketers, and organized electric power markets and




purchased natural gas from a variety of producers and suppliers
under daily, monthly, seasonal, and long-term contracts, with pricing
delivery and volume schedules to accommodate customer
requirements. ESI's customers include utilities, municipalities,
cooperatives, commercial and industrial consumers, aggregators, and
other marketing and retail entities. ES! uses derivative financial
instruments to provide flexible pricing to customers and suppliers,
manage purchase and sales commitments, and reduce exposure
relative to volatile market prices.

The table below discloses future natural gas and electric sales
volumes under contract as of December 31, 2004. Contracts are
generally one to three years in duration. ESI expects that its uitimate
sales volumes in 2005 and beyond will exceed the volumes shown
in the table below as it continues to seek growth opportunities and
existing customers who do not have long-term contracts continue to
buy their shortterm requirements from ESI.

Forward Contracted 2005 2006 to 2009 to
Volumes at 12/31/2004 Y 2008 2010
Wholesale sales volumes -

billion cubic feet 98.1 10.2 _
Retail sales volumes -

billion cubic feet 184.8 39.6 2.0
Total natural gas

sales volumes 282.9 49.8 2.0
Wholesale sales volumes -

million kilowatt-hours 5,981 1,665 -
Retail sales volumes -

million Kitlowatt-hours 3,413 1,575 73
Total electric sales volumes 9,394 3,240 73

(1) These tables represent physical sales contracts for natural gas and
electric power for delivery or settlement in future periods. Management
has no reason to believe that gross margins that will be generated by
these contracts will vary significantly from those experienced historically.

For comparative purposes, future natural gas and electric sales
volumes under contract at December 31, 2003, are shown below.
Actual electric and natural gas sales volumes for 2004 are
disclosed within Results of Operations - ESI Segment Operations.

Forward Contracted 2004 2005to | 2008 to
Volumes at 12/31/2003 2007 2009

Wholesale sales volumes -

billion cubic feet 95.8 15.1 _
Retail sales volumes -

billion cubic feet 173.4 63.2 _
Total natural gas

sales volumes 269.2 78.3 _
Wholesale sales volumes -

million kilowatt-hours 3,176 238 -
Retail sales volumes -

million kilowatt-hours 5,133 3,623 37
Tota! electric sales volumes 8,309 3,861 37

(1) These tables represent physical sales contracts for natural gas and
electric power for delivery or settlement in future periods. Management
has no reason to believe that gross margins that will be generated by
these contracts will vary significantly from those experienced historically.

ESI has experienced steady increases in electric and natural gas
sales volumes since its inception, and expects this trend to continue
as it continues to look for opportunities that fit within its growth
strategy. In 2004, ESI grew its retail electric business through the
acquisition of retail operations in New York and through portfolio
optimization strategies utilized to maximize the value of PDI's
merchant generation fleet and ESI's retail supply portfolio. Natural
gas volumes increased as a result of the continued expansion of
ESI’s retail natural gas business in Canada. ESI expects to continue
to target acquisitions and participate in generation service programs
within the area it serves.

As a company that participates in energy commodity markets, ESI is
exposed to a variety of risks, including market, operational, liquidity,
and credit risks. Market risk is measured as the potential gain or
loss of a portfolio that is associated with a price movement within

a given probability over a specific period of time, known as Value-
at-Risk. Through the use of derivative financial instruments, we
believe we have reduced our Value-at-Risk to acceptable levels (see
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk for more
information about Value-at-Risk). Operational risk is the risk of loss
from less than flawless execution of transactions, forecasting,
scheduling, or other operational activities and is common to all
companies participating in the energy marketing industry. ESI's
continued investment in computational infrastructure, business
process improvement, employee training, and internal controls has
helped mitigate operational risk to date. Liquidity risk is an emerging
risk and one that has historically been less applicable to ESI than
many industry participants because of the financial support provided
by WPS Resources in the form of guarantees to counterparties. A
significant downgrade in WPS Resources’ credit ratings, however,
could cause counterparties to demand additional assurances of
payment. WPS Resources’ Board of Directors imposes restrictions
on the amount of guarantees WPS Resources is allowed to provide
to these counterparties in order to protect its credit ratings, and ESI
believes it would have adequate capital to continue core operations
unless WPS Resources’ credit ratings fell below investment grade
(Standard & Poor’s rating of BBB- and Moody's rating of Baa3).

The other category of risk mentioned above that ESI faces is credit
risk from retail and wholesale counterparties. In order to mitigate
its exposure to credit risk, ESI has implemented stringent credit
policies. As a result of these credit policies, ESI has not experienced
significant write-offs from its large wholesale counterparties to date.
Write-offs pertaining to retail counterparties were $0.7 million, or
0.0%, in 2004, compared to $3.1 million, or 0.2%, in 2003. ESI
believes its write-off percentage is within the range experienced

by most energy companies. The table at the top of page 24
summarizes wholesale counterparty credit exposure, categorized

by maturity date, as of December 31, 2004 (in millions):

ORPORATION




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Exposure Exposure Net Exposure of Counterparties
Counterparty Rating (Millions) (! Exposure @ Less Than 1 Year 1 to 3 Years Greater Than 10% of Net Exposure
Investment grade — regulated utility $ 18.8 $ 13.7 $ 5.1 $ -
Investment grade — other 86.6 79.1 7.5 -
Non-investment grade ~ regulated utility - - - -
Non-investment grade — other 4.0 4.0 - -
Non-rated — regulated utility - - - -
Non-rated — other 36.3 28.2 8.1 -
Total Exposure $145.7 $125.0 $20.7 $-

(1) The investment and non-investment grade categories are determined by
publicly available credit ratings of the counterparty or the rating of any
guarantor, whichever is higher. Investment grade counterparties are those
with a senijor unsecured Moody’s rating of Baa3 or above or a Standard &
Poor’s rating of BBB- or above.

(2) Exposure considers netting of accounts receivable and accounts payable
where netting agreements are in place as well as netting mark-to-market
exposure. Exposure is before consideration of collateral from
counterparties. Collateral, in the form of cash and letters of credit,
received from counterparties totaled $11.7 million at December 31,
2004, $3.2 million from non-investment grade counterparties and
$8.5 million from non-rated counterparties.

A risk that became more prevalent in 2004 is industry restructuring.
There is some concern over the status of the nonregulated energy
market in Michigan and Ohio, which are two states in which ESI
operates. ESI is also a member of the Midwest Independent
System Operator, which is in the process of restructuring the
electric power market in its footprint. For more information on

these risks, see Trends.

WPS Power Development

PDI competes in the wholesale merchant electric power generation
industry, primarily in the midwest and northeastern United States
and adjacent portions of Canada. PDl's core competencies include
power plant operation and maintenance and material condition
assessment of assets. In order to enable PDI to focus on its core
competencies and improve the efficiency and reliability of its existing
fleet of power plants, ESI| has assumed much of the market price
risk associated with these plants. Through several tolling
agreements and power purchase agreements, ESI| has contracted for
approximately 330 of PDI's 425 megawatts of total capacity (these
capacity numbers exclude Sunbury, which is recorded in discontinued
operations). ESI utilizes power from PDI's New England and Canadian
assets primarily to serve its firm load commitments in northern
Maine and certain other sale agreements with customers. For the
remaining capacity contracted from PDI, ESI utilizes financial tools,

including forwards, options, and swaps to limit exposure, as well as
to extract additional value from PDI's merchant generation fleet.
These activities had a positive impact on ES!'s margin in 2004 and
benefited PDI by providing more stable revenue streams.

PDI has power purchase agreements in place with third-party
customers for the 95 megawatts of capacity that is not contracted to
ESI, which includes its Stoneman facility in Cassville, Wisconsin, and
its Combined Locks facility in Combined Locks, Wisconsin.

Oversupply of capacity, low spark spreads (spark spread is the
difference between the market price of electricity and its cost of
production), and high fuel costs have led to lower than anticipated
results for PDI's merchant generation business in recent years. In
response to these market conditions, PDI has taken steps to
adjust to the current wholesale merchant environment. As
discussed above, beginning in January 2004, ESI began assuming
much of the market price risk for PD)’s merchant generation fleet.
Prior to the capacity and power contracts with ESI, risk
management activities (i.e., hedging activities) were sparsely
utilized, leaving PDI’s generation fleet more exposed to market
price risk. PDI also continues to pursue the sale of Sunbury and
anticipates that the plant will be sold in 2005. The Sunbury sale
will allow PD! to reduce its uncontracted merchant exposure and
enable WPS Resources to redeploy capital into business
opportunities with different risk profiles.

PDI, through its subsidiary ECO Coal Pelletization #12 LLC, also
owns an interest in a synthetic fuel producing facility. See Trends —
Synthetic Fuel Operation for more information on the risks related
to PDI's investment in this synthetic fuel operation.

PDI is subject to clean air regulations enforced by the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and state and local
governments. New legislation could require significant capital
outlays. See Note 17, “Commitment and Contingencies,” of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on PDI's
environmental exposure.




RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2004 Compared with 2003

WPS Resources Overview

WPS Resources’ 2004 and 2003 results of operations are shown in
the following table:

WPS Resources’ Results
(Miilions, except share amounts) 2004 2003 Change
Consolidated operating

revenues $4,890.6 | $4,321.3 13.2%
Income available for

common shareholders $139.7 $94.7 47.5%
Basic earnings per share $3.74 $2.87 30.3%
Diluted earnings per share $3.72 $2.85 30.5%

The $569.3 million increase in consolidated operating revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to the same period
in 2003, was largely driven by a $475.1 million, or 15.4%, increase
in revenue at ESI and an $82.5 million, or 10.1%, increase in electric
utility revenue. Higher natural gas prices, portfolio optimization
strategies (implemented in 2004), and expansion of the Canadian
retail natural gas business were the primary contributors to
increased revenue at ESI. Higher electric utility revenue was primarily
the result of authorized retail electric rate increases for WPSC's
Wisconsin and Michigan customers. Revenue changes by reportable
segment are discussed in more detail below.

Income available for common shareholders was $139.7 million
($3.74 basic earnings per share) for the year ended December 31,
2004, compared to $94.7 million ($2.87 basic earnings per share)
for the year ended December 31, 2003. Significant factors impacting
the change in earnings and earnings per share are as follows (and
are discussed in more detail below).

O Approved rate increases (including the impact of timely retail
electric rate relief in 2004, compared to the delay in receiving
retail electric rate relief in 2003) favorably impacted year-
overyear margin at the utilities.

0O Natural gas utility throughput volumes were 6.2% lower in 2004
due to weather that was 4.3% warmer during the heating season,
compared to 2003.

O Higher throughput volumes and improved supply management
in Ohio favorably impacted ESI's year-over-year retail natural
gas margin.

O Portfolio optimization strategies, better management of retail
operations in Ohio and positive operating results from Advantage
Energy contributed to improved year-overyear electric margins at ESI.

0O As part of our overall asset management strategy, WPS Resources
realized earnings of $15.0 million from the sale and donation of
land in 2004, compared to $6.5 million in 2003,

0 Earnings from equity method investments (primarily from
American Transmission Company (ATC)) increased in 2004,
compared to 2003.

O Earnings were negatively impacted by higher operating and
maintenance expenses in 2004,

O Synthetic fuel related tax credits recognized were higher in 2004
when compared to 2003.

O The weighted average number of shares of WPS Resources
common stock increased by 4.4 million shares for the year ended
December 31, 2004, compared to the same period in 2003. The
increase was Iérgely due to issuing 4,025,000 additional shares
of common stock through a public offering in November 2003.
Additional shares were also issued under the Stock Investment
Plan and certain stock-based employee benefit plans.

Overview of Utility Operations

Utility operations include the electric utility segment, consisting of the
electric operations of WPSC and UPPCO and the gas utility segment
comprising the natural gas operations at WPSC. Income available for
common shareholders attributable to the electric utility segment was
$68.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to
$60.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Income
available for common shareholders attributable to the gas utility
segment was $17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004,
compared to $15.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Electric Utility Segment Operations

WPS Resources’ Electric

Utility Segment Results

(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Revenues $896.6 $814.1 10.1%
Fuel and purchased power costs 295.5 266.3 11.0%
Margins $601.1 $547.8 9.7%
Sales in kilowatt-hours 14,465.7 | 14,346.7 0.8%

Electric utility revenue increased $82.5 million, or 10.1%, for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to the same period in 2003.
Electric utility revenue increased largely due to authorized retail and
wholesale electric rate increases for WPSC’s Wisconsin and Michigan
customers (as summarized below) to recover higher fuel and
purchased power costs, increased operating expenses, and
expenditures incurred for infrastructure improvements.

O Effective March 21, 2003, the PSCW approved a retail electric
rate increase of $21.4 million, or 3.5%.

O Effective May 11, 2003, FERC approved a $4.1 million, or 21%,
interim increase in wholesale electric rates.

O Effective July 22, 2003, the MPSC approved a $0.3 million,
or 2.2%, increase in retail electric rates for WPSC's Michigan
customers and authorized recovery of $1.0 million of
increased transmission costs through the power supply
COoSst recovery process.

O Effective January 1, 2004, the PSCW approved a retail electric
rate increase of $59.4 million, or 9.3%.

Electric utility sales volumes were also slightly higher in 2004,
increasing 0.8% over 2003 sales volumes. A 1.6% increase in sales
volumes to commercial and industrial customers was partially offset
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by a 1.2% decrease in sales volumes to residential customers.
Higher sales volumes to our commercial and industrial customers
reflect an improving economy and growth within our service area,
while the decrease in sales volumes to residential customers
reflects weather that was 6.6% cooler during the 2004 cooling
season, compared to 2003.

The electric utility margin increased $53.3 miltion, or 9.7%, for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. The majority of
this increase can be attributed to a $52.3 million, or 10.5%,
increase in WPSC’s electric margin. The increase in WPSC’s electric
margin is primarily related to the retail and wholesale electric rate
increases, partially offset by a $20.4 million increase in purchased
power costs. The quantity of power purchased in 2004 increased
9.3% over 2003 purchases, and purchased power costs were 17.4%
higher (on a per-unit basis) in 2004, compared to 2003. The PSCW
allows WPSC to adjust prospectively the amount billed to Wisconsin
retail customers for fuel and purchased power if costs are in excess
of plus or minus 2% from approved levels. In response to a request
for additional fuel cost recovery filed early in 2004, WPSC was
allowed to recover $3.2 million of its increased fuel and purchased
power costs during 2004. The PSCW also allowed WPSC to defer
$5.4 million of unanticipated fuel and purchased power costs directly
associated with the extension of the Kewaunee refueling outage in
the fourth quarter of 2004. The Kewaunee outage was extended
three weeks due primarily 1o an unexpected problem encountered
with equipment used for lifting internal vessel components to
perform a required ten-year in-service inspection. It is anticipated
that these costs will be recovered in 20086, pending final approval.

Electric utility earnings increased $8.8 million, or 14.7%, for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. The increased
earnings were largely driven by the higher margin at WPSC (including
the effect of timely retail electric rate relief in 2004 compared to a
delay in receiving retail electric rate relief in 2003), partially offset by
higher operating and maintenance expenses.

Gas Utility Segment Operations

WPS Resources’ Gas

Utility Segment Results

(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Revenues $420.9 $404.2 4,1%
Purchased gas costs 301.9 291.0 3.7%
Margins $119.0 $113.2 5.1%
Throughput in therms 801.3 854.5 (6.2%)

Gas utility revenue increased $16.7 million, or 4.1%, for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. Higher revenue was
driven by an authorized rate increase and an increase in the per-unit
cost of natural gas, partially offset by an overall 6.2% decrease in
natural gas throughput volumes. The PSCW issued a final order

authorizing a retail natural gas rate increase of $8.9 million, or 2.2%,
effective January 1, 2004. Natural gas prices increased 14.2% per
unit in 2004, Higher natural gas prices reflect higher marketplace
natural gas costs in 2004. The PSCW and the MPSC allow WPSC to
pass changes in the total cost of natural gas on to customers. As a
result, changes in the price of the natural gas commodity do not
have a direct impact on WPSC’s margin. The decrease in natural gas
throughput volumes was driven by weather that was 4.3% warmer
during the heating season for the year ended December 31, 2004,
compared to 2003.

The natural gas utility margin increased $5.8 million, or 5.1%, for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. The higher
natural gas utility margin is largely due to the authorized rate
increase mentioned above. The ability of WPSC to realize the full
benefit of an authorized rate increase is dependent upon normal
throughput volumes; therefore, the decrease in natural gas
throughput volumes negatively impacted WPSC's ability to benefit
from the full amount of the rate increase.

The higher margin drove a $1.6 million, or 10.2% increase in natural
gas utility earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004,

Cverview of Nonregulated Operations

Nonregulated operations consist of natural gas, electric, and other
sales at ESI, a diversified energy supply and services company, and
the operations of PDI, an electric generation company. ESI and PD!
are both reportable segments.

income available for common shareholders attributable to ESI was
$36.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to
$29.0 million for the same period in 2003. Higher overall margins
were offset by an increase in operating expenses and a $3.3 million
aftertax cumulative effect of change in accounting principles that
was recorded at ESI in 2003.

PDI reported income available for common shareholders of

$5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to a
$7.9 million net loss for the year ended December 31, 2003, largely
due to an increase in the amount of tax credits recognized and a
lower loss from discontinued operations, partially offset by higher
operating and maintenance expenses and a lower overall margin.

ESI's Segment Operations

Total segment revenues at ESI were $3,556.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to $3,081.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003. The total margin at ESI| was
$111.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared
to $86.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. ESI's

_nonregulated natural gas and electric operations are the primary

contributors to revenues and margins and are discussed below.




ons, except sales vo 2004 2003 Change

Nonregulated natural

gas revenues $3,035.1 | $2,696.6 12.5%
Nonregulated natural gas

cost of sales 2,978.5 2,652.5 12.3%
Margins $ 566 | $ 441 28.3%
Wholesale sales volumes

in billion cubic feet * 236.3 252.4 (6.4%)
Retail sales volumes in

billion cubic feet * 276.7 240.6 15.0%

* Represents gross physical volumes,

Natural gas revenue increased $338.5 million, driven by higher
natural gas prices and the expansion of the Canadian retail natural
gas business (due to obtaining new customers), partially offset by
lower sales volumes from physical wholesale transactions. Sales
volumes from physical wholesale transactions declined as a result
of reduced price volatility of natural gas during the first half of
2004 (volatility provides mare opportunity for profitable physical
wholesale transactions).

The natural gas margin at ESI increased $12.5 million, or 28.3%, for
the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. The margin
related to retail natural gas operations increased $12.3 million,
primarily driven by higher natural gas throughput volumes in Ohio
{driven by the addition of new customers), operational improvements,
and better management of supply for residential and small commercial
customers. Customer growth in Canada also contributed to the
increase in the retail natural gas margin. The margin attributed to
wholesale natural gas operations increased $0.2 million. The
increase in wholesale natural gas margin was driven by a $4.6 million
margin increase reiated to the natural gas storage cycle, a $2.2 million
increase in the Canadian wholesale natural gas margin, and increased
margins from other structured wholesale natural gas transactions.
Favorable settlements of liabilities with several counterparties in
2003 (in the amount of $8.4 million) largely offset these increases in
the wholesale natural gas margin. For the year ended December 31,
2004, the natural gas storage cycle had a $2.0 million positive
impact on margin, compared with a $2.6 million negative impact on
margin for the same period in 2003. The increase in the Canadian
wholesale natural gas margin is related to higher volumes (more
structured wholesale transactions) as ESI continues to increase its
wholesale natural gas operations in this region.

ES! experiences earnings volatility associated with the natural gas
storage cycle, which runs annually from April through March of the
next year. Generally, injections of natural gas into storage inventory
take place in the summer months and natural gas is withdrawn from
storage in the winter months. ESl's policy is to hedge the value of
natural gas storage with sales in the overthe-counter and futures
markets, effectively locking in a margin on the natural gas in storage.
However, fair market value hedge accounting rules require the natural
gas in storage to be marked-to-market using spot prices, while the
future sales contracts are marked-to-market using forward prices.
When the spot price of natural gas changes disproportionately to the
forward price of natural gas, ES| experiences volatility in its earnings.
Consequently, earmnings volatility may occur within the contract period
for natural gas in storage. The accounting treatment does not impact
the underlying cash flows or economics of these transactions. At
December 31, 2004, there was a $0.6 million difference between

the market value of natural gas in storage and the market value of
future sales contracts (net risk management liability), related to the
2004/2005 natural gas storage cycle. At December 31, 2003, there
was a $2.6 million difference (net risk management liability) related
to the 2003/2004 natural gas storage cycle. The difference between
the market value of natural gas in storage and the market value of
future sales contracts related to the 2004,/20065 storage cycle is
expected to vary with market conditions, but will reverse entirely
when all of the natural gas is withdrawn from storage.

ESV’s Electric Results
(Miliions) 2004 2003 Change
Nonregulated electric revenues $518.9 $382.2 35.8%
Nonregulated electric

cost of sales 466.1 341.8 36.4%
Margins $ 528 $ 404 30.7%
Wholesale sales volumes

in kilowatt-hours * 3,181.5 2,768.0 14.9%
Retail sales volumes in

kilowatt-hours * 7,202.9 6,435.3 11.9%

* Represents gross physical volumes.

Electric revenue increased $136.7 million, largely due to an

$83.7 million increase resulting from higher voiumes from portfolio
optimization strategies. In the first quarter of 2004, ESI first
implemented the portfolio optimization strategies to optimize the
value of PDI's merchant generation fleet and its own retail supply
portfolios to reduce market price risk and extract additional value
from these assets through the use of various financial and physical
instruments (such as forward contracts and options). Electric
revenue also increased as a result of the July 1, 2004, acquisition of
Advantage Energy and higher energy prices compared to the prior
year. These increases were partially offset by lower sales volumes
from participation in the New Jersey Basic Generation Services
Program, as ESI’s participation in this program ended in May 2004,

ESI's electric margin increased $12.4 million, or 30.7%, for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. The 2004 retail
electric margin increased $7.8 million compared to 2003. The
margin related to retail electric operations in Ohio increased

$7.6 million, which can be attributed to better management of retail
operations and improved supply procurement. Aiso contributing to
the increase in retail electric margin was a $2.6 million favorable
settlement of a counterparty pricing dispute and positive operating
results from Advantage Energy. The increase in the retail electric
margin was partially offset by a decrease in margin from retail
electric operations in Maine. The lower margin in Maine was
anticipated due to the sales price and supply cost associated with
the new provider of last resort in northern Maine (which became
effective in March 2004). The margin from retail electric operations
in Michigan also decreased, driven by higher wholesale electricity
prices, higher transmission related charges, and an increase in
competition. The margin attributed to wholesale electric operations
increased $4.6 million. The higher wholesale electric margin was
driven by a $10.3 miillion increase from the portfolio optimization
strategies discussed above. This increase was partially offset by a
$5.7 million decrease in margin from ESI's participation in the New
Jersey Basic Generation Services Program, which began in August
2003 and ended in May 2004. Under the program, ES| realized
greater margins in 2003, compared to 2004.




PDI’'s Segment Operations

All revenues and costs of PDI's discontinued operations {(Sunbury)
are combined and reported on a net basis in WPS Resources’
Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented.
Accordingly, the table below does not include revenues and cost of
sales of discontinued operations, which are discussed separately
within Discontinued Operations below.

o Prod 0 e

0 2004 2003 Change
Nonregulated other revenues $71.4 $82.4 (13.4%)
Nonregulated other cost of sales 48.1 57.9 {16.9%)
Margins $23.3 $24.5 (4.9%)

PDI's revenue decreased $11.0 million, or 13.4%, for the year ended
December 31, 2004, compared to 2003, largely due to reduced
generation from its Beaver Falls facility in New York, lower revenue
from its Combined Locks Energy Center in Wisconsin, lower revenue
from its steam boiler in Oregon, and lower revenue from its Wyman
generation facility in Maine. The Beaver Falls facility experienced

an unplanned plant outage that began in October 2003, with the
facility returning to service in April 2004. This facility continued to
experience lower volumes after returning to service as PDI has been
maore conservative in the dispatch of this unit to preserve the limited
remaining service life of the turbine blades for higher margin
opportunities. The decrease in revenue at the Combined Locks
Energy Center was driven by lower demand for energy by the
counterparty to a power purchase agreement in place at this facility
and an unplanned plant outage that began in March 2004, and
continued through May 2004, The decrease in revenue from the
steam boiler in Oregon was largely due to a 30-day planned outage
to perform repairs on the boiler, which took place in the second
quarter of 2004. A power purchase agreement in place at the
Wyman facility in 2003 was not renewed in 2004. As a result, energy
from the Wyman facility was sold into short-term power markets in
2004, but unfavorable energy prices and lack of demand for capacity
resulted in a decline in the amount of power generated at this facility
in 2004, compared to 2003. The decline in revenue was partially
offset by higher sales volumes at the Stoneman generation facility

in Cassville, Wisconsin, related to a new power purchase agreement
in place at this facility.

PDI’'s margin for the year ended December 31, 2004, decreased
$1.2 million, or 4.9%, compared to 2003. This margin does not
include the results of PDI's discontinued operations, which are
reported separately in the Consolidated Statements of Income
(Discontinued Operations are discussed below). The Niagara, Beaver
Falls, and Wyman generating facilities experienced a combined

$4.6 million decrease in margin. The lower margin at the Niagara
generating facility was largely due to an increase in the per ton cost
of coal utilized in the generation process. The unplanned plant
outage experienced at the Beaver Falls facility and lower volumes
related to PDI's decision to only dispatch the facility at times when
energy prices are at a very favorable level, drove the decrease in
margin at this facility. Unfavorable energy prices and lack of demand
for capacity negatively impacted sales volumes at the Wyman
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generation facility (there was a power purchase agreement in place
at this facility in 2003). These decreases were partially offset by a
combined $2.9 million increase in margins at the Combined Locks
Energy Center and the Stoneman generation facility. The higher
margin at the Combined Locks Energy Center was driven by a
negotiated increase in the dispatch flexibility of steam sold under a
supply agreement with a counterparty, resulting in an increase in the
value of electricity produced from this facility. The increase in margin
at the Stoneman generation facility was due to higher sales volumes.

Overview of Holding Company and Other
Segment Operations

Holding Company and Other operations include the operations of
WPS Resources and WPS Resources Capital as holding companies
and the nonutility activities at WPSC and UPPCO. Holding Company
and Other operations had income available for common shareholders
of $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared
to a net loss of $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
This favorable variance can be attributed to an increase in earnings
recognized from the sale of Wisconsin land located along the
Peshtigo River and an increase in equity eamings from ATC and
Wisconsin River Power Company. Equity earnings from ATC were
$16.0 million in 2004, compared to $10.1 million in 2003. WPSC
nonutility operations recognized a $13.3 million pre-tax gain on the
sale of land located near the Peshtigo River in the fourth quarter of
2004, compared to a $6.2 million pre-tax gain that was recognized
on the sale of land in the fourth guarter of 2003. WPSC also
realized an income tax benefit in the fourth quarter of 2004 from the
donation of land to the WDNR.

Operating Expenses

WPS Resources’
Operating Expenses
(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Operating and maintenance

expense $513.2 $459.5 11.7%
Depreciation and

decommissioning expense 107.0 138.4 (22.7%)
Taxes other than income 46.1 43.8 5.3%

Operating and Maintenance Expense

Operating and maintenance expenses increased $53.7 million, or
11.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003.
Utility operating and maintenance expenses increased $36.3 million.
Electric transmission and distribution costs were up $15.2 million at
the utilities due primarily to an increase in transmission rates.
Pension and postretirement medical costs incurred at the utilities
increased $11.0 million. Additionally, $6.8 million of the increase was
driven by amortization of costs incurred in conjunction with the
implementation of the automated meter reading system and the
purchase of the De Pere Energy Center (previously deferred as
regulatory assets). Maintenance expenses at WPSC's coal-fired
generation facilities were $4.2 million higher in 2004, compared to




2003, driven by an extension of the annual planned outage at the
Pulliam 6 generation facility in 2004. Higher payroll and other benefit
costs aiso contributed to the increase in operating and maintenance
expenses. The fall refueling outage at Kewaunee did not significantly
impact the year-overyear change in operating and maintenance
expenses as there was also a refueling outage at Kewaunee in spring
2003, and the PSCW approved the deferral of incremental operating
and maintenance expenses that were incurred as a direct result of
the refueling outage extension ($1.8 million of operating and
maintenance expenses were deferred in the fourth quarter of 2004
and collection is anticipated in 20086). Operating expenses at ESI
increased $10.5 million mostly due to higher payroll, benefits, and
other costs associated with continued business expansion. Operating
and maintenance expenses at PDI were $1.5 million higher as a
result of repairs and maintenance expenses incurred in conjunction
with outages at its Beaver Falls generation facility, the Combined
Locks Energy Center, and the Westwood Generation Station.

Depreciation and Decommissioning Expense

Depreciation and decommissioning expense decreased $31.4 miltion,
or 22.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to
2003, due primarily to a decrease of $35.9 million resulting from
lower realized gains on decommissioning trust assets and because
the decommissioning trust was not funded in 2004 in anticipation
of selling Kewaunee. Realized gains on decommissioning trust
assets are substantially offset by depreciation expense pursuant
to regulatory practice (see detailed discussion in Miscellaneous
Income below). An increase in depreciation expense from plant
asset additions at WPSC partially offset the decrease in
decommissioning expense.

Other Income (Expense)

WPS Resources’ Other
Income (Expense)
(Millions) 2004 2003 Change
Miscellaneous income $47.7 $63.6 (25.0%)
Interest expense and distributions

of preferred securities (54.2) (55.6) (2.5%)
Minority interest 3.4 5.6 (39.3%)
Other income (expense) $(3.1) $13.6 (122.8%)

Miscellaneous Income

Miscellaneous income decreased $15.9 million, or 25.0%, for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to 2003. The decrease
in miscellaneous income is largely due to a decrease in realized
gains on decommissioning trust assets of $33.5 million. There
were significant realized gains recognized on decommissioning

trust assets in the fourth quarter of 2003, which were driven by a
change in the investment strategy for WPSC’s qualified nuclear
decommissioning trust assets. Qualified decommissioning trust
assets were placed in more conservative investments in anticipation
of the sale of Kewaunee. Pursuant to regulatory practice, realized
gains on decommissioning trust assets are substantially offset by
depreciation expense. A $1.5 million write-off of previously deferred
financing costs associated with the redemption of our trust preferred
securities in the first quarter of 2004 also unfavorably impacted
miscellaneous income. Partially offsetting the decreases discussed
above were an $8.7 million increase in equity earnings from

investments, a $7.1 million increase in income recognized from the
sale of Wisconsin land located along the Peshtigo River (discussed
previously), and a combined $3.1 million increase related to higher
royalties and a decrease in operating losses realized from our
investment in a synthetic fuel producing facility. The increase in
equity earnings was primarily related to our investments in ATC,
Wisconsin River Power Company, and Wisconsin Valley improvement
Company. Equity earnings from ATC were $16.0 million in 2004,
compared to $10.1 million in 2003. Royaity income recognized from
the synthetic fuel facility increased as a result of higher production
levels at this facility.

Minority Interest

The decrease in minority interest is related to the fact that PDI's
partner in its subsidiary, ECO Coal Peliitization #12 LLC, was
allocated more production from the synthetic fuel operation in 2003
compared to 2004. PDI's partner was not allocated any production
from the synthetic fuel facility in the first quarter of 2004 as they
requested additional production in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 16.1% for the year ended December 31,
2004, compared to 23.4% for the year ended December 31, 2003,
The decrease in the effective tax rate was driven by tax deductions
pertaining to items that exceed the related book expense (including
land donated to the WDNR in the fourth quarter of 2004), resulting
in a $5.7 million decrease in the 2004 provision for income taxes
compared to 2003, a $9.6 million increase in the amount of tax
credits recognized in 2004 (related to an increase in synthetic fuel
tax credits produced in 2004 and the favorable settiement of several
federal tax audits and refund claims related to prior tax years).

Our ownership interest in the synthetic fuel operation resulted in the
recognition of $27.8 million of Section 29 federal tax credits for the
year ended December 31, 2004, and $18.2 million of tax credits for
2003. The increase in synthetic fuel related tax credits was primarily
due to an increase in tax credits produced and allocable to PDI, an
increase in the value of the credits produced resulting from the
higher Btu content of coal and the annual inflation adjustment
allowed, and the favorable settlement of several tax audits and
refund claims related to prior tax years.

Discontinued Operations

The aftertax loss from discontinued operations (Sunbury) was
$13.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to
$16.0 million in 2003. The decrease in the loss from discontinued
operations was driven by a $4.4 million termination payment that
was received from Duquesne Power in December 2004 as a result
of Duquesne’s termination of the asset sale agreement for Sunbury,
a $3.7 million decrease in operating and maintenance expenses,
and a $0.7 million reduction in interest expense. The decrease in
operating and maintenance expenses was driven by lower depreciation
expense resulting from the discontinuance of depreciation on those
assets classified as held for sale effective December 2003. In
addition, repair and maintenance expenses were higher in 2003
because of mechanical difficulties related to fuel delivery systems.




Sunbury’s margin decreased in 2004, compared to 2003, partially
offsetting the favorable variances discussed above. The margin was
negatively impacted by an increase in the per ton cost of coal utilized
to service a fixed price outtake contract and a decrease in opportunities
to sell power into the spot market. In anticipation of the sale, Sunbury
did not enter into staggered term coal contracts in accordance with
its normal procurement practice.

Cumulative Effect of Change in
Accounting Principles

On January 1, 2003, WPS Resources recorded a positive aftertax
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $3.5 million
(primarily related to the operations of ESI) to income available for
common shareholders as a net result of removing from its balance
sheet the mark-to-market effects of contracts that do not meet the
definition of a derivative. This change in accounting resulted from the
decision of the Emerging Issues Task Force to preclude mark-to-market
accounting for energy contracts that are not derivatives. The required
change in accounting had no impact on the underlying economics or
cash flows of the contracts.

In addition, the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations,” at PDI resulted in a $0.3 million negative after-tax
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter
of 2003, related to recording a liability for the closure of an ash
basin at Sunbury.

2003 Compared with 2002
WPS Resources QOverview

WPS Resources’ 2003 and 2002 results of operations are shown
in the following table:

WPS Resources’ Results
(Miilions, except share amounts) 2003 2002 Change
Consolidated operating

revenues $4,321.3 | $1,461.1 196%
Income available for

common sharehoiders $94.7 $109.4 (13%)
Basic earnings per share $2.87 $3.45 (17%)
Diluted earnings per share $2.85 $3.42 (17%)

Total revenues increased significantly due to the required
reclassification of previously reported 2002 revenues and cost of
sales (see ESI's Segment Operations below for further information).
Total revenues also increased due to sales volume growth at ESI,
electric utility rate increases, and higher natural gas prices.

Income available for common shareholders was $94.7 million ($2.87
basic earnings per share) for the year ended December 31, 2003,
compared to $109.4 million ($3.45 basic earnings per share) for the
year ended December 31, 2002. Significant factors impacting the
change in earnings and earnings per share are as follows (and are
discussed in more detail below):

[J Approved rate increases and a change in electric utility sales
mix favorably impacted margins at the utilities.

O Cooler weather during the cooling season in 2003 negatively
impacted electric utility margins.

O Colder weather during the heating season in 2003 positively
impacted natural gas throughput volumes.

O Rising operating expenses (primarily pension and medical costs),
together with a delay in receiving 2003 retail electric rate relief,
negatively impacted electric utility earnings.

O ESI's November 2002 acquisition of a retail natural gas business
in Canada and favorable settlements with several counterparties
drove an increased year-overyear retail natural gas margin.

[J ESi's electric margin improved as a result of acquisition
synergies, improved management of retail operations in
Michigan, and participation in the New Jersey Basic
Generation Service Program.

O PDI's earnings were significantly lower in 2003, primarily as a
result of an $18.2 million decrease in aftertax gains recognized
from sales of portions of its interest in a synthetic fuel operation,
a $10.0 million increased loss from discontinued operations,
and a $5.1 million reduction in tax credits recognized from the
synthetic fuel operation.

[0 Consolidated operating expenses increased in 2003.

O Also impacting basic earnings per share was an increase of
1.3 million in the weighted average number of outstanding shares
of WPS Resources’ common stock in 2003 compared to 2002.
The increase was largely due to issuing 4,025,000 additional
shares through a public offering in November 2003. Additional
shares were also issued in 2003 under the Stock investment Plan,

Overview of Utility Operations

Income available for common shareholders attributable to the
electric utility segment was $60.0 million in 2003 compared to
$61.0 million in 2002. Income available for common shareholders
attributable to the gas utility segment was $15.7 million in 2003
compared to $18.4 million in 2002.

Eilectric Utility Segment Operations

WPS Resources’ Electric

Utility Segment Results

(Millions) 2003 2002 Change
Revenues $814.1 $763.1 7%
Fuel and purchased power costs 266.3 242.7 10%
Margins $547.8 $520.4 5%
Sales in kilowatt-hours 14,346.7 | 14,547.6 (1%)

Electric utility segment revenues increased $51.0 million, or 7%, for
the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase was largely due to retail and




wholesale electric rate increases for our Wisconsin and Michigan
customers in accordance with new rate orders.

The electric utility margin increased $27.4 million, or 5%, in 2003
compared to 2002. Due primarily to the electric rate increases,
electric margins at WPSC increased $20.2 million, or 4%. Electric
margins at WPSC were also impacted favorably by a change in sales
mix in 2003. While total sales volumes remained basically
unchanged in 2003 compared to 2002, sales volumes to higher
margin residential, and commercial and industrial customers
increased slightly. The increase in sales volumes to these higher
margin customer classes reflects growth within WPSC’s service area
and changes in the economy. These increases were partially offset
by cooler weather during the cooling season for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared to the year ended December 31,
2002. Electric margins at UPPCO increased $7.2 million, or 17%,
due primarily to retail electric rate increases, partially offset by a 3%
decrease in sales volumes. The decrease in sales volumes was
attributed to less favorable weather conditions for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared to the year ended December 31,
2002, and customer conservation of electricity made necessary due
to a flood that occurred earlier in 2003.

Although the electric utility margin increased, electric utility segment
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003, decreased

$1.0 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2002. The
primary reason for the decrease in electric utility segment earnings
was due to a decrease in earnings at WPSC attributed to a delay in
receiving 2003 retail electric rate relief, together with rising operating
expenses (primarily pension and medical costs). Rate relief for our
increasing operating costs was expected on January 1, 2003;
however, the increase in retail electric rates granted by the PSCW
was not effective untit March 21, 2003. The delay in receiving rate
relief was a significant factor in our inability to achieve our authorized
12% return on equity in 2003. The decrease in earnings experienced
by WPSC was partially offset by a modest increase in earnings at
UPPCO due to the increase in rates.

Gas Utility Segment Operations

WPS Resources’ Gas

Utility Segment Results

(Miilions) 2003 2002 Change
Revenues $404.2 $310.7 30%
Purchased gas costs 291.0 198.6 A47%
Margins $113.2 $112.1 1%
Throughput in therms 854.5 845.4 1%

Gas utility segment revenues increased $93.5 million, or 30%, for
the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase in gas utility revenues is mostly
due to a 39% increase in the average cost of natural gas for the year
ended December 31, 2003, compared to the prior year, partially
offset by the 0.3% decrease in retail natural gas rates ordered by the
PSCW, effective March 21, 2003.

The natural gas utility margin for the year ended December 31,
2003, increased $1.1 million, or 1%, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase in the natural gas utility margin
can be attributed to a 1% increase in natural gas throughput

volumes in 2003 compared to 2002. Natural gas throughput
volumes to our higher margin residential and commercial and
industrial customers increased 6% in the aggregate, mostly as a
result of colder weather in 2003 compared to 2002. Natural gas
throughput volumes to our lower margin transport customers
decreased 5% due to the rising price of natural gas together with
their ability to use alternate fuel sources.

Despite the modest increase in gas utility margins, gas utility
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003, decreased
$2.7 million compared to 2002. The decline is primarily due to
rising operating expenses (primarily pension and medical costs)
together with the decrease in natural gas rates mentioned above.

Overview of Nonregulated Operations

ESI's income available for common shareholders increased to
$29.0 million in 2003 compared with $11.0 million in 2002,
primarily as a result of increased electric and natural gas margins
discussed below.

PDI recognized a net loss of $7.9 million in 2003 compared to
income available for common shareholders of $24.0 million in 2002.
Despite an increase in margins, PDI's earnings were impacted by a
decrease in gains recognized from the sale of portions of its interest
in a synthetic fuel operation, increased losses from discontinued
operations, and a decrease in the amount of tax credits recognized.

ESI's Segment Operations

Total segment revenues at ES! were $3,081.2 million in 2003
compared to $361.2 million in 2002. The total margin at ESI was
$86.8 million in 2003 compared to $48.4 million in 2002. ESI's
nonregulated natural gas and electric operations are the primary
contributors to revenues and margins and are discussed below.

ESl's Natural Gas Results
(Millions, except sales volumes) 2003 2002 Change
Nonregulated natural

gas revenues $2,696.6 $245.1 1,000%
Nonregulated natural gas

cost of sales 2,652.5 210.2 1,162%
Margins $ 441 $ 349 26%
Wholesale sales volumes

in billion cubic feet * 252.4 233.8 8%
Retail sales volumes in

billion cubic feet * 240.6 135.7 77%

* Represents gross physical volumes.

ESI's nonregulated natural gas revenues increased $2,451.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to the prior year.
Approximately $997 million of the increase related to the required
adoption of Issue No. 02-03, effective January 1, 2003 (see Trends
for more information about this accounting change). Volume growth
driven by the acquisition of a retail natural gas business in Canada
accounted for approximately $500 million of the increase in
revenues in 2003. Most of the remaining increase was attributed
to higher natural gas prices compared to the prior year.

Natural gas margins at ESI increased $9.2 million, or 26%, in 2003
compared to 2002. Approximately $6 million of the increase related
to the November 1, 2002, acquisition of a retail natural gas business
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in Canada. The remaining increase related to favorable settlements
of pending liabilities with several counterparties, partially offset by
the change in accounting prescribed by the required adoption of
Issue 02-03. See Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting
Principles on page 30 for further discussion.

ESI’s Electric Results
(Mitlions) 2003 2002 Change
Nonregulated electric revenues $382.2 $113.7 236%
Nonregulated electric

cost of sales 341.8 102.6 233%
Margins $ 404 $ 111 264%
Wholesale sales volumes

in Kilowatt-hours * 2,768.0 4,250.0 (35%)
Retail sales volumes in

kilowatt-hours * 6,435.3 2,703.6 138%

* Represents gross physical volumes.

ES!'s nonregulated electric revenues increased $268.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to the prior year.
Approximately $130 million of the increase related to the required
adoption of Issue 02-03. Another $88 million of the increase was
attributed to participation in the New Jersey Basic Generation
Services Program. ESI acquired 700 megawatts of fixed price load
and 250 megawatts of variable priced load for the period from
August 1, 2003, to May 31, 2004, as a result of its participation in
this program. The remaining increase in nonregulated electric
revenues was attributed to increased prices and expansion within
existing service territories. ESI also acquired retail electric operations
in Michigan in 2003. Prior to the acquisition, this operation was an
electric wholesale customer of ESI; therefore, the acquisition did not
have a significant impact on total revenues in 2003 compared to
2002. The acquisition did, however, account for most of the increase
in retail sales volumes and related decrease in wholesale sales
volumes in 2003 compared to 2002.

ESi’s electric margin increased $29.3 million, or 264%, in 2003
compared to 2002. Approximately $26 million of the increase was
due to acquisition synergies and improved management of retail
operations in Michigan and participation in the New Jersey Basic
Generation Service Program. The remaining increase in ESI’s electric
margins was largely due to the impact of the change in accounting
prescribed by the required adoption of Issue 02-03, which precluded
mark-to-market accounting for nonderivative trading contracts.

PDI's Segment Operations

All revenues and costs of PDI's discontinued operations are
combined and reported on & net basis in WPS Resources’
Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented.
Accordingly, the table below does not include the results of
discontinued operations, which are discussed separately within
Discontinued Operations below.

PDI's Production Results

(Mitlions} 2003 2002 Change

Nonregulated other revenues $82.4 $59.4 39%

Nonregulated other cost of sales 57.9 37.8 53%

Margins $24.5 $21.6 13%
[
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PDI’s revenues increased $23.0 million, or 39%, in 2003 compared
to 2002. PDI's margin increased $2.9 million, or 13%, in 2003
compared to 2002. The increase in revenues and margin was
primarily the result of increased generation from generating assets
acquired in New York on June 1, 2002, revenues from the Combined
Locks Energy Center that became fully operational in the second
guarter of 2002, and an increase in generation at the hydroelectric
plants in Maine and Canada as a result of increased rainfall, higher
capacity revenues, and increased pricing on a renegotiated outtake
contract. Partially offsetting these increases was a decrease in
revenues and margins at PDI's Stoneman generating facility in
Cassville, Wisconsin, as a result of the expiration of an energy and
capacity outtake contract that was not renewed.

Overview of Holding Company and
Other Segment Operations

Holding Company and Other operations experienced a net loss of
$2.1 million in 2003 compared to a net loss of $5.0 million in
2002. The decrease in the net loss experienced was largely related
to an increase in gains recognized on hydroelectric land sales in
2003 compared to 2002 (recorded as a component of miscellaneous
income), primarily due to a $6.2 million pre-tax gain recognized in
2003 from land sales to the WDNR. The sale of these hydroelectric
lands was part of our asset management strategy, which was
initiated in 2001, and was intended to optimize shareholder return
from the sale, development, or use of certain assets or entire
business units.

Operating Expenses

WPS Resources’
Operating Expenses
(Miliions) 2003 2002 Change
Operating and maintenance

expense $459.5 $412.5 11%
Depreciation and

decommissioning expense 138.4 94.8 46%
Taxes other than income 43.8 39.9 10%

Operating and Maintenance Expense

Operating expenses increased $47.0 million, or 11%, for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared to the year ended December 31,
2002. Utility operating expenses increased $30.7 miflion, or 9%, in
2003 compared to 2002. Approximately $18 million of the increase
reflects higher pension, postretirement medical, and active medical
costs. The remaining increase pertains to costs incurred for plant
maintenance related to Kewaunee's scheduled refueling outage in
2003 (there was no refueling outage in 2002), additional operating
expenses at Kewaunee, and wage increases. Operating expenses at
ES| increased $12.0 million, or 40%, in 2003 compared to 2002,
largely due to costs associated with business expansion, including
the acquisition of a retail natural gas business in Canada and a
retail electric business in Michigan. The remaining increase was
largely due to higher incentive compensation costs and the costs




associated with a full year of operation of generation assets in
New York that were purchased by PDI in June 2002.

Depreciation and Decommissioning Expense

Depreciation and decommissioning expense increased $43.6 million,
or 46%, due primarily to an increase of $37.4 million from increased
realized gains on the decommissioning trust assets that resulted in
recording decommissioning expense approximately equal to the gains
recognized in miscellaneous income pursuant to regulatory practice.
The increase in realized gains was due primarily to the change in
investment strategy for WPSC'’s qualified nuclear decommissioning
trust assets. Qualified decommissioning trust assets were transferred
to more conservative investments in 2003 pending the sale of
Kewaunee, thus triggering realized gains. Most of the remaining
increase resulted from plant asset additions at WPSC and PD!.

Taxes Other Than Income

Taxes other than income increased $3.9 million, or 10%, primarily
due to an increase in gross receipts taxes paid by WPSC as a result
of increased revenues.

Other Income (Expense)

0 2003 2002

Change
Miscellaneous income $63.6 $47.8 33%
Interest expense and distributions
of preferred securities (55.6) (55.8) -

Minority interest 5.6 - -
$ 136 $(8.0) -

Other income (expense)

Miscellaneous Income

Miscellaneous income increased $15.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared to the year ended December 31,
2002. The increase in miscellaneous income was largely due to an
increase in realized gains on the decommissioning trust assets of
$36.4 million, which was primarily the result of the change in investment
strategy for the qualified nuclear decommissioning trust assets. The
realized gains were offset by increased decommissioning expense, as
discussed above. Miscellaneous income also increased $6.2 million
as a result of the sale of land to the WDNR and $8.1 million resulting
from an increase in earnings from equity investments.

The increases in miscellaneous income were partially offset by
lower gains from sales of ownership interests in PDI's synthetic

fuel operation. PDI recognized a $7.6 million pre-tax gain in 2003
compared with a $38.0 million pre-tax gain in 2002 related to these
sales. An increase in operating losses generated by the synthetic
fuel operation due to increased production decreased miscellaneous
income by approximately $3.5 million in 2003. The increased
operating losses were driven by our partner’s ability to utilize tax
credits in 2003 and were offset by minority interest, which is
discussed below. In the aggregate, the items mentioned above
relating to the synthetic fuel operation resulted in a $33.9 million
decrease in miscellaneous income.

The 2003 gain resulted from the 2002 sale of a portion of PDI's
interest in its synthetic fuel operation. Similar gains from the 2002
sale are expected to be recognized annually through 2007,

dependent upon production at the synthetic fuel faciiity. The gain
reported in 2002 resulted from a 2001 sale of a portion of PDI's
interest in a synthetic fuel operation, which was recognized in its
entirety by December 31, 2002.

Minority interest

As a result of PDI's sale of an approximate 30% interest in its
subsidiary, ECO Coal Pelletization #12 LLC, on December 18, 2002,
$5.6 million of losses related to the synthetic fuel operation and
reported in miscellaneous income were allocated to PDI’s partner
and reported as a minority interest.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 23.4% in 2003 compared to 19.5% in
2002. The increase in the effective tax rate in 2003 compared to
2002 was largely due to a decrease in tax credits that could be
recognized from our ownership interest in a synthetic fuel operation.
Tax credits recognized during the year ended December 31, 2003,
decreased $5.1 million compared to the prior year, due to the sale
of a portion of our interest in the synthetic fue! operation on
December 19, 2002. Lower taxable income in 2003 also reduced
the amount of tax credits that could be claimed. Our ownership
interest in the synthetic fuel operation resulted in the recognition
of $18.1 million of Section 29 tax credits as a reduction of federal
income tax expense in 2003 compared to $23.2 million in 2002.

Discontinued Operations

The aftertax loss from discontinued operations increased to

$16.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from

$6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increased
loss was largely due to a decrease in capacity sales in 2003 due to
the expiration of a sales contract, an increase in variable production
expenses related to increased emission costs, and an increase in
operating costs. Operating costs increased in 2003 as a result of
issues related to fuel quality and associated mechanical difficulties
involving fuel delivery systems early in 2003, operational issues
related to newly installed environmental equipment in various
boilers, and turbine outages. The increase in the loss from
discontinued operations was partially offset by decreases in payroll
and employee benefits as a result of a restructuring that took

place at the end of 2002.

BALANCE SHEET
2004 Compared with 2003

Current assets from risk management activities decreased $78.6 million,
or 15.2%, at December 31, 2004, compared to December 31, 2003,
and current liabilities from risk management activities decreased
$115.7 million, or 22.4%. Long-term assets from risk management
activities decreased $23.9 million, or 22.9%, at December 31, 2004,
compared to December 31, 2003, and long-term liabilities from risk
management activities decreased $23.9 million, or 25.9%. The
decrease in shortterm risk management assets and liabilities was
primarily related to changes in the forward price curve of natural gas.
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The decrease in long-term risk management assets and liabilities
was driven by lower natural gas volumes under contract beyond one
year and changes in the forward price curve for natural gas.

Property, plant, and equipment, net, increased $173.92 million

to $2,002.6 million at December 31, 2004, compared to
$1,828.7 million at December 31, 2003. This increase was mostly
due to a $174.3 million increase in property, plant, and equipment
at WPSC primarily related to capital expenditures associated with
the construction of Weston 4 and the installation of automated
meter reading.

Regulatory assets increased $33.2 million, from $127.7 million at
December 31, 2003, to $160.9 million at December 31, 2004,
largely due to the increase in environmental remediation liabilities
related to manufactured gas plants at WPSC, as discussed below.
WPSC expects to recover cleanup costs related to the manufactured
gas plants, net of insurance recoveries, in future rates.

Short-term debt increased $254.4 million, from $38.0 million at
December 31, 2003, to $292.4 million at December 31, 2004.
Retirements of long-term debt and increased capital expenditures
(primarily related to Weston 4) drove the increase in shortterm debt.

Current portion of long-term debt decreased from $56.6 million at
December 31, 2003, to $6.7 million at December 31, 2004. On
January 19, 2004, WPSC retired early $49.9 million of its 7.125%
series first mortgage bonds. These bonds had an original maturity
date of July 1, 2023.

Accounts payable increased $78.7 million, from $510.7 million at
December 31, 2003, to $589.4 million at December 31, 2004.
Accounts payable at WPSC increased $40.2 million, driven by
expenditures related to Weston 4. Accounts payable at ESI increased
$38.0 million, primarily as a result of higher natural gas prices
compared to the prior year.

WPS Resources’ merger of its two non-contributory qualified
retirement plans. On a combined basis, the minimum pension
liability and related pension asset were reduced pursuant to
generally accepted accounting principles.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe that our cash balances, liquid assets, operating cash
flows, access to equity capital markets and borrowing capacity made
available because of strong credit ratings, when taken together,
provide adequate resources to fund ongoing operating requirements
and future capital expenditures related to expansion of existing
businesses and development of new projects. However, our operating
cash flow and access to capital markets can be impacted by
macroeconomic factors outside of our control. In addition, our
borrowing costs can be impacted by short- and long-term debt ratings
assigned by independent rating agencies. Currently, we believe these
ratings are among the best in the energy industry (see Financing
Cash Flows, Credit Ratings below).

Operating Cash Flows

During 2004, net cash provided by operating activities was

$243.0 million, compared to $62.4 million in 2003. The increase
was driven by operating activities at ESI and WPSC. In 2003, operating
activities at ESI used cash due primarily to increasing working capital
requirements resulting from business growth and gas storage
opportunities near the end of the year. ESI's natural gas operations
did not experience the same level of growth in 2004 as they did in
2003, and storage opportunities were similar at the end of both
years, which enabled ESI to generate additional operating cash flow
in 2004. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities at
WPSC was driven by improved operating results.
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The environmental remediation liability increased $30.5 million from
December 31, 2003, to December 31, 2004, This liability primarily
relates to clean-up costs associated with several manufactured

gas plant sites at WPSC (see Note 17, “Commitments and
Contingencies,” of Notes to'Consolidated Financial Statements for
more information). WPSC'’s estimate of future clean-up costs required
to remediate these sites increased significantly to reflect the
WDNR's application of sediment guidance that was recently issued.

Pension and postretirement benefit obligations decreased

$43.1 million, or 31.3%, from December 31, 2003, to December 31,
2004, primarily due to a reduction in the minimum pension liability.
The decrease in the minimum pension liability was driven by

During 2003, net cash provided by operating activities was

$62.4 million, compared with $188.5 million in 2002. The
decrease was primarily due to increased working capital
requirements, specifically at ESI and WPSC. Inventories increased
due to high natural gas prices at both ESI and WPSC, as well as
business growth at ESI. The inventory increase was also the result
of ESI taking advantage of opportunities to put additional gas into
storage at favorable relationships to forward prices. The change in
receivables and payables was also attributable to the high natural
gas prices as well as the business growth at ESI.
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Investing Cash Flows

Net cash used for investing activities was $312.6 million in 2004,
compared to $244.0 million in 2003. The increase was largely related
to a $114.0 million increase in utility capital expenditures (see Capital
Expenditures below), partially offset by a $50.4 million decrease in cash
used for the purchase of equity investments and other acquisitions.
Purchase of equity investments and other acquisitions consisted
primarily of additional investments in ATC, capital contributions to
ECO Coal Pelletization #12 LLC, and the acquisition of Advantage
Energy in 2004. In 2003, purchase of equity investments and other
acquisitions consisted primarily of WPSC's final payment for the
purchase of the De Pere Energy Center, WPSC's purchase of a one-third
interest in Guardian Pipeline, additional investments in ATC, and capital
contributions to ECO Coal Pelletization. WPS Resources contributed
capital of $15.7 million to ECO Coal Pelletization in 2004 and

$14.0 million in 2003. See Note 6, “Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,”
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

Net cash used for investing activities was $244.0 million in 2003
compared to $265.4 million in 2002, a decrease of $21.4 million, The
decrease is largely attributed to a $34.1 miillion decrease in capital
expenditures, mainly at the utilities (see Capital Expenditures below),
as well as a $24.3 million increase in cash received from the sale of
property, plant, and equipment. The majority of the increase in the sale
of property, plant, and equipment was the result of WPSC's sale of
$20.1 million of assets at book value related to the Wausau, Wisconsin,
to Duluth, Minnesota, transmission line to ATC in June 2003. Partially
offsetting this decrease was a $30.4 million increase in cash used for the
purchase of equity investments and other acquisitions. The composition
of purchase of equity investments and other acquisitions in 2003 is
discussed above. In 2002, the purchase of equity investments and
other acquisitions primarily related to PDI's acquisition of CH Resources
and a $11.7 million capital contribution to ECO Coal Pelletization. See
Note 6, “Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information.

Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures by business segment for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are as follows:

A nded Decembe

0 2004 2003 2002
Electric utility $223.0 $131.0 $164.3
Gas utility 62.7 40.7 34.0
ESI 1.6 1.4 0.8
PDI 2.4 3.3 8.2
Other 0.3 {0.2) 3.0
WPS Resources Consolidated $290.0 $176.2 $210.3

The increase in capital expenditures at the electric utility in 2004 as
compared to 2003 is mainly due to higher capital expenditures
associated with the construction of a 500-megawatt coalfired
Weston 4 generation facility located near Wausau, Wisconsin. Gas
utility capital expenditures increased primarily due to the installation
of automated meter reading. Capital expenditures at PDI and ESI
remained fairly consistent between 2004 and 2003.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital expenditures in the electric utility were higher in 2002, as
compared to 2003, mainly due to the construction of portions of the
Pulliam combustion turbine at WPSC in 2002. Gas utility capital
expenditures increased due to the installation of automated meter
reading in 2003. PDI’s capital expenditures were higher in 2002
compared to 2003 due to the conversion of the Combined Locks Energy
Center to a combined cycle system in 2002. Capital expenditures
at ESI remained fairly consistent between 2003 and 2002.

Financing Cash Flows

Net cash provided by financing activities was $76.8 million in 2004,
compared to $198.6 million in 2003. Less cash was required from
financing activities as a result of the increase in cash generated
from operating activities in 2004, partially offset by higher capital
expenditures incurred in 2004.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $198.6 million in 2003,
compared to $93.1 million in 2002. The $105.5 million increase in
cash provided by financing activities in 2003 is primarily related to
the decrease in cash provided by operating activities in 2003
compared to 2002. A larger amount of investing aclivities was
financed through common stock and debt issuances in 2003 as
compared to the prior vear.

Significant Financing Activities

WPS Resources had outstanding commercial paper borrowings of
$279.7 million and $28.0 million at December 31, 2004, and 2003,
respectively. WPS Resources had other outstanding shortterm debt
of $12.7 million and $10.0 million as of December 31, 2004, and
2003, respectively. Short-term borrowings in 2004 were used
primarily to fund capital expenditures related to Weston 4.

In 2004, 2003, and 2002, we issued new shares of common stock
under our Stock Investment Plan and under certain stock-based
employee benefit and compensation plans. As a result of these plans,
equity increased $28.3 million, $31.0 million, and $28.3 million in
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

On January 19, 2004, WPSC retired $49.9 million of its 7.125%
series first mortgage bonds. These bonds had an original maturity
date of July 1, 2023.

On January 8, 2004, WPS Resources retired $50.0 million of its
7.0% trust preferred securities. As a result of this transaction,
WPSR Capital Trust |, a Delaware business trust, was dissolved.

WPSC issued $125.0 million of 4.80% 10-year senior notes in
December 2003. The senior notes are collateralized by a pledge

of first mortgage bonds and may become non-collateralized if

WPSC retires all of its outstanding first mortgage bonds. The net
proceeds from the issuance of the senior notes were used to call
$49.9 million of 7.125% first mortgage bonds on January 19, 2004,
fund construction costs and capital additions, reduce short-term
indebtedness, and for other corporate utility purposes.

In November 2003, 4,025,000 shares of WPS Resources common
stock were sold in a public offering at $43.00 per share, which




resulted in a net increase in equity of $166.8 million. Net proceeds
from this offering were used to retire the trust preferred securities
in January 2004, reduce short-term debt, fund equity contributions
to subsidiary companies, and for general corporate purposes.

In November 2003, PD! retired all of its notes payable under a
revolving credit note, in the amount of $12.5 million.

WPSC called $9.1 million of 6.125% tax-exempt bonds in May 2003.

In March 2003, UPPCO retired $15.0 million of 7.94% first
mortgage bonds that had reached maturity.

WPSC used shortterm debt to retire $50.0 million of 6.8% first
mortgage bonds on February 1, 2003, that had reached maturity.

WPSC issued $150.0 million of 4.875% 10-year senior notes in
December 2002. The senior notes are collateralized by a pledge
of first mortgage bonds and may become non-collateralized if
WPSC retires all of its outstanding first mortgage bonds. WPSC
used approximately $72 million of the net proceeds from the
issuance of the senior notes to acquire the De Pere Energy Center
and $692 million to retire short-term debt. The balance of the net
proceeds was used for other corporate utility purposes.

WPS Resources issued $100.0 million of 5.375% 10-year senior
non-collateralized notes in November 2002. We used approximately
$55 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of these notes
to repay shortterm debt incurred to provide equity capital to our
subsidiaries and the remainder for other corporate purposes.

In October 2002, WPSC retired $50.0 million of 7.30% first
mortgage bonds that had reached maturity.

Credit Ratings

WPS Resources and WPSC use internally generated funds and
commercial paper borrowing to satisfy most of their capital
requirements. WPS Resources also periodically issues longterm debt
and common stock to reduce short-term debt, maintain desired
capitalization ratios, and fund future growth. WPS Resources may
seek nonrecourse financing for funding nonregulated acquisitions,
WPS Resources’ commercial paper borrowing program provides for
working capital requirements of the nonregulated businesses and
UPPCO. WPSC has its own commercial paper borrowing program.
WPSC also periodically issues long-term debt, receives equity
contributions from WPS Resources, and makes payments for return
of capital to WPS Resources to reduce shortterm debt, fund future
growth, and maintain capitalization ratios as authorized by the PSCW.
The specific forms of long-term financing, amounts, and timing depend
on the availability of projects, market conditions, and other factors.

The current credit ratings for WPS Resources and WPSC are listed in
the table below.

Standard & Poor's Moody's
WPS Resources
Senior unsecured debt A Al
Commercial paper A1 P-1
Credit line syndication - Al
WPSC
Bonds A+ Aa2
Preferred stock A- A2
Commercial paper Al P-1
Credit line syndication - Aa3

In January 2005, Standard & Poor’'s downgraded its ratings

for WPSC one ratings level and established a negative outlook.
At the same time, Standard & Poor’s affirmed WPS Resources
ratings but changed the outlook from stable to negative. In taking
these actions, Standard & Poor's cited WPSC's substantial capital
spending program and the risk profile of WPS Resources'
nonregulated businesses.

In November 2003, Moody's downgraded its long-term ratings for
WPS Resources and WPSC one ratings level, leaving only commercial
paper ratings unchanged. Moody’s downgrade of WPS Resources was
based principally on a gradual shift in the company’s financial and
business risk profile attributable to the growth of nonregulated
businesses, the impact of weaker wholesale power markets, and a
relatively high dividend payout. Moody's downgrade of WPSC was based
on the expectation that the utility’s substantial capital spending program
will exceed its retained cash flow through 2007, which is likely to lead to
a meaningful increase in debt. Following the 2003 downgrade, Moody’s
set the ratings outlook at stable for both WPS Resources and WPSC.

We believe these ratings continue to be among the best in the
energy industry, and allow us to access commercial paper and
long-term debt markets on favorable terms. Credit ratings are not
recommendations to buy, are subject to change, and each rating
should be evaluated independently of any other rating.

Rating agencies use a number of both guantitative and qualitative
measures in determining a company’s credit rating. These measures
include business risk, liquidity risk, competitive position, capital mix,
financial condition, predictability of cash flows, management strength,
and future direction. Some of the quantitative measures can be
analyzed through a few key financial ratios, while the gualitative ones
are more subjective.

WPS Resources and WPSC hold credit lines to back 100% of their
commercial paper borrowing and letters of credit. These credit facilities
are based on a credit rating of A-1/P-1 for WPS Resources and A-1/P-1
for WPSC. A significant decrease in the commercial paper credit
ratings could adversely affect the companies by increasing the interest
rates at which they can borrow and potentially limiting the availability
of funds to the companies through the commercial paper market. A
restriction in the companies’ ability to use commercial paper borrowing
to meet their working capital needs would require them to secure
funds through alternate sources resulting in higher interest expense,
higher credit line fees, and a potential delay in the availability of funds.

ESI maintains underlying agreements to support its electric and
natural gas trading operations. In the event of a deterioration of
WPS Resources’ credit rating, many of these agreements allow the
counterparty to demand additional assurance of payment. This
provision could pertain to existing business, new business or both
with the counterparty. The additional assurance requirements could
be met with letters of credit, surety bonds, or cash deposits and
would likely result in WPS Resources being required to maintain
increased bank lines of credit or incur additional expenses, and
could restrict the amount of business ESI can conduct.

ESI uses the NYMEX and overthe-counter financial markets to hedge
its exposure to physical customer obligations. These hedges are
closely correlated to the customer contracts, but price movements
on the hedge contracts may require financial backing. Certain




movements in price for contracts through the NYMEX exchange
require posting of cash deposits equal to the market move. For the
over-the-counter market, the underlying contract may allow the
counterparty to require additional collateral to cover the net
financial differential between the original contract price and the
current forward market. Increased requirements related to market
price changes usually only result in a temporary liguidity need that
will unwind as the sales contracts are fulfilled.

Future Capital Requirements and Resources

Contractual Obligations
The table at the bottom of the page summarizes the contractual
obligations of WPS Resources, including its subsidiaries.

Long-term debt principal and interest payments represent bonds
issued, notes issued, and loans made to WPS Resources and its
subsidiaries. We record all principal obligations on the balance sheet.
Commodity purchase obligations represent mainly commodity purchase
contracts of WPS Resources and its subsidiaries. Energy supply
contracts at ESI included as part of commodity purchase obligations
are generally entered into to meet obligations to deliver energy to
customers. WPSC and UPPCO expect to recover the costs of their
contracts in future customer rates. Purchase orders include obligations
related to normal business operations and large construction
obligations, including 100% of Weston 4 obligations even though we
expect 30% of these costs to be paid by Dairyland Power Cooperative
after certain conditions are met. Capital contributions to equity method
investment include our commitment to fund a portion of the Wausau,
Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota, transmission line. Other mainly
represents expected pension and post-retirement funding obligations.

Capital Requirements

WPSC makes large investments in capital assets. Net construction
expenditures are expected to be approximately $1.2 billion in the
aggregate for the 2005 through 2007 period (upon the closing of
the sale of Kewaunee, expenditures would decrease approximately
$73.8 million during this period). The largest of these expenditures
is for the construction of Weston 4, in which WPSC is expected to
incur costs of $432 million between 2005 through 2007, assuming
100% ownership in 2005, and 70% ownership in 2006 and 2007
after the expected purchase of a 30% interest in Weston 4 by
Dairytand Power Cooperative.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As part of its regulated utility operations, on September 26, 2003,
WPSC submitted an application for a Certificate of Public Convenience
and Necessity to the PSCW seeking approval to construct Weston 4,
a 500-megawatt coalfired generation facility near Wausau, Wisconsin.
The facility is estimated to cost approximately $770 million (including
the acquisition of coal trains). As of December 31, 2004, WPSC has
incurred a total cost of $94.9 million related to this project. In addition,
WPSC expects 1o incur additional construction costs through the
date the plant goes into service of approximately $41 million to fund
construction of the transmission facilities required to support
Weston 4. ATC will reimburse WPSC for the construction costs of the
interconnection and related carrying costs when Weston 4 becomes
commercially operational, which is expected to occur in June 2008.

On October 7, 2004, we received the final PSCW order granting
authority 1o proceed with construction of Weston 4 contingent upon
receipt of an air permit. The air permit was issued by the WDNR on
October 19, 2004. We believe the air permit is one of the most
stringent in the nation, which means that Weston 4 will be one of the
cleanest plants of its kind in the United States. Construction began in
October 2004, and on November 15, 2004, a petition was filed with the
WDNR contesting the air permit issued. On December 2, 2004, the
WDNR granted the petition and forwarded the matter to the Division of
Hearings and Appeals. Construction continues and it is anticipated that
the contested case hearing will be held in the second half of 2005.

Other significant anticipated expenditures during this three-year
period (2005 to 2007) include:

O mercury and pollution control projects — $188 million

O corporate services infrastructures — $34 million

I jointly owned 500-megawatt base-load plant — $65 million
O nuclear fuel — $43 million

Other capital requirements for the three-year period include a
potential contribution of $3.3 million to the Kewaunee decommissioning
trust fund if the sale of Kewaunee is not completed.

On April 18, 2003, the PSCW approved WPSC's request to transfer its
interest in the Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota, transmission
line to the ATC. WPS Resources committed to fund 50% of total

project costs incurred up to $198 million, and receive additional equity

Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less
As of December 31, 2004 Amounts Than 1to3 305 Over 5
(Millions) Committed 1 Year Years Years Years
Long-term debt principat and interest

payments $1,316.6 $ 589 $ 118.8 $269.7 $ 869.2
Operating leases 18.2 4.2 4.5 3.6 5.9
Commodity purchase obligations 3,600.4 2,243.7 696.6 212.6 447.5
Purchase orders 499.6 305.7 163.3 30.6 -
Capital contributions to equity method

investment 175.3 56.2 97.5 21.6 -
Other 221.7 32.6 48.2 46.6 94.3
Total contractual cash cbligations $5,831.8 $2,701.3 $1,128.9 $584.7 $1,416.9




in ATC. WPS Resources may terminate funding if the project extends
beyond January 1, 2010. On December 19, 2003, WPSC and ATC
received approval to continue the project at a new cost estimate of
$420.3 million. The updated cost estimate reflects additional costs for
the project resuiting from time delays, added regulatory requirements,
changes and additions to the project at the request of local
governments, and ATC overhead costs. Completion of the line is
expected in 2008. WPS Resources has the right, but not the obligation,
to provide additional funding in excess of $198 million up to its portion
of the revised cost estimate. For the period 2005 through 2008, we
expect to make capital contributions of approximately $175 million

for our portion of the Wausau to Duluth transmission line. Our
commitment to fund this transmission line could decrease up to 50%
if Minnesota Power exercises its option to fund a portion of the project.

WPS Resources expects to provide additional capital contributions to
ATC of approximately $36 million for the period 2005 through 2007
for other projects.

UPPCO is expected to incur construction expenditures of about

$47 million in the aggregate for the period 2005 through 2007,
primarily for electric distribution improvements and repairs and safety
measures at hydroelectric facilities.

Capital expenditures identified at PDI for 2005 through 2007
are expected to be approximately $7.4 million, primarily for fuel
improvements and blade replacement at WPS Empire State.

Capital expenditures identified at ESI for 2005 through 2007

are expected 10 be approximately $7.0 million, largely due to the
Advantage Energy acquisition and computer equipment related to
business expansion and normal technology upgrades.

All projected capital and investment expenditures are subject to
periodic review and revision and may vary significantly from the
estimates depending on a number of factors, including, but not
limited to, industry restructuring, regulatory constraints, acquisition
opportunities, market volatility, and economic trends. Other capital
expenditures for WPS Resources and its subsidiaries for 2005
through 2007 could be significant depending on its success in
pursuing development and acquisition opportunities. When
appropriate, WPS Resources may seek nonrecourse financing

for a portion of the cost of these acquisitions.

Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2004, both WPS Resources and WPSC were in
compliance with all of the covenants under their lines of credit and
other debt obligations.

For the period 2005 through 2007, WPS Resources plans to use
internally generated funds net of forecasted dividend payments, cash
proceeds from pending asset sales, and debt and equity financings
to fund capital requirements. WPS Resources plans to maintain debt
to equity ratios at appropriate levels to support current ratings and
corporate growth. Management believes WPS Resources has
adequate financial flexibility and resources to meet its future needs.

WPS Resources has the ability to issue up to an additional
$176.9 miilion of debt or equity under its currently effective shelf
registration statement. WPSC has the ability to issue up to an
additional $375.0 million of debt under its currently effective shelf

registration statements. The shelf registrations are subject to the
ultimate terms and conditions to be determined prior to the actual
issuance of specific securities.

WPS Resources and WPSC have 364-day credit line facilities for
$400.0 million and $115.0 million, respectively. The credit lines are
used to back 100% of WPS Resources’ and WPSC’s commercial
paper borrowing programs and letters of credit for WPS Resources.
As of December 31, 2004, there was a total of $141.7 million and
$20.2 million available under WPS Resources’ and WPSC's credit
lines, respectively.

In 2003, WPS Resources announced the sale of Sunbury, and

WPSC announced the sale of its portion of Kewaunee. We anticipate
being able to complete the sale of Sunbury in 2005. See the
Kewaunee paragraph below for a discussion on this potential sale.

A portion of the proceeds related to the Sunbury sale may be used to
pay the non-recourse debt related to the plant. A portion of the
proceeds related to the Kewaunee sale will be used to retire debt at
WPSC. The remainder of the proceeds from both the Sunbury and
Kewaunee sales wili be used by WPS Resources for investing activities
and general corporate purposes of its subsidiaries, including reducing
the amount of outstanding debt. For more information regarding the
Sunbury and Kewaunee sales, see the discussion below.

Other Future Considerations

Sunbury

WPS Resources made capital contributions of $24.5 million to
Sunbury in 2004 to compensate for the impact of lower capacity
revenues, as well as adjustments to Sunbury’s operating plan.
These funds have been used to cover operating losses, make
principal and interest payments, and purchase emission allowances.
In 2004, WPS Resources’ Board of Directors granted authorization
to contribute up to $32.8 million of additional capital to Sunbury.

Of that amount, $8.3 million remains available in 2005, as
authorized by WPS Resources’ Board of Directors.

On September 30, 2004, PD! received a letter of termination from
Duqguesne Power, L.P. related to the previously announced agreement

to sell Sunbury to Duquesne for approximately $120 million. Duguesne
issued its letter of termination following a determination by the
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission not to reconsider its earlier
approved Provider of Last Resort plan, which Duguesne believed did not
satisfy a closing condition in the agreement. PD! is continuing its efforts
to sell Sunbury. The carrying value of Sunbury is about $117 million,
and this project carries approximately $66 million of project-financed
debt. Based upon consideration of all information available at this time,
management determined that no adjustment to the carrying value of
Sunbury was required in 2004. Although management cannot predict
the precise timetable or ultimate outcome, PDI is progressing with the
sale process, and anticipates being able to complete the sale of
Sunbury in 2005.

Kewaunee

On November 7, 2003, WPSC entered into a definitive agreement to sell
its 59% ownership interest in Kewaunee to a subsidiary of Dominion
Resources, Inc. The other joint owner of Kewanee, Wisconsin Power
and Light Company, also agreed to sell its 41% ownership interest in




Kewaunee to Dominion. The transaction is subject to approvals from
various regulatory agencies, of which all major approvals have been
obtained, except for approval by the PSCW. The PSCW rejected the
sale on November 19, 2004. However, WPSC, Wisconsin Power and
Light Company, and Dominion Resources, Inc. offered a proposal
addressing the PSCW’s concerns in December 2004. In January
2005, the PSCW agreed to reconsider its decision on this transaction,
and we expect a decision to be rendered in March 2005.

WPSC estimates that its share of the cash proceeds from the sale
will approximate $130 million, subject to various post<closing
adjustments. The cash proceeds from the sale are expected to
slightly exceed the carrying value of the WPSC assets being sold.

In addition to the cash proceeds, WPSC will retain ownership of

the assets contained in its non-qualified decommissioning trust,

one of two funds that were established to cover the eventual
decommissioning of Kewaunee. The net-of-tax fair value of the
non-qualified decommissioning trust'’s assets at December 31, 2004,
was $102.5 million. Dominicn will assume responsibility for the
eventual decommissioning of Kewaunee and will receive WPSC's
qualified decommissioning trust assets that had a net of tax fair value
of $242.0 million at December 31, 2004. WPSC has requested deferral
of the gain or loss resulting from this transaction and related costs
from the PSCW. Accordingly, the gain or loss on the sale of the plant
assets and the related non-qualified decommissioning trust assets
are expected to be returned to customers under future rate orders.

On February 20, 2005, Kewaunee was temporarily removed from
service after a potential design weakness was identified in a backup
cooling system. Plant engineering staff identified the concern and
the unit was shut down in accordance with the plant license. A
modification is being made to resolve the issue, and it is anticipated
that the unit will be back in service at 100% power by mid April.
WPSC intends to file a request with the PSCW for recovery

of incremental costs associated with fuel, purchased power, and
operating and maintenance costs. WPSC and Dominion remain
committed to the sale of Kewaunee.

Asset Management Strategy

WPS Resources is finalizing its sales strategy for the balance of its
identified excess real estate holdings. This strategy is expected to
provide for WPS Resources to meet its average annualized earnings
per share goal.

Regulatory

For a discussion of regulatory considerations, see Note 22,
“Regulatory Environment,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

American Jobs Creation Act of 2004

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States signed
into law the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“2004 Jobs Act”).
The 2004 Jobs Act introduces a new deduction, the “United States
production activities deduction.” This domestic production provision
allows as a deduction an amount equal to a specified percent of the
lesser of the qualified production activities income of the taxpayer

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

for the taxable year or taxable income for the taxable year. The deduction
is phased in, providing a deduction of three percent of income through
2008, a six percent deduction through 2009, and a nine percent
deduction after 2009. On December 21, 2004, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) issued final staff position (“FSP”) 109-1,
effective the same day, on accounting for the effects of the domestic
production deduction provisions. The FSP 109-1 said the deduction
should be accounted for as a special deduction rather than a tax rate
reduction. The FSP 109-1 also said the special deduction should be
considered by an enterprise in measuring deferred taxes when graduated
tax rates are a significant factor and also in assessing if a valuation
allowance is necessary. On December 8, 2004, the PSCW issued an
order authorizing WPSC to defer the revenue requirements impacts
resulting from the 2004 Jabs Act. The Internal Revenue Service and
Department of Treasury issued interim guidance on January 19, 2005,
covering the implementation of the domestic production provision of the
2004 Jobs Act. WPS Resources is currently reviewing this guidance in
order to guantify the tax impact of this deduction or identify all potential
tax issues related to the 2004 Jobs Act. However, pursuant to regulatory
treatment, WPS Resources expects any tax benefits derived from utility
operations to be deferred and passed on to customers in future rates:

Section 29 Federal Tax Credits

The current rise in oil prices may result in a reduction or elimination of
the Section 29 federal tax credits expected for future years. A phase
out or elimination of the Section 29 federal tax credits would have no
impact on the value of alternative minimum tax credits WPS Resources
is carrying forward as a result of prior production of Section 29 federal
tax credits. WPS Resources is assessing the impact of this issue on
future operations and evaluating alternatives to potentially protect the
ongoing economic benefits of the synthetic fuel facility.

GUARANTEES AND OFF BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As part of normal business, WPS Resources and its subsidiaries
enter into various guarantees providing financial or performance
assurance to third parties on behalf of certain subsidiaries. These
guarantees are entered into primarily to support or enhance the
creditworthiness otherwise attributed to a subsidiary on a stand-
alone basis, thereby facilitating the extension of sufficient credit to
accomplish the subsidiaries’ intended commercial purposes.

The guarantees issued by WPS Resources include inter-company
guarantees between parents and their subsidiaries, which are
eliminated in consalidation, and guarantees of the subsidiaries’ -

own performance. As such, these guarantees are excluded from

the recognition, measurement, and disclosure requirements of FIN
No. 45, “Guarantors’ Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.”

At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, outstanding guarantees
totaled $977.9 million, $981.8 million, and $652.2 million,
respectively, as follows:




WPS Resources’ Outstanding Guarantees December 31, December 31, December 31,
(Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Guarantees of subsidiary debt $ 27.2 $ 39.7 $ 38.8
Guarantees supporting commodity

transactions of subsidiaries 863.9 874.4 584.3
Standby letters of credit 80.9 61.1 22.7
Surety bonds 0.6 1.1 6.4
Other guarantee 5.3 5.5 -

Total guarantees $977.9 $981.8 $652.2
WPS Resources’ Qutstanding Guarantees Total
(Millions) Amounts Less

Committed At Than 1t03 4105 Over 5

Commitments Expiring December 31, 2004 1 Year Years Years Years
Guarantees of subsidiary debt $ 27.2 $ - $ - $ - $27.2
Guarantees supporting commodity

transactions of subsidiaries 863.9 812.6 22.4 12.9 16.0
Standby letters of credit 80.9 68.0 12.9 - -
Surety bonds 0.6 0.6 - - -
Other guarantee 5.3 - - - 5.3

Total guarantees $977.9 $881.2 $35.3 $12.9 $48.5

At December 31, 2004, WPS Resources had outstanding

$27.2 million in corporate guarantees supporting indebtedness.

Of that total, $27.0 million supports outstanding debt at one of PDI's
subsidiaries. The underlying debt related to these guarantees is
reflected on the consolidated balance sheet.

WPS Resources’ Board of Directors has authorized management

1o issue corporate guarantees in the aggregate amount of up to
$1.2 biflion to support the business operations of ESI. WPS Resources
primarily issues the guarantees to counterparties in the wholesale
electric and natural gas marketplace to provide counterparties the
assurance that ESI will perform on its obligations and permit ESI to
operate within these markets. The amount of guarantees actually
issued by WPS Resources to support the business operations at

ESI at December 31, 2004, was $817.7 million, and this is reflected
in the table above. These guarantees reflect the amount of
outstanding business ES! could have with the counterparties holding
the guarantees at any point in time. At December 31, 2004, the
actual amount of ESl's obligations to counterparties supported by
WPS Resources' parental guarantees was $132.6 million.

At December 31, 2004, WPS Resources had issued $38.3 million
in corporate guarantees to support the business operation of PDI, which
are reflected in the above table. WPS Resources issues the guarantees
for indemnification obligations related to business purchase agreements
and counterparties in the wholesale electric marketplace to meet their
credit requirements and permit PD! to operate within these markets.
The amount supported is dependent on the amount of the outstanding
obligations that PDI has with the parties holding the guarantees at any
point in time. At December 31, 2004, the amount of PDI's obligations
supported by WPS Resources’ parental guarantees was $4.7 million.
In February 2004, WPS Resources’ Board of Directors authorized
management to issue corporate guarantees in the aggregate amount of
up to $30.0 million to support business operations at PDI in addition to
guarantees that receive specific WPS Resources Board authorization.

Another $7.9 million of corporate guarantees support energy and
transmission supply at UPPCO and are not reflected on WPS Resources’

consolidated balance sheet. In February 2004, WPS Resources’
Board of Directors authorized management to issue corporate
guarantees in the aggregate amount of up to $15.0 million to
support the business operations of UPPCO. Corporate guarantees
issued in the future under the Board authorized limit may or may
not be reflected on WPS Resources’ consolidated balance sheet,
depending on the nature of the guarantee.

At WPS Resources’ request, financial institutions have issued

$80.9 million in standby letters of credit for the benefit of third parties
that have extended credit to certain subsidiaries. If a subsidiary does
not pay amounts when due under a covered contract, the counterparty
may present its claim for payment to the financial institution, which
will request payment from WPS Resources. Any amounts owed by our
subsidiaries are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet.

At December 31, 2004, WPS Resources furnished $0.6 million of
surety bonds for various reasons including worker compensation
coverage and obtaining various licenses, permits, and rights-of-way.
Liabilities incurred as a result of activities covered by surety bonds
are included in the consolidated balance sheet.

The other guarantee of $5.3 million listed on the above table was
issued by WPSC to indemnify a third party for exposures related to
the construction of utility assets. This amount is not reflected on
the consolidated balance sheet.

WPS Resources guarantees the potential retrospective
premiums that could be addressed under WPS Resources’
nuclear insurance program.

See Note 23, “Variable Interest Entities,” of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the
implementation of Interpretation No. 46R. Interpretation No. 46R
requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the
primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity
do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or
do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional financial support from other parties.
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MARKET PRICE RISK
MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

Market price risk management activities include the electric and
natural gas marketing and related risk management activities of ESI.
ESI's marketing and trading operations manage power and natural gas
procurement as an integrated portfolio with its retail and wholesale
sales commitments. Derivative instruments are utilized in these
operations. ESI measures the fair value of derivative instruments
(including NYMEX exchange and overthe-counter contracts, natural gas
options, natural gas and electric power physical fixed price contracts,
basis contracts, and related financial instruments) on a mark-to-market
basis. The fair value of derivatives is shown as “assets or liabilities
from risk management activities” in the consolidated balance sheets.

The offsetting entry to assets or liabilities from risk management
activities is to other comprehensive income or earnings, depending on
the use of the derivative, how it is designated, and if it qualifies for
hedge accounting. The fair values of derivative instruments are
adjusted each reporting period using various market sources and risk
management systems. The primary input for natural gas pricing is the
settled forward price curve of the NYMEX exchange, which includes
contracts and options. Basis pricing is derived from published indices
and documented broker quotes. ESI bases electric prices on
published indices and documented broker quotes. The following table
provides an assessment of the factors impacting the change in the
net value of ESI's assets and liabilities from risk management
activities for the 12 months ended December 31, 2004,

ES|I Mark-to-Market
Roll Forward (Millions) Natural Gas

Fair value of contracts
at January 1, 2004
Less - contracts realized
or settled during period
Plus - changes in fair value
of contracts in existence at
December 31, 2004
Fair value of contracts at
December 31, 2004

Electric Total

$13.3 $ 6.3 $19.6

10.9 (2.0 8.9

29.2 5.4 34.6

$31.6 $13.7 $45.3

The fair value of contracts at January 1, 2004, and December 31,
2004, reflects the values reported on the balance sheet for net
mark-to-market current and longterm risk management assets and
liabilities as of those dates. Contracts realized or settled during the

period includes the value of contracts in existence at January 1,
2004, that were no longer included in the net mark-to-market assets
as of December 31, 2004, along with the amortization of those
derivatives later designated as normal purchases and sales under
SFAS No. 133. Changes in fair value of existing contracts include
unrealized gains and losses on contracts that existed at January 1,
2004, and contracts that were entered into subsequent to January 1,
2004, which are included in ESl’s portfolio at December 31, 2004.
There were, in many cases, offsetting positions entered into and
settled during the period resulting in gains or losses being realized
during the current period. The realized gains or losses from these
offsetting positions are not reflected in the table above.

Market quotes are more readily available for short duration contracts.
The table at the bottom of this page shows the sources of fair value
and maturity of ESI’s risk management instruments.

We derive the pricing for most contracts in the table at the bottom
of this page from active quotes or external sources. “Prices actively
quoted” includes NYMEX contracts and basis swaps. “Prices
provided by external sources” includes electric and natural gas
contract positions for which pricing information is obtained primarily
through broker quotes. “Prices based on models and other valuation
methods” includes electric contracts for which reliable external
pricing information does not exist.

ESI, as a result of PDI's ownership of generating assets in New York,
has acquired transmission congestion contracts, which are financial
contracts, that hedge price risk between zones within the New York
Independent System Operator. The contracts were marked to fair
value using a combination of modeled forward prices and market
guotes. The fair market value of the contracts at December 31,
2004, was 30.7 million.

ESI employs a variety of physical and financial instruments offered in
the marketplace to limit risk exposure associated with fluctuating
commodity prices and volumes, enhance valug, and minimize cash
flow volatility. However, the application of hedge accounting rules
causes ESI to experience eamings volatility associated with electric
and natural gas operations. While risks associated with power
generating capacity and power sales are economically hedged, certain
transactions do not meet the definition of a derivative or qualify for
hedge accounting under generally accepted accounting principles.
Consequently, gains and losses from the generating capacity do not
always match with the related physical and financial hedging
instruments in some reporting periods. The result can cause volatility

Maturity Maturity Maturity Maturity in Total

Source of Fair Value (Miilions) Less Than 1 Year 1 to 3 Years 4 1o 5 Years Excess of 5 Years Fair Value
Prices actively quoted $27.4 $1.8 $- $ - $29.2
Prices provided by

external sources 8.1 51 - - 13.2
Prices based on models

and other valuation methods 2.8 0.1 - - 2.8
Total fair value $38.3 $7.0 $ - $- $45.3




in ESI's reported period-by-period earnings; however, the financial
impact of this timing difference will reverse at the time of physical
delivery and/or settlement of the hedge transaction. The accounting
treatment does not impact the underlying cash flows or economics

of these transactions. At December 31, 2004, the unrealized mark-
to-market gains were $5.4 million for ESl's electric operations and
related hedges that did not qualify for cash flow hedge treatment under
SFAS No. 133. See Resuits of Operations - Overview of Nonregulated
Operations - ESI's Segment Operations for information regarding
earnings volatility associated with the natural gas storage cycle.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We have identified the following accounting policies to be critical to
the understanding of our financial statements because their
application requires significant judgment and reliance on estimations
of matters that are inherently uncertain. WPS Resources’
management has discussed these critical accounting policies with
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Risk Management Activities

WPS Resources has entered into contracts that are accounted for as
derivatives under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. At
December 31, 2004, those derivatives not designated as hedges are
primarily commodity contracts to manage price risk associated with
wholesale and retail natural gas purchase and sale activities and
electric energy contracts. Management's expectations and intentions
are key factors in determining the appropriate accounting for a
derivative transaction, and as a result, such expectations and
intentions are documented. Cash flow hedge accounting treatment
may be used when WPS Resources contracts to buy or sell a
commaodity at a fixed price for future delivery corresponding with
anticipated physical sales or purchases. Fair value hedge accounting
may be used when WPS Resources holds firm commitments and
enters into transactions that hedge the risk that the price of a
commodity may change between the contract’s inception and the
physical delivery date of the commodity. To the extent that the fair
value of a hedge instrument is fully effective in offsetting the
transaction being hedged, there is no impact on income available for
common shareholders prior to settlement of the hedge. In addition,
WPS Resources may apply the normal purchases and sales
exemption, provided by SFAS No. 133, as amended, to certain
contracts. The normal purchases and sales exception provides that
no recognition of the contract's fair value in the consolidated
financial statements is required until the settlement of the contract.

Derivative contracts that are determined to fall within the scope of
SFAS No. 133, as amended, are recorded at fair value on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet of WPS Resources. Changes in fair
value, except those related to derivative instruments designated as
cash flow hedges, are generally included in the determination of
income available for common shareholders at each financial reporting
date until the contracts are ultimately settled. When available, quoted
market prices are used to record a contract’s fair value. If no active

trading market exists for a commodity or for a contract’s duration, fair
value is estimated through the use of internally developed valuation
techniques or models. Such estimates require significant judgment as
to assumptions and valuation methodologies deemed appropriate by
WPS Resources’ management. As a component of the fair value
determination, WPS Resources maintains reserves to account for the
estimated direct costs of servicing and holding certain of its contracts
based upon administrative costs, credit/counterparty risk, and
servicing margin with both fixed and variable components. The effect
of changing the underlying servicing and credit/counterparty risk
assumptions is as follows:

Change in Assumption
(Mitlions)

Effect to Operating Reserve at
December 31, 2004

$11.4
$(5.7)

100% increase
50% decrease

These potential changes to the operating reserve would be shown
as part of the Nonregulated cost of fuel, gas and purchased power
on the Consolidated Statements of Income and current and
long-term Assets/Liabilities from risk management activities on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Asset Impairment

WPS Resources annually reviews its assets for impairment. SFAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
form the basis for these analyses.

The review for impairment of tangible assets is more critical to PDI
than to our other segments because of its significant investment in
property, plant, and equipment and lack of access to regulatory relief
that is available to our regulated segments. At December 31, 2004,
the carrying value of PDI’s property, plant, and equipment totaled
$138.1 million, excluding assets held for sale, which totaled

$73.9 million. We believe that the accounting estimate related to
asset impairment of power plants is a “critical accounting estimate”
because: (1) the estimate is susceptible to change from period to
period because it requires management to make assumptions about
future market sales pricing, production costs, capital expenditures
and generation volumes and (2) the impact of recognizing an
impairment could be material to our financial position or results of
operations. Management’s assumptions about future market sales
prices and generation volumes require significant judgment because
actual market sales prices and generation volumes have fluctuated
in the past as a result of changing fuel costs, environmental
changes, and required plant maintenance and are expected to
continue to do so in the future.

The primary estimates used at PDI in the impairment analysis are
future revenue streams and operating costs. A combination of input
from both internal and external sources is used to project revenue
streams. PDI’s operations group forecasts future operating costs with
input from external sources for fuel costs and forward energy prices.
These estimates are modeled over the projected remaining life of the
power plants using the methodology defined in SFAS No. 144. PDI
evaluates property, plant, and equipment for impairment whenever
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indicators of impairment exist. These indicators include a significant
underperformance of the assets relative to historical or projected
future operating results, a significant change in the use of the assets
or business strategy related to such assets, and significant negative
industry or economic trends. SFAS No. 144 requires that if the sum of
the undiscounted expected future cash flows from a company's asset
is less than the carrying value of the asset, an asset impairment
must be recognized in the financial statements. For assets held for
sale, impairment charges are recorded if the carrying value of such
assets exceeds the estimated fair value less costs to sell. The
amount of impairment recognized is calculated by reducing the
carrying value of the asset to its fair value.

Throughout 2004, PD! tested its power plants for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that their
carrying amount may not be recoverable. No impairment charges
were recorded in 2004 as a result of these recoverability tests.
Results of past impairment tests may not necessarily be an indicator
of future tests given the criticality of the accounting estimates
involved, as discussed more fully above. Changes in actual results
or assumptions could result in an impairment.

WPSC recorded goodwill of $36.4 million in its gas utility segment
following the merger of Wisconsin Fuel and Light into WPSC in 2001.
The goodwill is tested for impairment yearly based on the guidance
of SFAS No. 142. The test for impairment includes assumptions
about future profitability of the gas utility segment and the correlation
between our gas utility segment and published projections for other
similar gas utility segments. A significant change in the natural gas
utility market and/or our projections of future profitability could result
in a loss being recorded on the income statement related to a
decrease in the goodwill asset as a result of the impairment test.

Receivables and Reserves

Our regulated natural gas and electric utilities and ESI accrue
estimated amounts of revenue for services rendered but not yet
billed. Estimated unbilled sales are calculated using actual
generation and throughput volumes, recorded sales, and weather
factors. The estimated unbilled sales are assigned different rates
based on historical customer class allocations. At December 31,
2004, 2003, and 2002, the amount of unbilled revenues was
$113.2 million, $90.0 million, and $105.9 million, respectively.
Any difference between actual sales and the estimates or weather
factors would cause a change in the estimated revenue.

WPS Resources records reserves for potential uncollectible customer
accounts as an expense on the income statement and an

uncollectible reserve on the balance sheet. WPSC records a
regulatory asset to offset its uncollectible reserve. Because the
nonregulated energy marketing business involves higher credit risk,
the reserve is more critical to ESI than to our other segments. At
ESI, the reserve is based on historical uncollectible experience and
specific customer identification where practical. If the assumption
that historical uncollectible experience matches current customer
default is incorrect, or if a specific customer with a large account
receivable that has not previously been identified as a risk defaults,
there could be significant changes to the expense and uncollectible
reserve balance.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

The costs of providing non-contributory defined benefit pension
benefits and other postretirement benefits, described in Note 18,
“Employee Benefit Plans,” of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, are dependent upon numerous factors resulting from
actual plan experience and assumptions regarding future experience.

Pension costs and other postretirement benefit costs are impacted
by actual employee demographics (including age, compensation
levels, and employment periods), the level of contributions we make
to the plan, and earnings on plan assets. Other postretirement
benefit costs are also impacted by health care cost trends. Pension
and other postretirement benefit costs may be significantly affected
by changes in key actuarial assumptions, including anticipated rates
of return on plan assets, discount rates used in determining the
projected benefit and other postretirement benefit obligation and
pension and other postretirement benefit costs, and health care cost
trends. Changes made to the plan provisions may also impact
current and future pension and other postretirement benefit costs.

WPS Resources’ pension plan assets and other postretirement
benefit plan assets are primarily made up of equity and fixed income
investments. Fluctuations in actual equity market returns as well

as changes in general interest rates may result in increased or
decreased pension costs in future periods. Management believes
that such changes in costs would be recovered at our regulated
segments through the ratemaking process.

The table below shows how a given change in certain actuarial
assumptions would impact the projected benefit obligation, the
net amount recognized on the balance sheet, and the reported
annual pension cost on the income statement as they relate
to all of our defined benefit pension plans. Each factor below
reflects an evaluation of the change based on a change in that
assumption onty.

Percent. Change
in Assumption

Actuarial Assumption

(Millions, except percentages)

impact On
Pension Cost

impact on Projected
Benefit Obligation

Impact on Net
Amount Recognized

Discount rate (0.5) $44.2 $(3.7) $3.7
Discount rate 0.5 (41.6) 3.7 (3.7)
Rate of return on pian assets (0.5) N/A (2.6) 2.6
Rate of return on plan assets 0.5 N/A 2.6 (2.6)
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Percent

Impact on
Postretirement
Benefit Obligation

impact on
Postretirement
Benefit Liability

Impact On
Postretirement
Benefit Cost

Actuarial Assumption Change in
(Millions, except percentages) Assumption
Discount rate {0.5)
Discount rate 0.5
Health care cost trend rate (1.0)
Health care cost trend rate 1.0
Rate of return on plan assets (0.5)
Rate of return on plan assets 0.5

$23.8 $(1.9) $1.9
(20.5) 16 (1.6)
(34.7) 4.8 (4.8)
42.0 (5.2) 5.2
N/A (0.7) 0.7
N/A 0.7 {0.7)

The table above shows how a given change in certain actuarial
assumptions would impact the projected other postretirement
benefit obligation, the reported other postretirement benefit
liability on the balance sheet, and the reported annual other
postretirement benefit cost on the income statement. Each factor
below reflects an evaluation of the change based on a change in
that assumption only.

In selecting an assumed discount rate, we consider long-term
Corporate Aa rated bond yield rates. To select an assumed rate

of return on plan assets, we consider the historical returns and
the future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as
the target allocation of the benefit trust portfolios. In selecting
assumed health care cost trend rates, we consider past
performance and forecasts of health care costs.

Regulatory Accounting

The electric and gas utility segments of WPS Resources follow
SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of
Regulation,” and our financial statements reflect the effects of the
different ratemaking principles followed by the various jurisdictions
regulating these segments. We defer certain items that would
otherwise be immediately recognized as expenses and revenues
because our regulators have authorized deferral as regulatory
assets and regulatory liabilities for future recovery or refund to
customers. Future recovery of regulatory assets is not assured,
but is generally subject to review by regulators in rate proceedings
for matters such as prudence and reasonableness. Management
regularly assesses whether these regulatory assets and liabilities
are probable of future recovery or refund by considering factors
such as regulatory environment changes and the status of any
pending or potential deregulation legislation. Once approved, we
amortize the regulatory assets and liabilities into income over

the rate recovery period. If recovery of costs is not approved or is
no longer deemed probable, these regulatory assets or liabilities
are recognized in current period income.

If our electric and gas utility segments no longer meet the criteria
for application of SFAS No. 71, we would discontinue its application
as defined under SFAS No. 101, “Regulated Enterprises - Accounting
for the Discontinuation of Application of SFAS No. 71.” Assets and
liabilities recognized solely due to the actions of rate regulation
would no longer be recognized on the balance sheet and would be
classified as an extraordinary item in income for the period in which
the discontinuation occurred. A write-off of all WPS Resources’
regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities at December 31, 2004,

would result in a 3.6% decrease in total assets, an 8.7% decrease
in total liabilities, and a 68.4% increase in income before taxes.

Tax Provision

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial
statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes for each
of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves
estimating our actual current tax exposure together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items,
such as depreciation, for tax and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are
included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must also
assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that
recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance,
which is offset by an expense within the tax provisions in the
income statement.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our
provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities,
and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax
assets. The assumptions involved are supported by historical
data and reasonable projections. Significant changes in these
assumptions could have a material impact on WPS Resources’
financial condition and results of operations.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

WPS Resources has investments in related parties that are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. These
include WPS Investments, LLC’s (a consolidated subsidiary of
WPS Resources) investments in ATC and Guardian Pipeline;
WPSC'’s investment in Wisconsin River Power Company; and

WPS Nuclear Corporation's (a consolidated subsidiary of

WPS Resources) investment in Nuctear Management Company.
WPS Resources also had an investment in WPSR Capital Trust |,
which was dissolved January 8, 2004. See Note 10, “Investments
in Affiliates, at Equity Method,” of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for information regarding related party transactions
involving ATC, Guardian Pipeline, and Nuclear Management
Company. Note 24, “Company-Obligated Mandatorily Redeemable
Trust Preferred Securities of Preferred Stock Trust,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contains information regarding
WPSR Capital Trust 1.
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TRENDS

Environmental

See Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed discussion of
WPS Resources’ environmental commitments and contingencies.

Energy and Capacity Prices

Prices for electric energy and capacity have been extremely volatile
over the past three years. WPS Resources’ nonregulated entities are
impacted by this volatility, which has been driven by the exit of many
of the largest speculative traders, equilibrium between natural gas
supply and demand, changes in the economy, and significant
overbuilding of generation capacity.

Although electric energy prices are currently high due to increased
natural gas prices, we expect that electric capacity prices will
continue to be depressed for several years. Pressure on capacity
prices will continue until existing reserve margins are depleted either
by load growth or capacity retirements. PDI has been negatively
impacted by the depressed capacity prices and volatile energy prices
discussed above, and as a result we have taken certain steps to
reduce our exposure to the merchant marketplace.

in 2004, PD! entered into tolling agreements with ESI to market
electric production from its facilities and to manage natural gas

costs for its gas-fired generation facilities. ESI is utilizing various
financial tools, including forwards and options, to limit exposure

and extract additional value from volatile commodity prices. PDI

continues to manage costs of fuel for its coal-fired facilities.

Synthetic Fuel Cperation

See Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed discussion of
WPS Resources’ synthetic fuel production facility.

industry Restructuring

The Ohio Legislature passed a Senate Bill in May 1999

instituting market-based rates, instituting competitive retail
electric services, and establishing a market development period
that began January 1, 2001, which was to end no later than
December 31, 2005. This bill required Ohio electric distribution
companies to file electric transition plans, including the collection
of transition costs and freezing generation rates at a 5% discount
during the course of the market development period. At the end

of the market development period, rates would be set at a market-
based price. However, the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio,
recognizing the competitive electric market has not developed

as envisioned and fearing rate shock at the end of the market
development period, requested the Ohio electric distribution utilities
to file rate stabilization plans covering the 2006-2008 time period.
The 2006-2008 rate stabilization plans are expected to provide

rate certainty, provide financial stability for the electric distribution
utilities, and further develop the competitive market.

Since 2001, ESI has been the supplier to approximately 100,000
residential, small commercial, and government facilities in the
FirstEnergy service areas under the State of Ohio provisions for
Opt-out Electric Aggregation Programs. On June 9, 2004, the

Public Utilities Commission of Ohio ordered a competitive bid auction
be developed and conducted and approved a modified version of the
rate stabilization plan submitted by FirstEnergy. The FirstEnergy Rate
Stabilization Plan would establish electric rates consumers would pay
beginning in 2006 if the auction does not produce better benefits.

ES| participated as an intervener in the FirstEnergy Rate Stabilization
Plan and competitive bid process cases in an effort to preserve the
competitive electric business established in the FirstEnergy service
areas in the 2006-2008 time period. ES! filed comments requesting
modifications to the competitive bid process to allow for fair
competition. In October 2004, the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio
issued orders directing FirstEnergy to modify the competitive bid
process based on filed comments and direction from independent
consultants and scheduled the auction for December 8, 2004.

The competitive bid process was conducted on December 8, 2004,
concluding the same day. On December 9, 2004, the Public Utility
Commission of Ohio rejected the auction price citing the clearing
price of 5.45 cents per kilowatt-hour was inadequate in comparison
to the FirstEnergy Rate Stabilization Plan. While the details of the
rate comparison and auction results have not been made public, the
Public Utility Commission of Ohio requested stakeholder comments
relative to what information to maintain as confidential and for what
period of time. The Public Utility Commission of Ohio intends to
conduct a similar auction next year, believing the economy of the
power market will improve, increasing the probability of an
acceptable auction clearing price.

Given the auction results, the FirstEnergy Rate Stabilization Plan

will be implemented. ESI participated in recent case developments
relative to the price to be paid by customers who return from
competitive supply to default service during the Rate Stabilization
Plan period. Continued service by ESI beyond December 31, 2005,
to customers of the existing aggregation programs will be dependent
on the ability of the communities to comply with the FirstEnergy Rate
Stabilization Plan requirements imposed on governmental
aggregation programs and improved market power prices.

Meanwhile, on September 23, 2004, an Ohio House Bill was
introduced, proposing change to the electric restructuring law. The
bill proposes to give the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio explicit
authority to implement rate stabilization plans, where it has been
determined that there is insufficient development of the generation
market or lack of effective competition in an electric utility’s service
area and ensuring against any undue competitive disadvantage
between Ohio and regional customers of an electric utility of its
affiliates. Recent news releases indicate an increased momentum in
the Ohio General Assembly for legislation that would make major
changes to Senate Bill 3 in 2005.




On July 1, 2004, Senate Bills 1331-1336 were introduced in
Michigan to amend legislation enacted in June 2000, which initially
established a competitive supply alternative for customers in the
state’s electricity market. On October 6, 2004, Senate Bill S-1 was
introduced as a substitute for Senate Bill 1331. As the Michigan
legislature closed out 2004 with this package of bills not being
voted out of the Senate Energy and Technology Committee, they
must be reintroduced and sponsored again, if they are to be
addressed in 2005. It is our expectation that such a move will

be initiated early in 2005.

Under current legislation, Michigan's regulated utilities were able to
securitize overrun costs associated with large generation assets, and
the MPSC was provided the authority to administer the Electric
Choice program to ensure the interests of all stakeholders were met.
Under the current Electric Choice program, ESI, through its subsidiary
Quest Energy, LLC, has established itself as a significant supplier to
the industrial and commercial markets, achieving contract demand
levels of approximately 900 megawatts, and annual sales volumes of
3.6 million megawatt-hours. The initial Senate bills contained
provisions that would have substantially harmed the Electric Choice
market and returned Michigan to a model of the regulated supply
monopoly. If similar legislation is proposed and passed in 2005, it
could diminish the benefits of competitive supply for Michigan
business customers. The impact on ESI could range from
maintaining Michigan business with little or no growth, to an inability
to re-contract any business, leading to a possible decision by ESI| to
exit Michigan's electric market and redirect resources to more vibrant
markets. It is not unreasonable to expect changes that will have
some level of negative impact on ESI, but it would be unlikely that
Michigan customers will lose all of the benefits of competition and
revert back to a fully regulated monopoly supply. ESI is actively
participating in the legislative and regulatory process in order to
protect its interests in Michigan.

WPSC, UPPCQ, and ESI are members of the Midwest Independent
System Operator (ISO), which is in the process of restructuring the
bulk electric power market across its footprint. The implementation of
market restructuring by the Midwest I1SO is currently expected to occur
April 1, 2005. Such restructuring could have an impact on the costs
associated with serving utility customers’ energy requirements;
however, given the anticipated regulatory treatment of any potential
cost differences, WPSC does not currently expect the ultimate
outcome will have a material impact on its results of operations or
financial condition. WPSC, UPPCO, and ESI are working closely with
the Midwest 1SO and the FERC to ensure that there is a smooth
transition to the new market in order to minimize any impact on them
and their customers. ESI currently participates in markets that have
gone through comparable transitions. We believe this past experience
has prepared ESI for the Midwest 1SO transition and positions ESI

to manage the risk and pursue the opportunities that will exist.

Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment

ESI has identified an issue that could create financial exposure
through March 2006. Through a series of orders issued by FERC,
Regional Through and Out Rates for transmission service between
the Midwest ISO and the PJM Interconnection have been eliminated
effective December 1, 2004. The FERC ordered a transitional pricing

mechanism called the Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment (SECA)
to be put into place on December 1, 2004, through March 31, 2008,
which would be paid by load serving entities. The purpose of the
SECA is to compensate transmission owners (during the 16-month
transition period) for the revenue they would no longer receive due
to the elimination of the Regional Through and Out Rates. Because
ES! is a load serving entity, it will be billed for SECA charges based
on its power imports during 2002 and 2003. Although actua!l SECA
charges have only been calculated for the first 4 months of the
16-month period, total exposure for the 16-month transitional period
is estimated to be approximately $13 million for Michigan and

$2 million for Ohio.

On February 10, 2005, FERC issued an order accepting compliance
filings implementing the SECA effective December 1, 2004, subject
to refund and surcharge, as appropriate, and setting the case in its
entirety for a formal hearing. It is anticipated that the case could
take a year or more to reach a final decision. In addition, matters
related to the justness and reasonableness and other legal
challenges to the SECA itself remain pending before FERC on
rehearing. ft is not known when FERC will issue an order on these
requests for rehearing. It appears that ESI will be required to pay the
SECA charges during this process, subject to refund. ESI has actively
participated in the SECA case since its beginning and believes its
position has strong merits. The application and legality of the SECA
is being challenged by many other load serving entities and ES! will
continue to pursue all avenues to appeal and/or reduce the SECA
obligations. In the interim, the exposure will be managed through
customer charges and other available avenues, where feasible.
Through existing contracts, ESI has the ability to pass SECA

charges on to customers. However, doing so may hinder ESl's
competitiveness in the marketplace.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1(v), “New Accounting Pronouncements,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed discussion of
new accounting pronouncements.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

Qur financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and
report operating results in terms of historic cost. The statements
provide a reasonable, objective, and quantifiable statement of
financial results, but they do not evaluate the impact of inflation.
Under rate treatment prescribed by utility regulatory commissions,
WPSC’s and UPPCO’s projected operating costs are recoverable in
revenues. Because rate forecasting assumes inflation, most of the
inflationary effects on normal operating costs are recoverable in
rates. However, in these forecasts, WPSC and UPPCO are only
allowed to recover the historic cost of plant via depreciation. Qur
nonregulated businesses include inflation in forecasted costs.
However, any increase from inflation is offset with projected business
growth. Therefore, the estimated effect of inflation on our
nonregulated businesses is minor.




QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risks and Other Significant Risks

WPS Resources has potential market risk exposure related to
commodity price risk, interest rate risk, equity return, and principal
preservation risk. WPS Resources is also exposed to other
significant risks due to the nature of our subsidiaries’ business and
the environment from which we operate. WPS Resources has risk
management policies in place to monitor and assist in controlling
these risks and may use derivative and other instruments to
manage some of these exposures as further described below.

Interest Rate Risk

WPS Resources and WPSC are exposed to interest rate risk
resulting from their variable rate long-term debt and short-term
commercial paper borrowing. Exposure to interest rate risk is
managed by limiting the amount of variable rate obligations and
continually monitoring the effects of market changes in interest
rates. WPS Resources and WPSC enter into long-term fixed rate
debt when it is advantageous to do so. WPS Resources and
WPSC may also enter into derivative financial instruments, such
as swaps, to mitigate interest rate exposure. At December 31,
2004, and 2003, WPS Resources utilized one interest rate swap
to fix the interest rate on a variable rate loan at one of its
nonregulated subsidiaries.

Based on the variable rate debt of WPS Resources and WPSC
outstanding at December 31, 2004, a hypothetical increase

in market interest rates of 100 basis points in 2005 would
increase annual interest expense by approximately $3.2 million

at WPS Resources and $1.0 million at WPSC. Comparatively, based
on the variable rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2003,

an increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would have
increased interest expense in 2004 by approximately $0.7 million
at WPS Resources and $0.1 million at WPSC. These amounts were
determined by performing a sensitivity analysis on the impact of a
hypothetical 100 basis points increase in interest rates on the
variable rate debt of WPS Resources and WPSC outstanding as

of December 31, 2004, and 2003. This sensitivity analysis was
performed assuming a constant level of variable rate debt during
the period and an immediate increase in the levels of interest
rates with no other subsequent changes for the remainder of the
period. In the event of a significant change in interest rates,
management would take action to mitigate WPS Resources’

and WPSC’s exposure to the change.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Commodity Price Risk

WPS Resources is exposed to commadity price risk resulting from
the impact of market fluctuations in the price of certain
commodities, including but not limited to electricity, natural gas, coal,
fuel oil, and uranium, which are used and/or sold by our subsidiaries
in the normal course of their business. We employ established
policies and procedures and utilize contracts of various duration to
manage our fuel and gas supply costs and to reduce the market risk
associated with changing commeodity prices, including using various
types of commodity and derivative instruments.

WPS Resources’ exposure to commodity price risk in its regulated
utilities is significantly mitigated by the current ratemaking process
for the recovery of its electric fuel and purchased energy costs as
well as its cost of natural gas purchased for resale. Recovery of
electric fuel and purchased energy costs through the PSCW
ratemaking process can be sought if they exceed more than 2% of
the estimated costs used to establish the rates. The risk associated
with exposure to costs less than 2% above the estimated costs that
are not recoverable are not material. Recovery of utility natural gas
commodity costs are allowed to be passed through to retail
customers in both Wisconsin and Michigan via gas cost recovery
plans authorized by the PSCW and MPSC, respectively. An additional
risk within the ratemaking process, regulatory lag risk, occurs
between the time we submit rate proceedings and the time we
receive the final approval or denial from the PSCW, MPSC, or FERC.
The regulatory lag risk may increase or decrease with any change in
commodity prices, unplanned outages, or unscheduled maintenance
during the approval period. The regulatory lag risk is deemed to be
insignificant; therefore, the Value-at-Risk amounts discussed below
do not include measures for WPS Resources' regulated utilities. To
further manage commodity price risk and the associated regulatory
lag risk, our regulated utilities enter into contracts of various
durations for the purchase and/or sale of natural gas, fuel for
electric generation, and electricity.

For the nonregulated utilities, PDI utilizes purchase and/or sale
contracts for electric fuel and electricity to help manage its
commodity price risk, and ES| uses derivative financial and
commodity instruments to reduce market risk associated with the
changing prices of natural gas and electricity sold at firm prices to
customers. ESI also utilizes these instruments to manage market
risk associated with anticipated energy purchases.

For purposes of risk management disclosure, PDI and ESlI's activities
are classified as non-trading. Certain PDI merchant plants are under
contract to ESI, and ESI has the ability to reduce market price risk
and extract additional value from these plants through the use of
various financial and physical tools (including forward contracts and
options). Due to the fact that a majority of PDI's risk is now essentially
managed and reported through ESI, a separate Value-at-Risk amount
has not been presented for PDI.
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Value-at-Risk

To measure commodity price risk exposure, WPS Resources
performs a Value-at-Risk analysis of its exposures.

Value-at-Risk is used to describe a probabilistic approach to
quantifying the exposure to market risk. The Value-at-Risk amount
represents an estimate of the potential change in fair value that
could occur from changes in market factors, within a given
confidence level, if an instrument or portfolio is held for a specified
time period. Value-at-Risk models are relatively sophisticated.
However, the quantitative risk information is limited by the
parameters established in creating the model. The instruments being
used may have features that could trigger a potential l0ss in excess
of the calculated amount if the changes in the underlying commodity
price exceed the confidence level of the model used. Value-at-Risk is
not necessarily indicative of actual results that may occur.

Value-at-Risk is estimated using a delta-normal approximation based
on a one-day holding period and a 95% confidence level. The delta-
normal approximation is based on the assumption that changes in
the value of the portfolio over short time periods, such as one day,
are normally distributed. It does not take into account higher order
risk exposures, so it may not provide a good approximation of the
risk in a portfolio with substantial option positions. We utilized a
delta-normal approximation because our portfolio has limited
exposure to optionality. Our Value-at-Risk calculation includes
derivative financial and commodity instruments, such as forwards,
futures, swaps, and options as well as commodities held in
inventory, such as natural gas held in storage to the extent such
positions are significant.

The Value-at-Risk amount for ESI was calculated to be $0.5 million at
December 31, 2004, compared to $0.8 million at December 31,
2003. The decrease is due to less volatility in the market and fewer
unusual fluctuations in the various portfolios. Due to the fact that a
majority of PDI's risk is essentially managed and reported through
ESI, a separate Value-at-Risk amount has not been presented for PDI
in 2004. The Value-at-Risk amount for PDI at December 31, 2003,
was calculated to be $1.2 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the average, high, and low
Value-at-Risk amounts for ESI were $0.6 million, $0.8 million, and
$0.5 million, respectively. The same amounts for the year ended
December 31, 2003, were $0.5 million, $0.8 million, and $0.4 million.
The average, high, and low amounts were computed using the
Value-at-Risk amounts at the beginning of the reporting period and
the four quarter-end amounts.

Equity Return and Principal Preservation Risk

WPS Resources and WPSC currently fund liabilities (accumulated
benefit obligations) related to employee benefits and nuclear
decommissioning through various external trust funds. These funds
are managed by various investment managers and hold investments
in debt and equity securities. Changes in the market value of these
investments can have an impact on the future expenses related to
these liabilities. WPS Resources maintains a qualified pension plan
for employees’ retirement. The liability (accumulated benefit
obligation) of the qualified plan exceeded the value of the qualified
plan’s assets by $20.4 million at December 31, 2004, and

WPS Resources was, therefore, required to recognize a minimum
pension liability as prescribed by SFAS No. 87. Declines in the
equity markets or declines in interest rates may result in increased
future pension costs for the plan and possible future required
contributions. Changes in the market value of investments related to
other employee benefits or nuclear decommissioning could also
impact future contributions. WPS Resources monitors the trust fund
portfolio by benchmarking the performance of the investments
against certain security indices. All decommissioning costs and most
of the employee benefit costs relate to WPS Resources’ regulated
utilities. As such, the majority of these costs are recovered in
customers’ rates, mitigating the equity return and principal
preservation risk on these exposures.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

WPS Resources is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
foreign operations owned and operated in Canada and transactions
denominated in Canadian dollars for the purchase and sale of
natural gas and electricity by our nonregulated subsidiaries. Forward
foreign exchange contracts designated as fair value hedges are
utilized to manage the risk associated with currency fluctuations on
certain firm sales and sales commitments denominated in Canadian
dollars and certain Canadian dollar denominated asset and liability
positions. WPS Resources’ exposure to foreign currency risk was not
significant at December 31, 2004, or 2003.
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It's true, Cheri Salmon does eat popcorn while at 'work. But her
time is really dedicated to managing the -pewer Supply: for Upper
Peninstia Power Company, which shé pufchiase: jromfsuppl:’rersv
and arranges to be transperted to our Michigan| clistomers.
Transportation for Cheri's family, inetuding sons [Seth (left) and
Jared (right), is sometimes by air, inv the fai 's|well-caredfor
Cessha 182 Skylane. : ‘

.

b WPS RESOUR ORPORATION ‘ e




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31 (Millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Nonregulated revenue $3,598.6 $3,137.6 $ 4108
Utility revenue 1,292.0 1,183.7 1,050.3
Total revenues 4,890.6 4,321.3 1,461.1
Nonregulated cost of fuel, gas, and purchased power 3,458.8 3,016.6 339.7
Utitity cost of fuel, gas, and purchased power 576.2 532.3 419.0
Operating and maintenance expense 513.2 ) 459.5 412.5
Depreciation and decommissioning expense 107.0 138.4 94.8
Taxes other than income 46.1 43.8 39.9
Operating income 189.3 130.7 155.2
Miscellaneous income 47.7 63.6 47.8
Interest expense and distributions on trust preferred securities (54.2) (55.6) (55.8)
Minority interest 3.4 5.6 -
Other income (expense) (3.1) 13.6 (8.0)
Income before taxes 186.2 144.3 147.2
Provision for income taxes 30.0 33.7 28.7
Income from continuing operations 158.2 110.6 118.5
Discontinued operations, net of tax (13.4) (16.0) (8.0)
Net income before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principles 142.8 24.6 112.5
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax - 3.2 -
Net income before preferred stock dividends of subsidiary 142.8 97.8 1125
Preferred stock dividends of subsidiary 31 31 3.1
income available for commeon shareholders $ 139.7 $ 947 $ 109.4
Average shares of common stock

Basic 37.4 33.0 31.7

Diluted 37.6 33.2 32.0
Earnings (loss) per common share (basic)

Income from continuing operations $4.09 $3.26 $3.64

Discontinued operations (0.35) (0.49) {0.19)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles - 0.10 -

Earnings per common share (basic) $3.74 $2.87 $3.45
Earnings (loss) per common share (diluted)

Income from continuing operations $4.07 $3.24 $3.61

Discontinued operations (0.35) (0.49) (0.19)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles - 0.10 -

Earnings per common share (diluted) $3.72 $2.85 $3.42
Dividends per commen share $2.20 $2.16 $2.12

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

‘(/\/\47 mom qoes on her com PU+@V and does her work—
P[U§, She 3@+§ to eat POFGOVV[.I)\ Seth Graham, age 6
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31 (Miilions) 2004 2003

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 40.0 $ 507
Restricted funds - 3.2
Accounts receivable — net of reserves of $8.0 and $6.6, respectively 531.3 502.4
Accrued unbilled revenues 113.2 90.0
Inventories 188.8 178.3
Current assets from risk management activities 439.5 518.1
Assets held for sale 119.6 116.4
Other current assets 86.1 86.4
Current assets 1,518.5 1,545.5
Property, plant, and equipment, net 2,002.6 1,828.7
Nuclear decommissioning trusts 3445 332.3
Regulatory assets 160.9 127.7
Long-term assets from risk management activities 80.4 104.3
Other 338.7 353.8
Total assets $4,445.6 $4,292.3
Liabflities and Shareholders’ Equity

Short-term debt $ 2924 $ 380
Current portion of long-term debt 6.7 56.6
Note payable to preferred stock trust - 51.5
Accounts payable 589.4 510.7
Current liabilities from risk management activities 401.6 517.3
Liabilities held for sale 2.8 2.7
Deferred income taxes 14.6 1.7
Other current liabilities 72.6 86.9
Current liabilities 1,380.1 1,265.4
Long-term debt 865.7 871.9
Deferred income taxes 65.5 78.8
Deferred investment tax credits 16.2 17.7
Regulatory liabilities 288.3 304.4
Environmental remediation liabilities 68.4 37.9
Pension and postretirement benefit obligations 94.6 137.7
Long-term liabilities from risk management activities 68.3 92.2
Asset retirement obligations 364.4 344.0
Other 91.2 88.0
Long-term liabilities 1,922.6 1,972.6

Commitments and contingencies

Preferred stock of subsidiary with no mandatory redemption 51.1 51.1
Common stock equity 1,091.8 1,003.2
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $4,445.6 $4,292.3

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Employee Stock

Plan Guarantees Accumulated
and Deferred Capital in Other
Comprehensive Compensation Common Excess of Retained Treasury Comprehensive
D Income Total Trust Stock Par Value Earnings Stock income (Loss)
Balance at December 34, 2001 $ - $715.9 $(4.2) $31.5 $325.4 $373.6 $(7.7) $(2.7)
Income available for
common shareholders 109.4 109.4 - - - 109.4 - -
Other comprehensive income —
cash flow hedges (net of tax of $3.1) (4.6) (4.6) - - - - - (4.6)
Other comprehensive income -
minimum pension liability
(net of tax of $1.8) (2.7) (2.7) - - - - - (2.7)
Comprehensive income 102.1 - - - - - - -
Issuance of common stock - 28.3 - 0.5 21.7 - 6.1 -
Purchase of common stock - (1.3) (1.3) - - - - -
Dividends on common stock - (67.1) - - - (67.1) - -
Other - 4.9 0.1 - 4.7 - 0.1 -
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ - $782.8 $(5.4) $32.0 $351.8 $415.9 $(1.5) $(10.0)
Income available for
common shareholders 94.7 94.7 - - - 94.7 - -
Other comprehensive income —
cash flow hedges (net of tax of $4.8) 7.2 7.2 - - - - ~ 7.2
Other comprehensive income -
minimum pension liability
(net of tax of $8.2) (12.3) (12.3) - - - - - (12.3)
Other comprehensive income ~
currency translation 01 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
Comprehensive income 82.7 - - - - - - -
Issuance of common stock - 197.7 - 4.8 191.8 - 1.1 -
Purchase of common stock - (1.0) (1.0) - - - - -
Dividends on common stock - (71.8) - - - (71.8) - -
Other - 5.8 (0.1) - 5.9 - - -
Balance at December 31, 2003 $ - $1,003.2 $(6.5) $36.8 $548.5 $438.8 $(0.4) $(15.0)
Income available for
common shareholders 139.7 139.7 - - - 139.7 - -
Other comprehensive income —
cash flow hedges (net of tax of $3.1) 4.6 4.6 - - - - - 4.6
Other comprehensive income —
minimum pension liabitity
(net of tax of $4.0) (6.0) (6.0) - - - - - (6.0)
Other comprehensive income —
currency translation 0.3 0.3 - - - - - 0.3
Comprehensive income 138.6 - - - - - - -
Issuance of common stock - 26.3 - 0.6 25.6 - 0.1 -
Dividends on common stock - (81.3) - - - (81.3) - -
Other - 5.0 (1.9) 0.1 7.0 (0.2) - -
Balance at December 34, 2004 $ - $1,091.8 $(8.4) $37.5 $582.1 $497.0 $(0.3) $(16.1)
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities

Net income before preferred stock dividends of subsidiary $142.8 $ 97.8 $112.5

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities

Discontinued operations, net of tax 13.4 16.0 6.0
Depreciation and decommissioning 107.0 138.4 94.8
Amartization of nuclear fuel and other 4.7 42.4 46.5
Unrealized gain on investments (5.5) (38.7) (1.7)
Pension and postretirement expense 39.8 26.4 5.2
Pension and postretirement funding (17.8) (15.6) (7.3)
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credit (2.1) (0.4) 0.7
Unrealized (gains) losses on nonregutated energy contracts (10.7) 10.4 5.8
Gain on sales of partial interest in synthetic fuel operation (7.5) (7.6) (38.0)
Gain on sale of property, plant, and equipment (12.0) (7.1) (0.8)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax - (3.2) -
Other (11.1) (33.7) (8.0)
Changes in working capital, net of businesses acquired
Receivables, net (67.6) (183.3) (83.2)
inventories (11.6) (79.9) 17.8
Other current assets {0.9) (19.4) (6.2)
Accounts payable 45.2 102.8 59.1
Other current liabilities (3.1) 17.1 (14.7)
Net cash operating activities 243.0 62.4 188.5
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures {290.0) (176.2) (210.3)
Sale of property, plant, and equipment 26.9 31.4 7.1
Purchase of equity investments and other acquisitions (52.3) (102.7) (72.3)
Decommissioning funding (0.3) (3.0) (2.6)
Other 3.1 6.5 12.7
Net cash investing activities (312.6) (244.0) (265.4)
Financing Activities
Shortterm debt — net 251.2 14.7 3.9
Issuance of long-term debt - 125.0 250.3
Repayment of long-term debt, note to preferred stock trust
and capital lease (105.1) (87.7) (129.6)
Payment of dividends
Preferred stock (3.1) (3.1) (3.1)
Common stock (81.3) (71.8) (67.1)
Issuance of common stock 26.3 197.7 28.3
Purchase of common stock - (1.0) (1.3}
Other (11.2) 24.8 11.7
Net cash financing activities 76.8 198.6 93.1
Change in cash and cash equivalents - continuing operations 7.2 17.0 16.2
Change in cash and cash equivalents — discontinued operations (17.9) (9.8) (16.8)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (10.7) 7.4 (0.6)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 50.7 43.3 43.9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 40.0 $ 50.7 $ 43.3

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

al\/\b} aunt, Betty Jo, works on a computer for 6, 6&+V;O; +‘7.)\

Olivia Moens, age 6




As a distribution planning technician for Wisconsin Public
Service, Betty Bonfigt uses a computer to help design the
electric distribution system and ensure that it provides
reliable power for our customers. Feeder loads, voltage
studies, and overcurrent protection plans are some of the
tremendously complex issues she addresses daily. So it's
the simple things, like her great-niece Olivia and Olivia’s
brand-new puppy, Sulley, that she relies on for balance.
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

{a) Nature of Operations—WPS Resources is a holding company.
Our wholly owned subsidiary, Wisconsin Public Service Corporation
(WPSC), is an electric and natural gas utility. WPSC supplies and
distributes electric power and natural gas in its franchised service
territory in northeastern Wisconsin and an adjacent portion of
the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. Our other wholly owned utility
subsidiary, Upper Peninsula Power Company (UPPCO), is an electric
utility. UPPCO supplies and distributes electric energy to a portion of
the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. Another wholly owned subsidiary,
WPS Resources Capital Corporation, is a holding company for our
nonregulated businesses, WPS Energy Services, Inc. (ESI) and
WPS Power Development, Inc. (PDI). ESI is a diversified energy supply
and services company. PDI is an electric generation company.

The term “utility” refers to the regulated activities of WPSC and
UPPCQ, while the term “nonutility” refers to the activities of WPSC
and UPPCO that are not regulated. The term “nonregulated” refers
to activities other than those of WPSC and UPPCO.

{b) Consclidation Basis of Presentation-—The Consolidated

Financial Statements include the accounts of WPS Resources and all
majority owned subsidiaries, after eliminating significant intercompany
transactions and balances. If a minority owner’s equity is reduced to
zero, our policy is to record 100% of the subsidiary’s losses until the
minority owner makes capital contributions or commitments to fund its
share of the operating costs. The cost method of accounting is used
for investments when WPS Resources owns less than 20% of the
voting stock of the company, unless other evidence indicates we have
significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the
investee. Investments in businesses not controlled by WPS Resources,
but over which we have significant influence regarding the operating
and financial policies of the investee, are accounted for using the
equity method. For additional information on our equity method
investments see Note 10, “Investments in Affiliates, at Equity Method.”

For all periods presented, certain assets and liabilities of Sunbury
are classified as held for sale and Sunbury’s operating results have
been separately classified and reported as discontinued operations.
Refer to Note 4, “Assets Held for Sale,” for more information.

(c) Use of Estimates—We prepare our financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. We make estimates and assumptions that
affect reported amounts. These estimates and assumptions include
assets, liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents—We consider short-term investments
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Cash paid for taxes during 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $37.0 million,
$21.9 million, and $34.6 million, respectively. During 2004, 2003,
and 2002, cash paid for interest totaled $54.4 million, $57.9 million,
and $52.3 million, respectively.

Non-cash transactions were as follows:

Weston 4 construction
.costs funded through
accounts payable

$22.6

Minimum pension liability
equity adjustment 6.0 12.3 2.7

Restricted cash 3.2 1.0 17.8

Debt assumed in
Advantage acquisition 3.2 - -

Exchange of transmission
assets for equity interest
in American Transmission
Company LLC (ATC) - 5.9 -

Conversion of
indebtedness to equity in
Quest Energy LLC - - 2.4

Debt assumed in WPS Empire
State acquisition - - 0.9

(e) Revenue and Customer Receivables—Revenues are recognized
on the accrual basis and include estimated amounts for electric
and natural gas services rendered but not billed. Approximately
6.6% of WPS Resources' total revenue in 2004 was from
companies in the paper products industry.

WPSC and UPPCO use automatic fuel and purchased power
adjustment clauses for the Michigan Public Service Commission
(MPSC) retail electric portions of-their business. WPSC also uses
automatic fuel and purchased power adjustment clauses for its
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) wholesale electric
business; however, at UPPCO, most wholesale electric contracts are
special contracts and have no automatic fuel and purchased power
adjustment clauses. The Wisconsin retail electric portion of WPSC's
business uses a “cost variance range” approach, based on a
specific estimated fuel and purchased power cost for the forecast
year. If WPSC's actual fuel and purchased power costs fall outside
this range, the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW)
can authorize an adjustment to future rates. Decreases to rates
can be implemented without a hearing, unless requested by WPSC,
Commission Staff, or interveners, while increases to rates are
generally subject to a hearing. For more information on current
regulatory actions related to the fuel and purchased power
adjustment clauses, see Note 22, “Regulatory Environment.”




The PSCW approved a modified one-for-one gas cost recovery
plan for WPSC commencing in January 1999. This plan allows
WPSC to pass changes in the cost of natural gas on to system
natural gas customers, subject to regulatory review by the
Commission for reasonableness.

The MPSC has approved one-for-one recovery of prudently incurred
natural gas costs for WPSC, subject to regulatory review. The
MPSC also approved a natural gas cost recovery factor adjustment
mechanism for WPSC for the period November 2004 through
October 2005. This adjustment mechanism allows WPSC to
upwardly adjust the natural gas rates charged to customers in
Michigan based on upward changes to the New York Mercantile
Exchange natural gas futures price without further MPSC action.

Billings to UPPCQ's customers under the MPSC's jurisdiction include
base rate charges and a power supply cost recovery factor. UPPCO
receives MPSC approval each year to recover projected power supply
costs by establishment of power supply cost recovery factors. The
MPSC reconciles these factors to actual costs annually and permits
100% recovery of allowed power supply costs. UPPCO recognizes any
over or under recovery currently in its revenues, and the payable or
receivable is recognized on the balance sheet until settlement. The
deferrals are relieved with additional billings or refunds.

WPSC and UPPCO are required to provide service and grant credit
to customers within their service territories. The two companies
continually review their customers’ credit-worthiness and obtain
or refund deposits accordingly. Both utilities are precluded from
discontinuing service to residential customers during winter
moratorium months. The regulated segments calculate a reserve
for potential uncollectible customer receivables using a fouryear
average of bad debts net of recoveries as a percentage of total
accounts receivable. The historical percentage is applied to the
current yearend accounts receivable balance to determine the
required reserve balance.

At PDI, electric power revenues related to fixed-price contracts are
recognized at the lower of amounts billable under the contract or an
amount equal to the volume of the capacity made available or the
energy delivered during the period multiplied by the estimated
average revenue per kilowatt-hour per the terms of the contract.
Under floating-price contracts, electric power revenues are recognized
when capacity is provided or energy is delivered.

ESI accrues revenues in the month that energy is delivered and/or
services are rendered. With the January 1, 2003, adoption of
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-03, “Issues Involved in
Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and
Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management
Activities,” revenues related to derivative instruments classified

as trading are reported net of related cost of sales for all periods
presented. Therefore, previously reported revenues for derivatives
classified as trading in 2002 have been reclassified to be shown net
of cost of fuel, natural gas, and purchased power, while most 2004
and 2003 revenues continue to be reported on a gross basis. See
Note 1(1), “Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principles,”
for more information. Neither margins nor income available for

common shareholders were impacted by the reclassification of
revenue upon adoption of Issue No. 02-03.

ES! calculates the reserve for potential uncollectible customer
receivable balances by applying an estimated bad debt experience rate
to each past due aging category and reserving for 100% of specific
customer receivable balances deemed to be uncollectible. The basis for
calculating the reserve for receivables from wholesale counterparties
considers netting agreements, collateral, and guarantees.

(f) Inventories—Inventories consist of natural gas in storage and
fossil fuels, including coal. We value all fossil fuels using average
cost. Average cost is also used to value natural gas in storage for
our regulated segments. Natural gas in storage for our nonregulated
segments is valued at the lower of cost or market unless hedged
pursuant to a fair value hedge. Through December 2002, natural
gas in storage for our nonregulated segments was marked to the
current spot price under fair value accounting rules. To comply
with accounting requirements resulting from the rescission of
Issue No. 98-10, “Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading
and Risk Management Activities,” we adopted the inventory valuation
method described above for our nonregulated natural gas inventories
effective January 1, 2003.

(8) Risk Management Activities—As part of our regular operations,
WPS Resources enters into contracts, including options, swaps,
futures, forwards, and other contractual commitments, to manage
market risks such as changes in commodity prices and interest rates.

WPS Resources evaluates its derivative contracts in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended and interpreted. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and
financial reporting standards for derivative instruments and requires,
in part, that we recognize certain derivative instruments on the balance
sheet as assets or liabilities at their fair value. Subsequent changes in
fair value of the derivatives are recorded currently in earnings unless
certain hedge accounting criteria are met. if the derivatives quafify

for regulatory deferral subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 71,
“Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation,” the
derivatives are marked to fair value pursuant to SFAS No. 133 and

are offset with a corresponding regulatory asset or liability.

Prior to the adoption of Issue No. 02-03, effective January 1, 2003,
ESI accounted for contracts in accordance with Issue No. 98-10,
“Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk
Management Activities.” See Note 1(t), “Cumulative Effect of Change
in Accounting Principles,” for more information concerning the
transition from Issue No. ©8-10 to Issue No. 02-03.

in the fourth quarter of 2003, WPS Resources adopted Issue

No. 03-11, “Reporting Realized Gains and Losses on Derivative
Instruments that are Subject to SFAS No, 133 and Not ‘Held for
Trading Purposes’ as Defined in Issue No. 02-03,” which resulted in
recording nonregulated revenues net of cost of fuel, natural gas, and
purchased power for energy-related transactions entered into after
October 1, 2003, that settle financially and for which the commodity
does not physically transfer. Had the provisions of Issue No. 03-11
been applied to arrangements entered into prior to October 1, 2003,

— .
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previously reported nonregulated revenue would have decreased
$62.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, with
a corresponding $62.9 million decrease to nonregulated cost of fuel,
natural gas, and purchased ;power. Previously reported wholesale
natural gas sales volumes for the nine months ended September 30,
2003, would have decreased 10.8 billion cubic feet. Neither
margins, income, nor cash flows were impacted by the adoption

of Issue No. 03-11.

WPS Resources classifies mark-to-market gains and losses on
derivative instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting as a
component of revenues.

{h) Property, Plant, and Equipment—Utility plant is stated at the
original cost of construction including an allowance for funds used
during construction. The cost of renewals and betterments of units of
property (as distinguished from minor items of property) is capitalized
as an addition to the utility plant accounts. Except for land, no gain
or loss is recognized in connection with ordinary retirements of utility
praperty units. Maintenance, repair, replacement, and renewal costs
associated with items not gualifying as units of property are
considered operating expenses. The utility charges the cost of
units of property retired, sold, or otherwise disposed of, less salvage,
to the accumulated provision for depreciation. The cost of removal
associated with the retirement is charged to a regulatory liability.

We record straight-line depreciation expense over the estimated
useful life of utility property and include amounts for estimated
removal and salvage. The PSCW approved depreciation rates for
WPSC effective January 1, 1999. On December 21, 2004, WPSC
received approval for new depreciation rates effective January 1, 2005,
which are not expected to have a material impact on annual
depreciation expense. Depreciation rates for UPPCO were approved
by the MPSC effective January 1, 2002.

The depreciation of Kewaunee production plant for the Wisconsin
retail jurisdiction is being accrued based on a PSCW order. The cost
of the steam generators that went into service in December 2001
will be recovered over an 8% year period using the sum-of-years-
digits method of depreciatiori. Also under this order, the unrecovered
plant investment at January 1, 2001, and future additions will be
recovered over a period ending 82 years after the installation of the
steam generators using a straight-line remaining life depreciation
methodology. For the Michigan retail and wholesale jurisdictions,
depreciation for Kewaunee is calculated on a straight-line basis using
depreciation rates approved by the PSCW effective January 1, 1994.

Depreciation expense also inciudes accruals for nuclear
decommissioning. These accruals are not included in the annual
composite rates shown below. An explanation of this item is
included in Note 8, “Nuclear Plant Operation.”

Annual Utility Composite

Depreciation Rates 2004 2003 2002
Electric 3.59% 3.63% 3.66%
Gas 3.65% 3.63% 3.59%

Nonutility property interest capitalization takes place during
construction, and gain and loss recognition occurs in connection with
retirements. Nonutility property is depreciated using straight-line
depreciation. Asset lives range from 3 to 20 years.

Nonregulated plant is stated at the original construction cost,
which includes capitalized interest, or estimated fair value at the
time of acquisition pursuant to a business combination. The costs
of renewals, betterments, and major overhauls are capitalized as
an addition to plant. The gains or losses associated with ordinary
retirements are recorded in the period of retirement, Maintenance,
repair, and minor replacement costs are expensed as incurred.

Most of the nonregulated subsidiaries compute depreciation using
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

15 to 40 years

5 to 35 years

3 to 10 years

5 years

3 years

Shorter of: life of the lease or
life of the asset

Structures and improvements
Office and plant equipment
Office furniture and fixtures
Vehicles

Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

The Combined Locks Energy Center, however, is using the units of
production depreciation method for selected pieces of equipment
having defined lives stated in terms of hours of production.

WPS Resources capitalizes certain costs related to software developed
or obtained for internal use and amortizes those costs to operating
expense over the estimated useful life of the related software, which

is usually three to seven years.

{i) Capitalized Interest and Allowance for Funds Used During
Construction—Our nonregulated subsidiaries capitalize interest for
construction projects, while our utilities use an allowance for funds
used during construction (“AFUDC") calculation, which includes both

a debt and an equity component as required by regulatory accounting.

Approximately 50% of WPSC'’s retail jurisdictional construction work-
in-progress expenditures are subject to AFUDC, except on specific
projects approved by the PSCW. For 2004, WPSC’s AFUDC retail rate
was 9.21%.

WPSC's construction work-in-progress AFUDC debt and equity
percentage formula for the wholesale jurisdiction is specified in the
FERC’s Uniform System of Accounts. The 2004 average AFUDC
wholesale rate was 6.99%.

WPSC’s allowance for equity funds used during construction for 2004,
2003, and 2002 was $2.0 million, $2.4 million, and $3.0 million,
respectively. WPSC’s allowance for borrowed funds used during
construction for 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $0.7 million, $1.0 million,
and $1.2 million, respectively. UPPCO did not record AFUDC for 2004,
2003, or 2002, as UPPCO did not have significant construction
projects during these years.

Our nonregulated subsidiaries calculate capitalized interest on long-
term construction projects for periods during which financing is




provided by WPS Resources through interim debt. The interest rate
capitalized is based upon the monthly short-term borrowing rate
WPS Resources incurs for such funds. The amount of interest
capitalized during 2004, 2003, and 2002 was insignificant.

(j) Asset Impairment—We review the recoverability of long-lived
tangible and intangible assets, excluding goodwill, other indefinite
lived intangible assets, and regulatory assets, in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” SFAS No. 144 requires review of assets when circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The carrying
amount of assets held and used is not recoverable if it exceeds the
undiscounted sum of cash flows expected to result from the use
and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying value is not
recoverable, the impairment loss is measured as the excess of the
asset's carrying value over its fair value. The carrying value of assets
held for sale is not recoverable if it exceeds the fair value less cost
to sell the asset. An impairment charge is recorded for any excess
of the carrying value over the fair value less cost to sell. If events or
circumstances indicate the carrying value of investments accounted
for under the equity method of accounting may not be recoverable,
potential impairment is assessed by comparing the future anticipated
cash flows from these investments to their carrying values. Impairment
charges are recorded if the carrying value of such assets exceeds the
future anticipated cash flows.

(k) Regulatory Assets and Liabilities—WPSC and UPPCO are subject
to the provisions of SFAS No. 71. Regulatory assets represent
probable future revenue associated with certain incurred costs which
will be recovered from customers through the ratemaking process.
Regulatory liabilities represent amounts that are refundable in future
customer rates. Based on a current evaluation of the various factors
and conditions that are expected to impact future cost recovery, we
believe that future recovery of our regulatory assets is probable.

(1) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—In accordance with SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill and other
assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but are subject to
annual impairment tests. WPSC performs its impairment test during
the second quarter of each year, while PDI performs its impairment
test annually during the third quarter. The impairment tests are
updated whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the assets might be impaired. Based upon the results of testing, no
impairments were noted in 2004, 2003, or 2002.

Other intangible assets with definite lives, consisting primarily

of emission credits and customer related intangible assets, are
amortized over periods from 1 to 30 years. For more information on
WPS Resources’ intangible assets, see Note 11, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.”

{m) Retirement of Debt—Premiums, discounts, and expenses
incurred with the issuance of outstanding long-term debt are amortized
over the terms of the debt issues. Any call premiums or unamortized
expenses associated with refinancing highercost debt obligations used
to finance regulated assets and operations are amortized consistent
with regulatory treatment of those items, where appropriate.

(n) Research and Development—Electric research and development
expenditures for WPSC totaled $0.7 million, $0.6 million, and

$0.3 million, in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. No other
research and development expenditures were significant.

(c) Asset Retirement Obligations—Effective January 1, 2003,

WPS Resources adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations.” Under this accounting standard,

WPS Resources recognizes, at fair value, legal obligations
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that
result from the acquisition, construction or development, and/or
normal operation of the asset. The associated retirement costs are
capitalized as part of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over
the useful life of the asset. For the utility segments of WPS Resources,
we believe it is probable that any differences between expenses under
SFAS No. 143 and expenses currently recovered through customer
rates will be recoverable or refundable in future customer rates.
Accordingly, the adoption of this statement had no impact on the
utility segment’s income as its effect is offset by the establishment
of regulatory assets or liabilities pursuant to SFAS No. 71. Refer to
Note 15, “Asset Retirement Obligations,” for additional information
on SFAS No. 143.

(p) Income Taxes—We account for income taxes using the liability
method as prescribed by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for income
Taxes.” Under this method, deferred income taxes have been
recorded using currently enacted tax rates for the differences
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the basis
reported in the financial statements. Due to the effects of regulation
on WPSC and UPPCOQ, certain adjustments made to deferred income
taxes are, in turn, recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities.

Investment tax credits, which have been used to reduce our federal
income taxes payable, have been deferred for financial reporting
purposes. These deferred investment tax credits are being amortized
over the useful lives of the property to which they relate.

WPS Resources is an indirect part owner in a facility that produces
synthetic fuel that qualifies for tax credits under Section 29 if certain
requirements are satisfied. Section 29 tax credits are currently
scheduled to expire at the end of 2007. Tax credits that are not
used to reduce tax expense as a result of alternative minimum tax
rules relating to United States federal income taxes are carried
forward as alternative minimum tax credits to reduce current tax
expense in future years. Under current federal law, alternative
minimum tax credits do not expire.

WPS Resources files a consolidated United States income tax return
that includes domestic subsidiaries in which its ownership is 80% or
more. WPS Resources and its consolidated subsidiaries are parties
to a tax allocation arrangement under which each entity determines
its income tax provision on a stand-alone basis, after which the
effects of federal consolidation are accounted for.

WPS Resources records a reserve for tax contingencies based
upon management’s assessment of the probabilities that certain
deductions or income tax positions may not be sustained when
income tax returns are audited by taxing jurisdictions. Our identified
tax exposures are discussed below.

WPS Resources and its subsidiaries have routinely been subject to
examination by various taxing jurisdictions. The periods currently
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open for examination include: Internal Revenue Service ~ 2002 and
subsequent tax years, Wisconsin Department of Revenue — 1996 and
subsequent tax years, and other state and local taxing jurisdictions —
various time periods. At any given time there might be several of these
audits open covering multiple tax years. Management has not been
informed by any taxing jurisdictions of any material adjustment to any
filed or proposed tax position as a result of the on-going examinations.

WPS Resources has submitted a request to have the Internal
Revenue Service conduct a pre-filing review of two tax positions
related to the 2004 tax return. The first position relates to the value
of the Peshtigo River land donated to the Wisconsin Department
of Natural Resources (WDNR) in 2004. The second position relates
to the current deductibility of a planned repair that was made to
the reactor vessel at Kewaunee in 2004. The IRS has not yet
responded to these requests. If the IRS decides not to undertake
a pre-filing review, WPS Resources will have to wait for resolution
of these positions when they come up for examination post-filing.
WPS Resources has recorded a tax benefit with respect to these
positions based upon management’s assessment of the probability
of sustaining the position WPS Resources intends to take in filing
its 2004 tax return.

The combined current benefit of Section 29 tax credits and

the deferred benefit of alternative minimum tax credits (arising
from Section 29 tax credits) is limited to an amount equal to the
WPS Resources regular consolidated federal tax liability. In 2004,
and in some previous years, this limitation has impacted the amount
of the tax benefit recorded as compared to actual Section 29 tax
credits produced. WPS Resources has recorded a tax benefit with
respect to Section 29 tax credits based upon management'’s
assessment of the probability of sustaining the filing position for
federal tax returns.

{q) Excise Taxes—WPS Resources presents revenue net of pass-
through taxes on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

{r) Guarantees—Effective January 1, 2003, WPS Resources adopted
the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others.” Interpretation No. 45 requires that the
guarantor recognize, at the inception of the guarantee, a liability for
the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.

At December 31, 2004, WPSC had an outstanding guarantee to
indemnify a third party for certain unrecovered costs related to a
utility construction project in the event the project is not completed.
At December 31, 2004, the guarantee carries a maximum exposure
of $5.3 million. A liability for the fair value of this obligation was not
recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets of WPSC because
the guarantee was issued prior to the effective date for initial
measurement and recognition as defined by Interpretation No. 45.

(s) Stock-Based Employee Compensation—WPS Resources has
stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described
more fully in Note 21, “Stock-Based Compensation.” WPS Resources
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accounts for these plans under the recognition and measurement
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. Upon
grant of stock options, no stock-based employee compensation cost is
reflected in net income, as all options granted under these plans had
an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on
income available for common shareholders and earnings per share if
the company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based
employee compensation:

(Millions, except per
share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Income available for
commeon shareholders

As reported

Add: Stock-based
compensation expense
using the intrinsic value
method — net of tax 1.4 2.1 1.3

Deduct: Stock-based
compensation expense
using the fair value
method - net of tax (2.1) (2.8) (1.8)

Pro forma $139.0 $94.2 $108.9

$139.7 $94.7 $109.4

Basic earnings

per commeon share
As reported $3.74 $2.87 $3.45
Pro forma 3.72 2.85 3.44

Diluted earnings

per commen share
As reported $3.72 $2.85 $3.42
Pro forma 3.70 2.84 3.40

The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes stock option pricing model assuming:

2004 2003 2002

Expected life 10 years 10 years | 10 years
. ) 4.40% 4.43%
Risk-free interest rate 4.40% to 4.65% | to 5.57%
5.68% 6.23%

L ) o
Expected dividend yield 5.19% 0 6.23% | to 6.60%
18.25% 19.53%

ili Q
Expected volatility 15.44% to 19.97% | to 20.53%

(t) Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principles—ESI had
been applying the accounting standards of Issue No. 98-10, from
the first quarter of 2000 until this standard was rescinded by
Issue No. 02-03 in October 2002. ES| was defined as a trading
company under Issue No. 98-10 and was required to mark all of its
energy-related contracts to market. On October 25, 2002, the Emerging
Issues Task Force rescinded Issue No. 98-10, thus precluding mark-
to-market accounting for energy trading contracts entered into after that
date that are not derivatives and requiring a cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle to be recorded effective January 1, 2003, for all
nonderivative contracts entered into on or prior to October 25, 2002.
On January 1, 2003, WPS Resources recorded an aftertax cumulative
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effect of a change in accounting principle of $3.5 million (primarily
related to ES| operations) to increase income available for common
shareholders as a result of removing from its balance sheet the
mark-to-market effects of those contracts entered into on or prior
to October 25, 2002, that do not meet the definition of a derivative
under SFAS No. 133. The cumulative effect of adopting this new
accounting standard is expected 10 reverse upon the settlement

of the contracts impacted by the standard. Most of this reversal
occurred in 2004. The required change in accounting had no impact
on the underlying economics or cash flows of the contracts.

The adoption of SFAS No. 143 at PDI on January 1, 2003, resulted
in a $0.3 million negative after-tax cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle related to recording a liability for the closure of
an ash basin at Sunbury.

{u} Reclassifications—We reclassified certain prior year financial
statement amounts to conform to the cutrent year presentation.

{v) New Accounting Pronouncements—In December 2004, the
FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” which
addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions.
SFAS No. 123R eliminates the ability to account for share-based
compensation transactions using APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and requires a company to measure
the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of
equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award
(with limited exceptions). That cost is recognized over the period
during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange
for the award. SFAS No. 123R will be effective for WPS Resources on
July 1, 2005. SFAS No. 123R offers companies alternative methods

of adopting this standard. At the present time, WPS Resources has
not determined which alternative method it will use, or the resulting
impact on its financial position or results of operations. However,

we do not expect a significant impact when we adopt the standard.

In March 2004, the FASB issued EITF No. 03-01, “The Meaning

of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain
Investments,” which provides new guidance for assessing impairment
losses on debt and equity investments. The new impairment model
applies to investments accounted for under the cost method and
investments accounted for under SFAS 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” EITF No. 03-01 also
includes new disclosure requirements for cost method investments
and for all investments that are in an unrealized loss position. In
September 2004, the FASB delayed the accounting provisions of
EITF No. 03-01; however, the disclosure requirements were effective
for WPS Resources for the year ended December 31, 2004.

WPS Resources does naot expect the adoption of the accounting
provisions of EITF No. 03-01 to have a significant impact on financial
position or results of operations.

WPS Resources’ investments accounted for under SFAS No. 115
that have unrealized losses at December 31, 2004, were not
significant. At December 31, 2004, the aggregate carrying amount
of WPS Resources’ cost method investments totaled $1.5 million.
These investments were not evaluated for impairment because the
fair value of the investments was not estimated in accordance with
paragraphs 14 and 15 of SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair
Value of Financial Instruments,” and no events or changes in
circumstances were identified that would have had a significant
adverse effect on the fair value of those investments.

NOTE 2—FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments as of
December 31 were:

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it
is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash, Short-Term Investments, Energy Conservation Loans, Notes
Payable, and Outstanding Commercial Paper: The carrying amount
approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these
investments and obligations.

Nuclear Decommissioning Trusts: Nuclear decommissioning trust
investments are recorded at fair value, net of taxes payable on
unrealized gains and losses. This represents the amount of assets
available to accomplish decommissioning. The nonqualified trust
investments designated to pay income taxes when unrealized gains
become realized are classified as nuclear decommissioning trusts -
other assets.

Long-Term Debt and Preferred Stock: The fair values of long-term debt
and preferred stock are estimated based on the quoted market price
for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to

WPS Resources for debt of the same remaining maturity.

Risk Management Activities: Assets and liabilities from risk management
activities are recorded at fair value pursuant to SFAS No. 133.

2004 2003
Carrying Fair | Carrying Fair
Amount | Value | Amount| Value
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 40.0 | $ 40.0 3% 50.7|% 507
Restricted cash - - 3.2 3.2
Energy conservation loans 1.6 1.6 1.9 1.9
Nuclear decommissioning
trusts 3445 | 3445 3323 332.3
Nuclear decommissioning
trusts - other assets 26.8 26.8 22.5 22.5
Notes payable 12.7 12.7 10.0 10.0
Commercial paper 279.7 279.7 28.0 28.0
Note payable to preferred
stock trust - - 51.5 51.5
Long-term debt 874.4 | 9252 931.2| 1,047
Preferred stock 51.1 50.0 51.1 49.0
Risk management
activities - net SO.OJ 50.0 12.9 12.9
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NOTE 3—RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

The following table shows WPS Resources’ assets and liabilities from
risk management activities as of December 31, 2004, and 2003

Assets Liabilities

(Millions)
Utility Segment
Gas and electric

purchase contracts $ 11.0|% 841}$% -1% -
Other - - 0.6 -
Nonregulated Segments
Commodity and foreign

currency contracts 465.3 | 588.7| 435.4| 586.4
Fair value hedges 3.8 0.3 2.3 4.0
Cash flow hedges

Commaodity contracts 39.8 25.0 22.9 9.0

Interest rate swap - - 8.7 10.1
Total $519.9 | $622.4 | $469.9 | $609.5
Balance Sheet Presentation
Current $439.5]$518.1 | $401.6 | $517.3
Long-term 80.4| 104.3 68.3 92.2
Total $519.9 | $622.4 | $469.9 | $609.5

Assets and liabilities from risk management activities are classified
as current or long-term based upon the maturities of the underlying
financial instruments.

Utility Segment

WPSC has entered into a limited number of natural gas and electric
purchase contracts that are accounted for as derivatives. The PSCW
approved the recognition of a regulatory asset or liability for the fair
value of derivative amounts as a result of these contracts. Thus,
management believes any gains or losses resulting from the
eventual settlement of these contracts will be collected from or
refunded to customers.

Nonregulated Segments

The derivatives in the nonregulated segments not designated as
hedges are primarily commodity contracts used to manage price risk
associated with wholesale and retail natural gas purchase and sale
activities, electric energy contracts, and foreign currency contracts used
to manage foreign currency exposure related to our nonregulated
Canadian businesses. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that have
not qualified for hedge accounting are recognized currently in earnings.

Our nonregulated segments also enter into derivative contracts that
are designated as either fair value or cash flow hedges. Fair value

NOTE 4—ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On September 30, 2004, PDI received a letter of termination from
Duquesne Power, L.P related to the previously announced agreement
to sell Sunbury to Duquesne for approximately $120 million.
Duguesne issued its letter of termination following a determination
by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission not to reconsider its

hedges are used to mitigate the risk of changes in the price of natural
gas held in storage. The changes in the fair value of these hedges
are recognized currently in earnings, as are the changes in fair value
of the hedged items. Fair value hedge ineffectiveness recorded in
nonregulated revenue on the Consolidated Statements of Income

was not significant in 2004, 2003, or 2002. At December 31, 2004,
a mark-to-market gain of $3.0 million related to the changes in the
difference between the spot and forward prices of natural gas was
excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. This loss
was reported directly in earnings.

Cash flow hedges consist of commodity contracts associated with our
energy marketing activities and an interest rate swap. The commodity
contracts extend through December 2006 and are used to mitigate the
risk of cash flow variability associated with the future purchases and
sales of natural gas and electricity. To the extent they are effective,
the changes in the values of these contracts are included in other
comprehensive income, net of deferred taxes. Cash flow hedge
ineffectiveness recorded in nonregulated revenue on the Consolidated
Statements of Income was not significant in 2004, 2003, or 2002.
When testing for effectiveness, no portion of the derivative instruments
was excluded. Amounts recorded in other comprehensive income
related to these cash flow hedges will be recognized in earings as
the related contracts are settled or if the hedged transaction is
discontinued. In 2004, we reclassified a $1.9 million gain from other
comprehensive income into earnings as a result of the discontinuance
of cash flow hedge accounting for certain hedge transactions where it
was probable that the original forecasted transaction would no longer
occur. The amounts reclassified during 2003 and 2002 were not
significant. In the next 12 months, subject to changes in market prices
of natural gas and electricity, it is expected that $11.5 million will be
recognized in earnings due to contracts being settled.

The interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedge is used to fix
the interest rate for the full term of a variable rate loan due in March
2018 used to finance the purchase of Sunbury. Because the swap was
determined to be effective, the changes in the value of this contract are
included in other comprehensive income, net of deferred taxes. Amounts
recorded in other comprehensive income related to this swap will be
recognized as a component of interest expense as the interest becomes
due. In the next 12 months, we expect to expense $1.8 million,
assuming interest rates comparable to those at December 31, 2004,
and assuming the hedged transaction continues after Sunbury is sold.
See Note 4, “Assets Held for Sale,” for more information. We did not
exclude any components of the derivative instrument’s change in fair
value from the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

earlier approved Provider of Last Resort plan, which Duguesne
believed did not satisfy a closing condition in the agreement. PDI is
progressing with a sale process using an investment banking advisor,
and anticipates being able to complete the sale of Sunbury in 2005.
This facility currently sells power on a wholesale basis, and previously



provided energy for a 200-megawatt aroundthe-clock outtake contract
that expired on December 31, 2004. The sale of Sunbury will enable
WPS Resources to reduce uncontracted merchant exposure and
redeploy capital into markets with different risk profiles.

In December 2004, PDI completed the sale of certain silt reserves
that were utilized in the operation of Sunbury. Consideration consisted
of an up-front payment of $1.4 million and possible future payments
based upon future sift extraction. The sale of the silt reserves resulted
in a loss of $0.1 million.

At December 31, 2004, and 2003, the assets and liabilities
associated with Sunbury have been classified as held for sale in
accordance with SFAS No. 144, which requires that a long-lived asset
classified as held for sale be measured at the lower of its carrying
amount or fair value, less costs to sell, and cease being depreciated.
Based upon consideration of all information available, no adjustments
to write down assets held for sale were required during the years
ended December 31, 2004, and 2003.

The major classes of assets and liabilities held for sale are as
follows at December 31:

0 2004 2003
Inventories $ 7.3 $ 4.2
Other current assets 5.4 5.1
Property, plant, and equipment, net 74.7 71.5
Other assets (includes emission credits) 32.2 35.6
Assets held for sale $1190.6 $116.4
Other current liabilities $ 0.6 $ 06
Asset retirement obligations 2.2 2.1
Liabilities held for sale $ 2.8 $ 2.7

PDI financed Sunbury with equity from WPS Resources and debt
financing, including non-recourse debt and a related interest rate
swap. The interest rate swap is designated as a cash flow hedge
and, as a result, the markto-market loss has been recorded as
a component of other comprehensive income. If management

determines that the hedged transactions (i.e., future interest
payments on the debt) will not continue after the sale,

WPS Resources will be required to recognize the amount
accumulated within other comprehensive income ($5.2 million
net of tax at December 31, 2004) currently in earnings. No such
determination has been made at December 31, 2004.

A summary of the components of discontinued operations recorded
in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended
December 31 was as follows:

Nonregulated revenue $60.2 $81.2 $87.2
Operating expenses (80.7) (97.7) (91.3)
Other income 4.3 - -
Interest expense (5.5) (6.2) (5.8)
Loss before taxes (21.7) (22.7) 9.9)
income tax benefit (8.3) (6.7) (3.9)
Discontinued operations,

net of tax $(13.4) $(16.0) $(6.0)

Interest expense represents the non-recourse term loans directly
related to Sunbury.

A summary of the components of the change in cash and cash
equivalents related to discontinued operations recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Net cash operating activities ${(12.2) $(3.2) $ 55

Net cash investing activities (2.4) (3.4) (12.4)

Net cash financing activities (3.3) (3.0) (2.9)
Change in cash and cash

equivalents $(17.9) $(9.6) $(16.8)

During 2004, 2003, and 2002 cash paid for interest associated with
the non-recourse debt of discontinued operations was $5.4 million,
$5.5 million, and $5.8 million, respectively.

NOTE 5—PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following utility, nonutility, and nonregulated assets.

Electric utility $2,409.4 | $2,288.9
Gas utility 510.0 457.2
Total utility plant 2,918.4 2,746.1
Less: Accumulated depreciation 1,260.2 1,200.8
Net 1,658.5 1,545.3
Construction in progress 154.5 89.3
Nuclear fuel, less accumulated amortization 246 20.3
Net utility plant 1,837.6 1,654.9
Nonutility plant 19.5 20.3
Less: Accumulated depreciation 5.3 4.9
Net nonutility plant 14.2 15.4
Electric nonregulated 163.0 161.2
Gas nonregulated 6.6 7.0
Other nonregulated 20.1 20.8
Total nonregulated property, plant, and equipment 188.7 189.0
Less: Accumulated depreciation 38.9 30.6
Net nonregulated property, plant, and equipment 150.8 158.4
Total property, plant, and equipment $2,002.6 | $1,828.7
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NOTE 6—ACQUISITIONS AND SALES OF ASSETS

Sale of Peshtigo River Lands

On October 5, 2004, WPSC sold at auction 279 acres of Peshtigo
River development lands for $12.2 million. Under terms of a multi-
phase agreement reached with the WDNR in 2001 related to lands
near the Peshtigo River, the WDNR bought more than 5,000 acres of
land for $13.5 million in 2001. In December 2003, WPSC sold an
additional 542 acres of land to the WDNR for $6.5 million. WPSC
completed the multi-phase agreement with the sale of 179 acres
for $5.0 million to the WDNR .on December 9, 2004. Following the
close of this final phase of the WDNR agreement, WPSC donated
an additional 5,176 acres to the state. The sales are a part of our
asset management strategy.

Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota,
Transmission Line

On April 18, 2003, the PSCW approved WPSC’s request to transfer its
interest in the Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota, transmission
line to ATC in exchange for an ownership interest in the company. ATC
is a for-profit transmission-only company created by the transfer of
transmission assets previously owned by multiple electric utilities
serving the upper Midwest. WPSC sold, at book value, approximately
$20.1 million of assets related to the Wausau to Duluth transmission
line to ATC in June 2003. Nc gain or loss was recognized on the
transaction. In December 2003, WPSC also transferred other
transmission assets to ATC, increasing its investment an additional
$5.9 million. In 2004 and 2003, WPS Resources invested $15.7 million
and $14.0 million, respectively, in ATC, related to its agreement to
fund approximately half of the Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota,
transmission line. At December 31, 2004, WPS Resources’ ownership
interest in ATC was 22.64%. Our investment in ATC is described more
fully in Note 10, “Investments in Affiliates, at Equity Method.”

Advantage Energy Inc.

On July 1, 2004, ESI acquired all of the outstanding stock of
Advantage Energy Inc., a New York based energy-marketing company
founded in 1997. On the date of acquisition, Advantage served
approximately 8,200 residential and commercial customers with a
peak load of approximately 275 megawatts. Consideration for the
purchase consisted of an initial cash payment for the tangible and
intangible net worth of the company and an earn-out with a
maximum cap and a declining percentage to the seller. Payments
under the earn-out will be made on July 1, 2005, 2006, and 2007.

Kewaunee

On November 7, 2003, WPSC and Wisconsin Power and Light
Company entered into an agreement to sell Kewaunee to a subsidiary
of Dominion Resources, Inc. The transaction is subject to approvals
from various regulatory agencies, of which all major approvals have

been obtained, except for approval by the PSCW. The Commission
rejected the sale on November 19, 2004; however, WPSC, Wisconsin
Power and Light Company, and Dominion offered a proposal addressing
the Commission's concerns in December 2004. In January 2005, the
Commission agreed to reconsider its decision on this transaction, and
we anticipate a decision by the Commission in March 2005.

If the Commission approves the proposed transaction, WPSC
estimates that its share of the cash proceeds from the sale will
approximate $130 million, subject to various post-closing adjustments.
The cash proceeds from the sale are expected to slightly exceed the
carrying value of the WPSC assets being sold. In addition to the cash
proceeds, WPSC will retain ownership of the assets contained in its
non-qualified decommissioning trust, one of two funds that were
established to cover the eventual decommissioning of Kewaunee.
The pretax fair value of the non-qualified decommissioning trust’s
assets at December 31, 2004, was $129.4 million. Dominion will
assume responsibility for the eventual decommissioning of Kewaunee
and will receive WPSC's qualified decommissioning trust assets that
had a pretax fair value of $241.9 million at December 31, 2004.
WPSC has requested deferral of the gain expected to result from this
transaction and related costs from the PSCW. Accordingly, WPSC
anticipates most of the gain on the sale of the plant assets and the
related non-qualified decommissioning trust assets will be deferred
and returned to customers under future rate orders.

As of December 31, 2004, WPSC’s share of the carrying value of the
assets and liabilities inctuded within the sale agreement was as follows:

2004
Property, plant, and equipment, net $177.9
Qualified decommissioning trust fund 241.9

Other current assets 5.3

Total assets $425.1
Regulatory liabilities $ (55.9)
Asset retirement obligations 363.9
Total liabilities $308.0

The assets and liabilities disclosed above do not meet the criteria
to be classified as held for sale on the Consclidated Balance Sheets
under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 due to uncertainties inherent
in the regulatory approval process.

Assuming the closing of the sale, WPSC will enter into a long-term
power purchase agreement with Dominion to purchase energy and
capacity virtually equivalent to the amounts that would have been
received had current ownership in Kewaunee continued. The power
purchase agreement, which also will require regulatory approval, will
extend through 2013 when the plant's current operating license will
expire. Fixed monthly payments under the power purchase agreement
will approximate the expected costs of production had WPSC continued
to own the plant. Therefore, management believes that the sale of
Kewaunee and the related power purchase agreement will provide
more price certainty for WPSC's customers and reduce our risk
profile. In April 2004, WPSC entered into an exclusivity agreement
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with Dominion. Under this agreement, if Dominion decides to extend
the operating license of Kewaunee, Dominion agreed to negotiate
only with WPSC for its share of the plant output for a new power
purchase agreement that would extend beyond Kewaunee's current
operating license termination date. This agreement allows for the
same exclusivity rights for Wisconsin Power and Light Company and
its share of output of the plant. The exclusivity period will start on

the closing date of the sale and extend through December 21, 2011.

Guardian Pipeline

On May 30, 2003, WPS Resources purchased a one-third interest
in Guardian Pipeline, LLC from CMS Gas Transmission Company
for approximately $26 million. Guardian Pipeline owns a natural
gas pipeline, which began operating in 2002, that stretches about
140 miles from near Joliet, lllinois, into southern Wisconsin. The
pipeline can transport up to 750 million cubic feet of natural gas
daily. Our interest in Guardian Pipeline is accounted for as an equity
method investment and is described more fully in Note 10,
“Investments in Affiliates, at Equity Method.”

Quest Energy, LLC

Through 2002, WPS Resources provided financial support and energy
supply services to a third party, Quest Energy, LLC, a Michigan limited
liability company that markets electric power to retail customers in
Michigan. Financial support was in the form of wholesale electric sales
extended without generally required credit assurances, an interest-
bearing note including an equity conversion option with an initial
maturity date of May 2005, and trade credit indebtedness, all secured
by the assets of Quest. ESI reported revenues related to wholesale
electric sales to Quest of $1.4 million in 2002. In November 2002,
Quest Energy Holdings, LLC, an independent Michigan limited liability
company and owner of Quest Energy, LLC, appointed ES! as manager
of Quest Energy, LLC. The appointment as manager, as well as other
factors, including the provision of substantial financial support,
resulted in the consolidation of Quest’s financial statements with
those of WPS Resources as of December 31, 2002. WPS Resources
assigned the equity conversion option to ESI on January 29, 2003,
and ESI acquired a 100% ownership interest in Quest. ESI used the
purchase accounting method to account for this acquisition. There
was no cash consideration paid; therefore, the purchase price of
$0.7 million was equivalent to the carrying value of the note receivable
from Quest on December 31, 2002,

De Pere Energy Center

On December 16, 2002, WPSC completed the purchase of the
180-megawatt De Pere Energy Center from Calpine Corporation, a
California-based independent power producer. Prior to this purchase,
the power from the De Pere Energy Center was under long-term
contract to WPSC and was accounted for as a capital lease. This
power purchase agreement required Calpine to expand the facility
in the future. The agreement became uneconomical in the current
market, and the contract was terminated concurrent with the
purchase of the De Pere Energy Center. The $120.4 million purchase
included a $72.0 million payment upon closing and a $48.4 million

payment in December 2003. As a result of the purchase, the capital
lease obligation was reversed and the difference between the capital
lease asset and the $120.4 million purchase price was recorded as

a regulatory asset. Of the $47.8 million regulatory asset initially
recorded, $45.6 million is under the jurisdiction of the PSCW and is
being amortized over a 20-year period beginning on January 1, 2004,
Amortization of the remaining regulatory asset, which is under the
jurisdiction of FERC and the MPSC, began in 2003 and will also
occur over 20 years.

The transaction also includes a power purchase agreement with
Calpine Corporation for capacity and energy from the Fox Energy
Center, which is currently under construction near Kaukauna,
Wisconsin. The agreement calls for WPSC to purchase 150 megawatts
of capacity beginning on June 1, 2005, escalating to 470 megawatts
of capacity on June 1, 2006, until May 31, 2015, when it decreases
to 235 megawatts. On May 31, 2016, the agreement terminates.
Under the agreement, WPSC will also be responsible for fuel supply to
the facility over the life of the agreement. The new power purchase
agreement is contingent on timely plant construction and does

not meet the requirements of a capital lease. At this time, WPSC
believes Calpine will fulfill its contractual commitments, including a
June 1, 2005, project in-service date.

ECO Coal Pelletization #12

As a result of several transactions in 2001, PDI became the sole
member of ECO Coal Pelietization #12 LLC, which contributed 100%
of its synthetic fuel producing machinery to a newly formed entity in
exchange for cash and a one-third ownership interest in the newly
formed entity that produces synthetic fuel from coal qualifying for tax
credits under Section 29 of the Internal Revenue Code.

These transactions generated a pre-tax gain of $40.2 million, of which
$38.0 million had been deferred as of December 31, 2001, as a
result of certain rights of rescission and put options that were granted
to the buyer. The rights of rescission and the put options expired in
2002 and, as a result, PDI recognized all of the $38.0 million deferred
gain in miscellaneous income on the Consolidated Statement of
Income in 2002.

The actua! payments for the purchase of the former partner's interest
in ECO #12 were contingent upon the same provisions referred to
above. As a result, $21.3 million was originally held in escrow and was
released proportionately as the respective rescission rights and put
options expired. At December 31, 2002, this escrow had a balance
of $3.5 million, $2.7 million of which was released in 2003 as the
remaining contingencies, not related to the recognition of the deferred
gain, expired. As a result of negotiations with our former partner, the
remaining $0.8 million was released to PD! and recorded as a gain,
within miscellaneous income, in 2003.

On December 18, 2002, PDI sold an approximate 30% interest in
ECO #12 to a third party. The buyer purchased the Class A interest
in ECO #12, which gives the buyer a preferential allocation of tons of
synthetic fuel produced and sold annually. The buyer may be allocated
additional tons of synthetic fuel if PDI makes them available, but
neither partyis obligated beyond the required annual allocation of
tons. The buyer's share of losses generated from the synthetic fuel
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operation, $3.4 million in 2004, is recorded as minority interest in
the Consolidated Statements of Income.

PDI received consideration of $3.0 million cash, as well as a fixed note
and a variable note for the second sale transaction. Payments under
the variable note are contingent upon the achievement of specified
levels of synthetic fuel production by the facility. In conjunction with the
sale, PDI agreed to make certain payments to a third-party broker,
consisting of an up-front payment of $1.5 million (which was paid at
the time of closing), $1.4 million in 2003, and $1.9 million in 2004,
A deferred gain of $6.9 million and $9.2 million was reflected on PDI's
balance sheet at December 31, 2004, and 2003, respectively. This
deferred gain represents the present value of future payments under
the fixed note and the up-front cash payments net of transaction costs.
it does not include an amount for the variable note, which is contingent
upon the synthetic fuel production. Payments on the variable note are
a function of fuel production and are recognized as a component of the
gain when received. Pre-tax gains of $7.5 million and $7.6 million were
recognized as a component of miscellaneous income in 2004 and
2003, respectively, related to this transaction. Similar gains are
expected to result from this transaction through 2007. There was

no gain recognized in 2002 from the 2002 sale.

Canadian Retail Gas Business

On November 1, 2002, ESI entered into an agreement to purchase
a book of retail natural gas business in the Canadian provinces of
Quebec and Ontario. Consideration for the purchase consisted of an
earn-out to the seller based on a percentage of gross margins on the

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

volume of natural gas delivered to certain customers during a two-
year period ending October 31, 2004. The earn-out was equivalent to
fixed percentages of gross margin realized over this two-year petiod
for customers already under contract and for customers appearing
on the acquired customer list who entered into a contract with

ESI subsequent to the date of purchase. Total consideration paid
amounted to $0.92 million. This transaction was accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting; therefore, the results of operations
are included in the financial statements presented for WPS Resources
only since the acquisition date. There was no goodwill recorded in the
acquisition as the purchase price approximated the fair value of the
acquired assets and liabilities. The business is part of the operations of
WPS Energy Services of Canada Corp., a subsidiary of ESI, which was
created in October 2002.

WPS Empire State, Inc.

Effective June 1, 2002, PDI acquired a business, now called

WPS Empire State, which owns three power plants and associated
assets in upstate New York with @ combined nameplate capacity
of 259 megawatts. PDI used the purchase method of accounting to
account for the acquisition. The operations of WPS Empire State are
included in the financial statements presented for WPS Resources
for all periods beginning June 1, 2002, but do not have a material
impact. The purchase price, including acquisition costs, was
$61.1 million. There was no goodwill recorded in this acguisition,
as the purchase price approximated the fair value of the acquired
assets and liabilities.

NOTE 7—JOINTLY OWNED UTILITY FACILITIES

Information regarding WPSC’s share of major jointly owned
electric-generating facilities in service at December 31, 2004,
is set forth below:

WPSC's share of direct expenses for these plants is included
in the corresponding operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. WPSC has supplied its own financing
for all jointly owned projects.

West Marinette Columbia Edgewater
0 except for pe g Unit No. 33 Energy Center Unit No. 4 Kewaunee
Ownership 68.0% 31.8% 31.8% 59.0%
WPSC's share of plant nameplate capacity {megawatts) 56.8 335.2 105.0 358.7
Utility plant in service $18.0 $132.2 $30.4 $270.1 @
Accumulated depreciation $ 79 $ 85.0 $17.7 $189.5 0
In-service date 1993 1975 and 1978 1969 1874

@ Excludes asset retirement obligation asset and related accumulated depreciation.

NOTE 8—NUCLEAR PLANT OPERATION

On November 7, 2003, WPSC and Wisconsin Power and Light

and Light Company, and Dominion Resources, Inc. offered a proposal

Company entered into an agreement to sell Kewaunee to a subsidiary
of Dominion Resources, Inc. The transaction is subject to approvals
from various regulatory agencies, of which all major approvals have
been obtained, except for approval by the PSCW, The PSCW rejected
the sale on November 19, 2004. However, WPSC, Wisconsin Power

addressing the PSCW's concerns in December 2004. In January 2005,
the PSCW agreed to reconsider its decision on this transaction,
and we expect a decision to be rendered in March 2005. See
Note 6, “Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,” for more information
on the transaction.




The quantity of heat produced for the generation of electric energy by
Kewaunee is the basis for the amortization of the costs of nuclear
fuel, including an amount for ultimate disposal. These costs are
recovered currently from customers in rates. The ultimate storage of
fuel is the responsibility of the United States Department of Energy
pursuant to a contract required by the Nuclear Waste Act of 1982.
The Department of Energy receives quarterly payments for the storage
of fuel based on generation. Payments from WPSC to the Department
of Energy totaled $2.6 million, $2.3 million, and $2.0 million, during
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

On an interim basis, spent nuclear fuel storage space is provided
at Kewaunee. Expenses associated with interim spent fuel storage
at Kewaunee are recognized as current operating costs. At current
production levels, the plant has sufficient storage for all fuel
assemblies until 2009 with full core offload. Additional capacity
will be needed by 2010 to maintain full core offioad capability for
fuel assemblies in use at the end of its current license in 2013.

The accumulated provision for nuclear fuel, which represents
nuclear fuel purchases and amortization, totaled $273.0 million at
December 31, 2004, and $265.1 million at December 31, 2003.

For information on the depreciation policy for Kewaunee, see Note 1(h),
“Property, Plant, and Equipment.”

WPSC's share of nuclear decommissioning costs to date has been
accrued over the estimated service life of Kewaunee, recovered
currently from customers in rates, and deposited in external trusts.
Such costs totaled $0.3 million in 2004, $3.0 million in 2003, and
$2.6 million in 2002. In developing our decommissioning funding plan,
we assumed a long-term aftertax earnings rate of approximately 5%.

As of December 31, 2004, the market value of the external nuclear
decommissioning trusts totaled $344.5 million, net of tax.

As part of the anticipated sale of Kewaunee, WPSC will transfer its
qualified nuclear decommissioning trust assets to Dominion. WPSC
will retain the nonqualified trust assets, which totaled $129.4 million
pretax ($102.5 million net of tax) at December 31, 2004. The funds
collected from customers for the decommissioning obligation related
to the nonqualified trust are expected to be refunded to customers in
accordance with yetto-be-determined regulatory guidelines. Also in
conjunction with the anticipated sale, the PSCW suspended funding
into the retail jurisdiction of WPSC's decommissioning trusts for 2004,
For the wholesale jurisdiction, funding during 2004 was $0.3 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, WPSC changed its investment
strategy for its qualified trust and placed the assets in short-term
investments. This was done to reduce volatility in the value of the
trust for the anticipated transfer to Dominion at the time of closing
of the Kewaunee sale. A condition of the sale specifies a minimum
amount of qualified trust assets to be transferred. This liguidation
and reinvestment resulted in a sizable increase in realized earnings
for 2003 and a corresponding increase in depreciation expense. It
also resulted in a sizable decrease in the percent of investments
held in equity securities compared to prior years.

Investments in the nuclear decommissioning trusts are recorded at
fair value. Investments at December 31, 2004, consisted of 71% cash
and cash equivalents and 29% equity securities. The investments are
presented net of related income tax effects on unrealized gains,
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and represent the amount of assets available to accomplish
decommissioning. The nonqualified trust investments designated
to pay income taxes when unrealized gains become realized are
classified as other assets. At December 31, 2004, the amount
classified as other assets was $26.8 million. An offsetting regulatory
liability reflects the expected reduction in future rates as unrealized
gains in the nonqualified trust are realized. Information regarding the
cost and fair value of the external nuclear decommissioning trusts,
net of tax is set forth below:

2004 Security Type Fair Unrealized
(Millions) Value Cost Gain

Cash and cash equivalents $243.9 $243.9 $ -
Equity 100.6 60.6 40.0
Balance at December 31 $344.5 $304.5 $40.0

2003 Security Type Fair Unrealized
(Millions) Value Cost Gain

Fixed income $239.7 $239.6 $ 0.1
Equity 92.6 59.1 33.5
Balance at December 31 $332.3 $298.7 $33.6

Future decommissioning costs collected in customer rates and a
charge for realized earnings from external trusts are included in
depreciation expense. Realized trust earnings totaled $5.5 million
in 2004, $38.7 million in 2003, and $1.7 million in 2002. In 2002,
unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, in the external trusts
were reflected as changes to the decommissioning reserve, since
decommissioning expense is recognized as the gains and losses
are realized, in accordance with regulatory requirements.

If the sale is not consummated, WPSC's share of Kewaunee
decommissioning, based on its 59% ownership interest, is
estimated to be $350 million in current (2004) dollars based

on a site-specific study. The study was performed in 2002 by

an external consultant and is used as the basis for calculating
regulatory funding requirements. The study uses several assumptions,
including immediate dismantlement as the method of decommissioning
and plant shutdown in 2013. Based on the standard cost escalation
assumptions refiected in our current funding plan, which were
determined based on the requirements of a July 1994 PSCW order,
the undiscounted amount of WPSC’s share of decommissioning
costs forecasted to be expended between the years 2013 and
2037 is $929 million if the sale is not consummated. See Note 6,
“Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,” for further discussion of the
pending sale of Kewaunee.

Beginning January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 143. This
statement applies to all entities with legal obligations associated
with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset that results from
the acquisition, construction, or development and/or normal operation
of that asset. We have identified the final decommissioning of
Kewaunee as an asset retirement obligation and have recorded an
asset retirement obligation of $363.9 million at December 31, 2004.
This amount is based on several significant assumptions, including
the scope of decommissioning work performed, the timing of future
cash flows, and inflation and discount rates. Some of these
assumptions differ significantly from the assumptions authorized

by the PSCW to calculate the nuclear decommissioning liability for
funding purposes. For more information on SFAS No. 143 and its
impact on Kewaunee refer to Note 15, “Asset Retirement Obligations.”

[
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NOTE 9—REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following regulatory assets and liabilities are reflected in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31:

WPS Resources’ Regulatory Assets/Liabilities (Millions) 2004 2003

Regulatory assets

Environmental remediation costs (net of insurance recoveries) $72.7 $41.0
De Pere Energy Center 45.3 47.7
Deferred nuclear costs 10.9 4.9
Plant related costs 8.5 2.6
Minimum pension liability 6.4 15.2
Reserve for uncollectible accounts 5.5 4.4
Unamortized loss on debt 2.4 1.4
Automated meter reading costs 1.8 4.5
Funding for enrichment facilities 1.8 2.4
Other 7.6 3.6
Total $160.9 $127.7
Regulatory liabilities

Cost of removal reserve $186.2 $180.0
Asset retirement obligations 46.6 66.9
Unrealized gain on decommissioning trust 26.8 225
Income tax related items 11.2 11.8
Derivatives 11.0 8.4
Deferred gain on emission aliowance sales 3.7 5.1
Deferred ATC costs 1.6 3.4
Demand-side management expenditures 1.1 5.3
Interest from tax refunds - 0.7
Other 0.1 0.3
Total $288.3 $304.4

Our utility subsidiaries expect to recover their regulatory assets and
return their regulatory liabilities through rates charged to customers
based on specific ratemaking decisions or precedent for each item
over periods specified by the regulators or over the normal operating
period of the assets and liabilities to which they relate. Except for
amounts expended for manufactured gas plant remediation, WPSC is
recovering carrying costs for all regulatory assets. UPPCO may recover
carrying costs on environmental regulatory assets. Based on prior and
current rate treatment for such costs, we believe it is probable that

WPSC and UPPCO will continue to recover from customers the
regulatory assets described above.

See Note 6, “Acquisitions and Sales of Assets;” Note 15, “Asset
Retirement Obligations;” Note 16, “Income Taxes;” and Note 18,
“Employee Benefit Plans,” for specific information on regulatory
deferrals related to the De Pere Energy Center, asset retirement
obligations and cost of removal, income taxes, and pensions. See
Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies,” for information on
environmental remediation deferred costs.

NOTE 10—INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES, AT EQUITY METHOD

Investments in corporate joint ventures and other companies
accounted for under the equity method at December 31, 2004,
and 2003 follow.

ATC, LLC $113.4 $ 79.9
Guardian Pipeline, LLC 29.0 27.4
Wisconsin River Power Company 12.8 12.8

Other 6.8 4.9
Investments in affiliates, at equity method $162.0 $125.0

Investments in affiliates under the equity method are a component
of other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the equity
income is recorded in miscellaneous income on the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Most of the equity income is taxable to the
investor, rather than the investees, due to the nontaxable nature of

several of the investees’ business structures. Accordingly, the
provision for income taxes includes our taxes on this equity income.

WPS Investments, LLC, a consolidated subsidiary of WPS Resources,
had a 22.64% ownership interest in ATC at December 31, 2004, ATC
is a for-profit, transmission-only company. It owns, maintains, monitors,
and operates, electric transmission assets in portions of Wisconsin,
Michigan, and lllinois. Its assets previously were owned and operated
by multiple electric utilities serving the upper Midwest, all of which
transferred their transmission assets to ATC in exchange for an
ownership interest. A Wisconsin law encouraged utilities in the state
to transfer ownership and control of their transmission assets to a
state-wide transmission company. The Midwest Independent System
Operator directs ATC’s operation of the transmission system.




During 2003, WPSC made additional contributions and sold the
Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota, transmission line to ATC.
See Note 6, “Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,” for more information
on these transactions.

WPSC and UPPCO record related-party transactions for services
provided to and network transmission services received from ATC.
Charges 1o ATC for services provided by WPSC were $9.3 million,
$14.4 million, and $12.9 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002,
respectively. UPPCO charged $6.7 miltion, $4.8 million, and
$4.5 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively for services
provided. Network transmission service costs paid to ATC by WPSC
were $42.6 million, $33.6 million, and $31.0 million in 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively. UPPCO recorded network transmission
service costs of $4.0 million, $4.2 million, and $4.9 million in
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

WPS Resources recorded dividends received of $11.7 million and
$7.5 million from ATC in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Condensed financial data of ATC follows.

0 2004 2003 2002

Income statement data
Revenues $ 262.8 $225.6 $205.3
Operating expenses (157.7) (139.5) (131.1)
Other income (expense) (26.9) (23.4) (20.1)
Net income $ 782 | s 62.7 $ 54.1
WPS Investment’s equity in

net income $ 160 | % 10.1 $ 7.9

Balance sheet data

Current assets $ 301 | $ 331 $ 40.7
Non-current assets 1,156.5 927.3 754.3
Total assets $1,186.6 $960.4 $795.0
Current liabilities $ 1944 | $ 66.6 $ 46.9
Long-term debt 448.5 448.2 348.0

Other non-current liabilities 6.7 12.¢2 6.6

Shareholders' equity 537.0 432.7 393.5
Total liabilities and
shareholders’ equity $1,186.6 | $960.4 $795.0

WPSC owns 50% of the voting stock of Wisconsin River Power
Company, which operates two hydroelectric plants on the Wisconsin
River and an oil-fired combustion turbine. Two-thirds of the energy
output of the hydroelectric plants is sold to WPSC, and the remaining
one-third is sold to Wisconsin Power and Light Company. The electric
power from the combustion turbine is sold in equal parts to WPSC
and Wisconsin Power and Light Company.

WPSC records related party transactions for sales to and purchases
from Wisconsin River Power. Revenues from services provided to
Wisconsin River Power were $1.1 million, $1.4 million, and $1.5 million
for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Purchases from Wisconsin
River Power by WPSC were $3.2 million, $2.3 million, and $2.1 million
for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

WPSC recorded dividends received of $6.0 million and $1.5 million
from Wisconsin River Power in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

TO BELIEVE IN

Condensed financial data of Wisconsin River Power follows.

0 2004 2003 2002

Income statement data

Revenues $ 75 $ 6.7 $ 6.4
Operating expenses (5.5) (5.0) (4.9)
Other income (expense) 10.4 7.7 4.2
Net income $12.4 $ 9.4 $ 5.7
WPSC’s equity in net income $ 6.2 $ 47 $ 2.7
Balance sheet data

Current assets $ 9.0 $ 83 $ 3.6

Non-current assets 20.1 19.9 20.1

Total assets $29.1 $28.2 $23.7
Current liabilities $ 1.0 $ 11 $ 35
Other non-current liabilities 2.5 1.7 1.0
Shareholders’ equity 25.6 25.4 19.2
Total liabilities and

shareholders’ equity $29.1 $28.2 $23.7

WPS Investments, LLC, a consolidated subsidiary of WPS Resources,
purchased a 33% ownership interest in Guardian Pipeline, LLC on
May 30, 2003. Guardian Pipeline owns a natural gas pipeline, which
began operating in 2002, that stretches about 140 miles from near
Joliet, lllinois, into southern Wisconsin. It can transport up to
750 million cubic feet of natural gas daily.

ESI records related party transactions for purchases from Guardian
Pipeline. These purchases amounted to $0.4 million and $0.1 million
for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Condensed financial data of Guardian Pipeline, LLC as of December 31
and for the year ended December 31, 2004, and the period from
May 30, 2003, to December 31, 2003, follows.

Income statement data

Revenues $ 35.2 $ 20.6
Operating expenses (16.8) (3.1)
Other income (expense) (13.4) (13.8)
Net income $ 50 $ 3.7
WPS Investment's equity in net income $ 1.7 $ 1.2
Baiance sheet data

Current assets $ 5.0 $ 74
Non-current assets 268.4 272.3
Total assets $273.4 $279.7
Current liabilities $ 18.1 $ 21.6
Longterm debt 157.8 165.6
Shareholder's equity 97.5 92.5
Tota! liabilities and shareholders’ equity $273.4 $279.7

Other investments accounted for under the equity method
include WPS Nuclear Corporation’s (a consolidated subsidiary

of WPS Resources) investment in Nuclear Management Company
and other minor investments. The Nuclear Management Company
is owned by affiliates of five utilities in the upper Midwest and
operates the six nuclear power plants of these utilities. At
December 31, 2004, WPS Nuclear Corporation's ownership in
Nuclear Management Company was 20%. WPSC recorded related
party transactions for services provided by Nuclear Management
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Company for the management and operation of Kewaunee. by WPSC were $26.7 million, $25.6 million, and $24.7 million in
Management service fees paid to Nuclear Management Company 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Goodwill recorded by WPS Resources was $36.8 million at Fuel and Light merger allowed by the PSCW in its March 2003 rate
December 31, 2004, and 2003. Of this amount, $36.4 million is order. The remaining $0.4 million of goodwill relates to PDI.

recorded in WPSC's natural gas segment refating to its merger with
Wisconsin Fuel and Light. in 2003, WPSC transferred $0.9 million from
a regulatory acquisition premium (previously classified as property,
plant, and equipment) to goodwill. The increase in goodwill reflected an
adjustment to the amount of recoverable goodwill from the Wisconsin

Goodwill and purchased intangible assets are included in other
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Emission credits are
recorded at the lower of cost or market. Information in the tables
below relates to total purchased identifiable intangible assets for
the years indicated (excluding assets held for sale).

(Millions) December 31, 2004

Gross
Average Carrying Accumulated
Asset Class Life (Years) Amount Amartization Net
Emission credits 110 30 $ 6.9 $(0.9) $ 6.0
Customer related 1t08 11.2 (4.6) 6.6
Other 1 t0 30 4.2 (1.6) 2.6
Total $22.3 $(7.1) $15.2
Gross
Average Carrying Accumulated
Asset Class Life (Years) Amount Amortization Net
Emission credits 110 30 $ 7.4 $(1.1) $6.3
Customer related 1to5 3.7 (3.0) 0.7
Other 1to 30 3.3 (0.6) 2.7
Total $14.4 $(4.7) $9.7
A customer related intangible asset in the amount of $7.3 million Estimated Amortization Expense:
was recorded in conjunction with the July 1, 2004, acquisition of . .
Advantage Energy. This intangible asset will be amortized over a For year end!ng December 31, 2005 $2.7 m!II!on
period of eight years. : For year ending December 31, 2006 2.2 million
For year ending December 31, 2007 2.1 million
Intangible asset amortization expense, in the aggregate, for the For year ending December 31, 2008 1.9 million
years ended December 31, 2004, and 2003 was $2.4 million and For year ending December 31, 2009 1.6 million

$1.7 million, respectively.

NOTE 12—LEASES

WPS Resources leases various property, plant, and equipment. Terms of X . :
) Year Ending December 31 (Millions)
the leases vary, but generally require WPS Resources to pay property .
taxes, insurance premiums, and maintenance costs associated with 2005 $ 4.2

the leased property. Renta! expense attributable to operating leases 2006 2.3
was $5.7 million, $5.2 million, and $5.1 million in 2004, 2003, and ;88; gg
2002, respectively. Future minimum rental obligations under non- 2009 1:6
cancelable operating leases are payable as follows: Later years 5.9

Total payments $18.2

NOTE 13—SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LINES OF CREDIT

WPS Resources has a syndicated $225 million 364-day revolving facility, to provide shortterm borrowing flexibility and security for
credit facility and a $175 million 364-day bi-lateral loan agreement. commercial paper outstanding.
WPSC has syndicated a $115 million 364-day revolving credit

_ .
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The information in the following table relates to short-term debt and lines of credit for the years indicated.

(Millions, except for percentages) 2004 2003 2002
As of end of year
Commercial paper outstanding $279.7 $ 28.0 $ 16.0
Average discount rate on outstanding commercial paper 2.46% 1.15% 1.35%
Short-term notes payable outstanding $ 127 $ 10.0 $ 13.8
Average interest rate on short-term notes payable 2.52% 1.12% 1.22%
Avaitable (unused) lines of credit $161.9 $288.9 $264.5
For the year
Maximum amount of shortterm debt $312.5 $194.2 $133.4
Average amount of short-term debt $ 75.3 $104.3 $59.7
Average interest rate on short-term debt 1.82% 1.38% 1.73%
The commercial paper has varying maturity dates ranging from January 4, 2005, through January 25, 2005.
NOTE 14—LONG-TERM DEBT
At December 31 (Millions) 2004 2003
First mortgage bonds - WPSC
Series Year Due
6.90% 2013 $22.0 $22.0
7.125% 2023 0.1 50.0
Senior notes - WPSC
Series Year Due
6.125% 2011 150.0 150.0
4.875% 2012 150.0 150.0
4.80% 2013 125.0 125.0
6.08% 2028 50.0 50.0
First mortgage bonds - UPPCO
Series Year Due
10.0% 2008 - 0.8
9.32% 2021 15.3 16.2
Unsecured senior notes - WPS Resources
Series Year Due
7.00% 2009 150.0 150.0
5.375% 2012 100.0 100.0
Term loans - nonrecourse, collateralized by nonregulated assets 82.3 87.2
Tax exempt bonds 27.0 27.0
Senior secured note 2.7 2.9
Total 874.4 931.2
Unamortized discount and premium on bonds and debt (2.0) (2.7)
Total long-term debt 872.4 928.5
Less current portion (6.7) (56.6)
Total long-term debt $865.7 $871.9

On January 19, 2004, WPSC retired $49.9 million of its 7.125% series
first mortgage bonds. These bonds had an original maturity date of
July 1, 2023.

All of WPSC’s debt securities are subject to the terms and
conditions of the First Mortgage of WPSC. Under the terms of the
mortgage, substantially all property owned by WPSC is pledged as
collateral for these outstanding debt securities. All these debt
securities require semiannual payments of interest. All principal
payments are due on the maturity date of each series. All WPSC
senior notes become non-collateralized if WPSC retires all of its
outstanding first mortgage bonds.

Under the terms of the First Mortgage of UPPCO, substantially all
property owned by UPPCO is pledged as collateral for this outstanding
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debt series. Interest payments are due semiannually on May 1 and
November 1 with a sinking fund payment of $900,000 due each
November 1. The final sinking fund payment due November 1, 2021,
will completely retire the series.

Borrowings by PDI under term loans and collateralized by nonregulated
assets totaled $82.3 million at December 31, 2004. The assets of
WPS New England Generation, Inc. and WPS Canada Generation, Inc.,
subsidiaries of PDI, collateralize $5.4 million and $13.2 million,
respectively, of the total outstanding amount. Both have semiannual
installment payments, an interest rate of 8.75%, and mature in May
201.0. Sunbury Generation, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of PDI, is the
borrower of the remaining $63.7 million that is collateralized by its
plant. Quarterly payments are made in relation to this financing, which,
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as the result of an interest rate swap, carries an effective interest
rate of 8.1% for the year ended December 31, 2004, and matures
in March 2018. This loan also has renewals in 2006 and 2012.
However, if certain debt covenants are not met, the lender is not
required to renew the loans.

In April 2001, the Schuylkill County Industrial Development Authority
issued $27.0 million of refunding tax-exempt bonds. At the time of
issuance of the refunding bonds, WPS Westwood Generation, LLC, a
subsidiary of PDI, owned the original bonds, the proceeds of which
were used in substantial part to provide facilities. Upon issuance of
the refunding bonds, the original bonds were paid off. WPS Westwood
Generation was paid $27.0 million from the proceeds of the refunding
bonds for the retirement of the original bonds plus accrued interest.
WPS Westwood Generation is now obligated to pay the refunding
bonds with monthly payments that have a floating interest rate that is
reset weekly. At December 31, 2004, the interest rate was 1.8%.

The bonds mature in April 2021. WPS Resources agreed to guarantee
WPS Westwood Generation’s obligation to provide sufficient funds to
pay the refunding bonds and the related obligations and indemnities.

NA-NC IAL STATEMENTS
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Upper Peninsula Building Development Corporation has a senior
secured note of $2.7 million as of December 31, 2004, which
requires semiannual payments at an interest rate of 9.25%, and
matures in 2011. The note is secured by a first mortgage lien on the
building they own, which is also leased to UPPCO for use as their
corporate headqguarters.

At December 31, 2004, WPS Resources and its subsidiaries were in
compliance with all covenants relating to outstanding debt. A schedule
of all principal debt payment amounts, including bond maturities and
early retirements, for WPS Resources is as follows:

Year Ending December 31 (Millions)

2005 $ 6.7
2006 7.7
2007 8.3
2008 9.4
2009 159.9
Later years 682.4
Total payments $874.4

NOTE 15—ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Legal retirement obligations, as defined by the provisions of SFAS

No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” identified at
WPSC relate primarily to the final decommissioning of Kewaunee.
WPSC has a legal obligation to decommission the irradiated portions
of Kewaunee in accordance with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s
minimum decommissioning requirements. The liability, calculated under
the provisions of SFAS No. 143, is based on several assumptions,
including the scope of decommissioning work to be performed, the
timing of the future cash flows, and inflation and discount rates.

Some of these assumptions differ significantly from the assumptions
authorized by the PSCW to calculate the nuclear decommissioning
liability for funding purposes. In accordance with SFAS No. 71,
“Accounting for the Effects of 'Certain Types of Regulation,” WPSC
established a regulatory liability to record the differences between
ongoing expense regulation under SFAS No. 143 and the ratemaking
practices for retirement costs authorized by the PSCW. As of
December 31, 2004, the net of tax market value of external nuclear
decommissioning trusts established for future retirement costs,
authorized by the PSCW, was approximately $344.5 million. See Note 6,
“Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,” for information on the pending sale
of Kewaunee,

We also identified other legal retirement obligations related to utility
plant assets that are not significant to the financial statements.
Upon implementation of SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003, we
recorded a net asset retirement cost of $30.8 million and an asset
retirement cbligation of $324.8 million. The difference between
previously recorded liabilities of $290.5 million and the cumulative
effect of adopting SFAS No. 143 was deferred to a regulatory liability
pursuant to SFAS No. 71.

PDI has identified a legal retirement obligation related to the closure
of an ash basin located at Sunbury. The adoption of SFAS No, 143
at PDI resulted in a $0.3 million negative aftertax cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2003 related
{o recording a liability for the closure of this ash basin. The asset
retirement obligation associated with Sunbury is recorded as a liability
held for sale on the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 4,
“Assets Held for Sale.”

The following table describes all changes to the asset retirement
obligation liabilities of WPS Resources.

(Millions) WPSC PD! Total

Asset retirement
obligations at
December 31, 2002

Liability recognized in
transition 324.8 2.0 326.8

Accretion expense 19.2 0.1 19.3

Asset retirement
obligations at
December 31, 2003 344.0 2.1 346.1

Accretion expense 20.4 0.1 20.5

Asset retirement obligation
at December 31, 2004

$364.4 $2.2 $366.6

Pro forma income available for common shareholders and
earnings per share have not been presented for the periods ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 because the pro forma
application of SFAS No. 143 to prior periods does not materially
differ from the actual amounts reported for those periods in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.




NOTE 16—INCOME TAXES

The principal components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax credit carry forwards $ 740 $ 52.0
Plant related 538.0 55.8
Employee benefits 31.5 28.7
Deferred income and deductions 17.5 21.1
Other comprehensive income 16.4 13.4
State capital and operating loss carry forwards 11.3 10.9
Risk management activities 10.3 6.9
Regulatory deferrats 1.8 3.4
Other 7.5 (1.2)
Total deferred tax assets 229.3 191.0
Valuation allowance (1.5) (3.0)
Net deferred tax assets $227.8 $188.0
Deferred tax labilities:

Plant related $243.3 $233.3
Risk management activities 18.3 -

Regulatory deferrals 13.2 8.7
Employee benefits 11.0 16.1
Other comprehensive income 58 3.4
Deferred income and deductions 3.5 3.3
Other 12.8 3.7
Total deferred tax liabilities $307.9 $268.5
Consolidated Balance Sheet Presentation:

Current deferred tax liabilities $ 14.6 $ 1.7
Long-term deferred tax liabilities 65.5 78.8
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 80.1 $80.5

Deferred tax credit carryforwards include $71.1 million of alternative

established for certain state operating and capital loss carryforwards

minimum tax credits related to tax credits available under Section 29
of the Internal Revenue Code. These alternative minimum tax credit
carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely. Carry forward periods
for state capital and operating loss carryforwards vary, but in the
majority of states in which we do business, the period is 15 years or
more. The balance of the carryforward of state net operating losses is
$220.0 million for all states. Valuation allowances have been

due to the uncertainty of the ability to realize the benefit of these
losses in the future. The implementation of new tax strategies
allowed WPS Resources to reduce its valuation allowance in 2004,

The following table presents a reconciliation of federal income taxes
(which are calculated by multiplying the statutory federal income tax
rate by book income before federal income tax) to the provision for
income taxes reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

2004 2003 2002

(Millions, except for percentages) Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount
Statutory federal income tax 35.0% $65.2 35.0% $50.5 35.0% $51.5
State income taxes, net 3.4 6.4 59 8.5 5.3 7.8
Plant related 0.1 0.1 (0.8) (1.1) (1.6) (2.4)
Benefits and compensation (2.0) (3.7) (1.6) (2.3) (1.4) (2.1)
Investment tax credit (0.8) (1.5) (1.2) (1.7) (1.2) (1.7)
Federa! tax credits (17.6) (32.8) (13.1) (18.9) (16.4) (24.1)
Other differences, net (2.0) (3.7) (0.8) (1.3) (0.2) (0.3)
Effective income tax 16.1% $30.0 23.4% $33.7 19.5% $28.7
Current prevision

Federal $20.1 $18.3 $17.3
State 11.6 14.0 11.1
Foreign 0.4 1.8 (0.4)
Total current provision 32.1 34.1 28.0
Deferred provision (benefit) 1.1 28 3.2
Recognition of net operating loss carryforward (1.7) (1.5) (0.8)
Recognition of deferred investment tax credit (1.5) (1.7) (1.7)
Total income tax expense $30.0 $33.7 $28.7

- -
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Foreign income (loss) before taxes was $8.3 million in 2004,
$4.3 million in 2003, and $(1.2) million in 2002.

As the related temporary differences reverse, WPSC and UPPCO are
prospectively refunding taxes to customers for which deferred taxes

b

were recorded in prior years at rates different than current rates. The
regulatory liability for these refunds and other regulatory tax effects
totaled $11.2 million as of December 31, 2004, and $11.8 million
as of December 31, 2003.

NOTE 17—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commodity and Purchase Order Commitments

WPS Resources routinely enters into long-term purchase and sale
commitments that have various quantity requirements and durations.
The commitments described below are as of December 31, 2004.

ESI has unconditional purchase obligations related to energy supply
contracts that total $2.4 billion. Substantially all of these obligations
end by 2009, with obligations totaling $2.6 million extending from
2010 through 2012. The majority of the energy supply contracts are
to meet ESl's offsetting obligations to deliver energy to its customers.

WPSC has obligations related to nuclear fuel, coal, purchased power,
and natural gas. Nuclear fuel contracts total $38.2 million and extend
through 2014. Assuming Kewaunee is sold as discussed in Note 6,
“Acquisitions and Sales of Assets,” these nuclear fuel contracts
would be assigned to Dominion. Obligations related to coal supply
and transportation extend through 2016 and total $386.2 million.
Through 2016, WPSC has obligations totaling $600.6 million for
either capacity or energy related to purchased power. Also, there are
natural gas supply and transportation contracts with tota! estimated
demand payments of $123.7 million through 2010. WPSC expects to
recover these costs in future customer rates. Additionally, WPSC has
contracts to sell electricity and natural gas to customers.

PDI has entered into purchase contracts totaling $12.6 million.

The majority of these contracts relate to coal purchases for Sunbury
and expire in 2005, See Note 4, “Assets Held for Sale,” for more
information on Sunbury.

UPPCO has made commitments for the purchase of commodities,
mainly capacity or energy related to purchased power, which total
$5.2 million and extend through 2006.

WPS Resources also has commitments in the form of purchase orders
issued to various vendors. At December 31, 2004, these purchase
orders totaled $499.6 million and $493.8 million for WPS Resources
and WPSC, respectively. The majority of these commitments relate to
large construction projects, including construction of the 500-megawatt
Weston 4 coalfired generation facility near Wausau, Wisconsin.

Nuclear Plant Operation

The Price Anderson Act ensures that funds will be available to pay
for public liability claims arising out of a nuclear incident. This Act
may require WPSC to pay up to a maximum of $59.4 million per
incident. The payments will not exceed $5.9 million per incident
in a given calendar year. These amounts relate to WPSC's 59%
ownership in Kewaunee.

Clean Air Regulations

The generation facilities of PDI are located in an ozone transport
region. As a result, these generation facilities are subject to additional
restrictions on emissions of nitrogen oxide. During 2004, no additional
nitrogen oxide emission allowances were purchased and no additional
allowance purchases are anticipated for 2005. PDI began 2004 with
some sulfur dioxide emission allowances for its generation facilities
that are required to participate in the sulfur dioxide emission program.
During 2004, additional sulfur dioxide allowances of 15,000 were
purchased at market rates. PDI estimates purchasing approximately
10,000 sulfur dioxide allowances in total, at market rates, to meet its
2005 requirements for its generation facilities.

United States Environmental Protection Agency
Section 114 Request

In November 1999, the United States Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) announced the commencement of a Clean Air Act enforcement
initiative targeting the utility industry. This initiative resulted in the
issuance of several notices of violation/findings of violation and the
filing of lawsuits against utilities. In these enforcement proceedings,
the EPA claims that the utilities made modifications to the coal-fired
boilers and related equipment at the utilities’ electric generating
stations without first obtaining appropriate permits under the EPA's
pre-construction permit program and without installing appropriate air
pollution control equipment. In addition, the EPA is claiming, in certain
situations, that there were violations of the Clean Air Act’s “new source
performance standards.” In the matters where actions have been
commenced, the federal government is seeking penalties and the
installation of pollution control equipment.

In December 2000, WPSC received from the EPA a request for
information under Section 114 of the Clean Air Act. The EPA sought
information and documents relating to work performed on the coakfired
boilers located at WPSC's Pulliam and Weston electric generating
stations. WPSC filed a response with the EPA in early 2001.

On May 22, 2002, WPSC received a follow-up request from the EPA
seeking additional information regarding specific boilerrelated work
performed on Pulliam Units 3, 5, and 7, as well as information on
WPSC’s life extension program for Pulliam Units 3-8 and Weston
Units 1 and 2. WPSC made an initial response to the EPA’'s follow-up
information request on June 12, 2002, and filed a final response on
June 27, 2002.

In 2000 and 2002, Wisconsin Power and Light Company received a
similar series of EPA information requests relating to work performed
on certain coal-fired boilers and related eguipment at the Columbia

L WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION




generating station (a facility located in Portage, Wisconsin, jointly
owned by Wisconsin Power and Light Company, Madison Gas and
Electric Company, and WPSC). Wisconsin Power and Light Company
is the operator of the plant and is responsible for responding to
governmental inquiries relating to the operation of the facility.
Wisconsin Power and Light Company filed its most recent response
for the Columbia facility on July 12, 2002.

Depending upon the results of the EPA’s review of the information,
the EPA may issue “notices of violation” or “findings of violation”
asserting that a violation of the Clean Air Act occurred and/or seek
additional information from WPSC and/or third parties who have
information relating to the boilers or close out the investigation. To
date, the EPA has not responded to the filings made by WPSC and
Wisconsin Power and Light Company. In addition, under the federal
Clean Air Act, citizen groups may pursue a claim. WPSC has received
no notice of a claim from a citizen suit.

In response to the EPA Clean Air Act enforcement initiative, several
utilities have elected to settle with the EPA, while others are in
litigation. In general, those utilities that have settled have entered
into consent decrees which require the companies to pay fines and
penalties, undertake supplemental environmental projects, and either
upgrade or replace pollution controls at existing generating units or
shut down existing units and replace these units with new electric
generating facilities. Several of the settlements involve multiple
facilities. The fines and penalties (including the capital costs

of supplemental environmental projects) associated with these
settlements range between $7 million and $30 million. Factors
typically considered in settlements include, but are not necessarily
limited to, the size and number of facilities as well as the duration
of alleged violations and the presence or absence of aggravating
circumstances. The regulatory interpretations upon which the
lawsuits or settlements are based may change based on future
court decisions that may be rendered in pending litigations.

If the federal government decided to bring a claim against WPSC and if
it were determined by a court that historic projects at WPSC’s Pulliam
and Weston plants required either a state or federal Clean Air Act
permit, WPSC may, under the applicable statutes, be required to:

shut down any unit found to be operating in noncompliance,
install additional pollution control equipment,

pay a fine, and/or

pay a fine and conduct a supplemental environmental project in
order to resolve any such claim.

oooo

At the end of December 2002 and October 2003, the EPA issued new
rules governing the federal new source review program. These rules
are currently being challenged in the District of Columbia Circuit Court
of Appeals, and a final decision is not anticipated before April of 2005.
The rules are not yet effective in Wisconsin. They are also not
retroactive. Wisconsin has proposed amending its new source review
program to substantially conform to the federal regulations. The
Wisconsin rules are not anticipated to be finalized before 20086, after
the District of Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals’ decision is rendered.

Mercury and Interstate Quality Rules

On October 1, 2004, the mercury emission control rule became
effective in Wisconsin. The rule requires WPSC to control annual
system mercury emissions in phases. The first phase will occur in
2008 and 2009. In this phase, the annual mercury emissions are
capped at the average annual system mercury emissions for the
period 2002 through 2004. The next phase will run from 2010 through
2014 and requires a 40% reduction from average annual 2002
through 2004 mercury input amounts. After 2015, a 75% reduction

is required with a goal of an 80% reduction by 2018. If federal
regulations are promulgated, we believe the state of Wisconsin will
revise the Wisconsin rule to be consistent with the federal rule. WPSC
estimates capital costs of approximately $101 million to achieve the
proposed 75% reductions. The capital costs are expected to be
recovered in a future rate case.

In December 2003, the EPA proposed mercury “maximum achievable
control technology” standards and an alternative mercury “cap and
trade” program substantially modeled on the Clear Skies legislation
initiative. The EPA also proposed the Clean Air Interstate Rule {formerly
known as the Interstate Air Quality Rule), which would reduce sulfur
dioxide and nitrogen oxide emissions from utility boilers located in

29 states, including Wisconsin, Michigan, Pennsylvania, and New York,
As to the mercury “maximum achievable control technology” proposal,
it requires existing units burning sub-bituminous coal to achieve an
annual average mercury emission rate limit of 5.8 pounds per trillion
Btu, existing units burning bituminous coal to achieve an annual
average mercury emission rate limit of 2.0 pounds per trillion Btu,

and existing units burning coalrefuse to achieve an annual average
mercury emission rate limit of 0.38 pounds per trillion Btu on a unit-
by-unit or plant-wide basis. New sub-bituminous coalfired units must
achieve an emission rate limit of 0.020 pounds per gigawatt-hour.

If the EPA proposed mercury “maximum achievable control
technology” rule is promulgated, WPSC's current analysis indicates
that the emission control equipment on the existing units may be
sufficient to achieve the proposed limitation. New units will require
additional mercury control techniques to reduce mercury emissions
by 65% to 85%. Weston 4 will install and operate mercury control
technology with the aim of achieving a mercury emission rate

less than that proposed in the EPA proposed mercury “maximum
achievable control technology” rule. As to the mercury cap and trade
program, WPSC is studying its long-term compliance strategy to meet
the targets set forth in the proposed rule. Based on the current rule
proposal and current projections, WPSC anticipates meeting the
proposed targets. Mercury control technology is still in development.
WPSC is assessing potential mercury control technologies for
application to future new coalfired units. The proposed alternative
mercury cap and trade program would require a 30% reduction in
national mercury emissions in 2010 and a 70% reduction in national
mercury emissions beginning in 2018. WPSC estimates the cost to
comply with the proposed alternative mercury cap and trade program
is similar to the cost to comply with the Wisconsin rule.

Whichever form of the proposed federal mercury rule is promulgated,
PDI’s current analysis indicates that additional emission control
equipment on the existing units may be required. Excluding Sunbury,
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PDI estimates the capital cost for the remaining units to be
approximately $1 million to achieve a 70% reduction. If Sunbury is
not sold, the mercury control costs would be approximately $33 million
in total. See Note 4, “Assets Held for Sale,” for more information
on Sunbury.

As to the Clean Air Interstate Rule proposal, the proposal allows the
affected states (including Wisconsin, Michigan, Pennsylvania, and
New York) to either require utilities located in the state to participate
in an interstate cap and trade program or meet the state's emission
budget for sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxide through measures to be
determined by the state. The states have not adopted a preference
as to which option they would select in the event the rules become
final, but the states are investigating a possible cap and trade
program. The effect of the rule, if adopted, on WPSC's and PDI's
facilities is uncertain.

Currently, WPSC is evaluating a number of options that include using
the cap and trade program and/or installing controls. For planning
purposes, it is assumed that additional sulfur dioxide and nitrogen
oxide controls will be needed on existing units or the existing units
will need to be converted to natural gas by 2010. The installation of
any controls and/or any conversion to natural gas will need to be
scheduled as part of WPSC’s long-term maintenance plan for its
existing units. As such, controls or conversions may need to take
place before 2010. On a preliminary basis and assuming controls or
conversion are required, WPSC estimates capital costs of $246 million
in order to meet an assumed 2010 compliance date. This estimate is
based on costs of current control technology and current information
regarding the proposed rule. The costs may change based on the
requirements of the final rule.

PDI is evaluating the compliance options for the Clean Air Interstate
Rule proposal. Additional nitrogen oxide controls on some of PDI's
facilities may be necessary. The estimated capital costs for additional
nitrogen oxide controls are $2.9 million, excluding Sunbury. Additional
sulfur dioxide reductions are unlikely. If the Sunbury sale does not
occur, the additional nitrogen oxide control costs are about $41 million
in total. Also, PDI will evaluate a number of options using the cap and
trade program, fuel switching, and/or installing controls. See Note 4,
“Assets Held for Sale,” for more information on Sunbury.

Other Environmental Issues

Groundwater testing at a former ash disposal site of UPPCO
indicated elevated levels of boron and lithium. Supplemental
remedial investigations were performed, and a revised remedial action
plan was developed. The Michigan Department of Environmental
Quality approved the plan in January 2003. A liability of $1.4 million
and an associated regulatory asset of $1.4 million were recorded for
estimated future expenditures associated with remediation of the site.
UPPCO received an order from the MPSC permitting deferral and future
recovery of these costs. UPPCO has an informal agreement, with the
owner of another landfill, under which it has agreed to pay 17% of the
investigation and remedial costs. It is estimated that the cost of
addressing the site over the next 3 years is $1.6 million. UPPCO has
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recorded $0.3 million of this amount as its share of the liability as of
December 31, 2004.

Manufactured Gas Plant Remediation

WPSC continues to investigate the environmental cleanup of ten
manufactured gas plant sites. As of the fall of 2003, cleanup of the
land portion of the Oshkosh, Stevens Point, Green Bay, Manitowoc,
and two Sheboygan sites was substantially complete. Groundwater
treatment and monitoring at these sites will continue into the future.
Cleanup of the land portion of four sites will be addressed in the
future. River sediment remains to be addressed at six sites with
sediment contamination. Remedial investigation work is expected
1o begin on the sediment portion of the Sheboygan site in 2005.
Sediment removal work at the Marinette site is scheduled for 2005.
Work at the other sites remains to be scheduled.

The WDNR recently issued interim guidance for sediment
remediation. Based on WDNR’s application of this guidance, WPSC
estimated future undiscounted investigation and cleanup costs as

of December 31, 2004, to be $66.7 million. WPSC may adjust these
estimates in the future contingent upon remedial technology, regulatory
requirements, and the assessment of natural resource damages.

WPSC’s liability was reviewed in December 2004 against
projected cleanup costs. Accordingly, the liahility was increased
to $66.7 million. WPSC has received $12.7 million to date in
insurance recoveries. WPSC expects to recover actual cleanup
costs, net of insurance recoveries, in future customer rates.
Under current PSCW policies, WPSC will not recover carrying
costs associated with the cleanup expenditures.

Stray Voltage Claims

From time to time, WPSC has been sued by dairy farmers who allege
that they have suffered loss of milk production and other damages
supposedly due to “stray voltage” from the operation of WPSC's
electrical system. Past cases have been resolved without any material
adverse effect on the financial statements of WPSC. Currently, there
are three such cases pending in state court in Wisconsin, one of
which is on appeal.

The PSCW has established certain requirements regarding stray
voltage for all utilities subject to its jurisdiction. The PSCW has defined
what constitutes “stray voltage,” established a level of concern at
which some utility corrective action is required, and set forth test
protocols to be employed in evaluating whether a stray voltage
problem exists. Based upon the information available to it to date,
WPSC believes that it was in compliance with the PSCW'’s orders,
and that none of the plaintiffs had a stray voltage problem as defined
by the PSCW for which WPSC is responsible. Nonetheless, in 2003,
the Supreme Court of Wisconsin ruled in the case Hoffmann v. WEPCO
that a utility could be liable in tort to a farmer for damage from stray
voltage even though the utility had complied with the PSCW’s
established level of concern.




One of the three remaining cases was appealed to the Wisconsin
Court of Appeals. On February 15, 2005, the Court of Appeals affirmed
the jury verdict that awarded the plaintiff approximately $0.8 million for
economic damages and $1 million for nuisance. The Court of Appeals
also remanded the issue of future damages relative to an injunction.
WPSC is considering further appeal. The other two pending cases have
trial dates in April 2005 and September 2005. Discovery has been
completed in both cases. One of the two pending cases was tried to

a jury in the fall of 2004. The jury deadlocked 10 — 4 in favor of WPSC,
and then, in response to an instruction from the trial judge to try to
reach a verdict, crafted a compromise that was invalid under the law,
resulting in a mistrial. The expert witnesses retained by WPSC do not
believe that there is a scientific basis for concluding that electricity has
harmed or damaged the plaintiffs or their cows in either of the two
remaining cases. Accordingly, WPSC is vigorously defending and
contesting these actions.

WPSC has insurance coverage for these claims, but the policies have
customary selfsinsured retentions per occurrence. Based upon the
information known at this time and the availability of insurance, WPSC
believes that the total cost to it of resolving the remaining three
actions will not be material.

One of the cases awaiting trial includes a claim for common law
punitive damages as well as a claim for treble damages under a
Wisconsin statute, sec. 196.94. In light of the information it now has,
WPSC does not believe there is any basis for the award of punitive or
treble damages in this case. However, if a jury awarded such damages,
and if the total of defense costs and all damages exceeded the self-
insured retention, WPSC believes its insurance policies would cover
such a verdict, including any punitive or treble damages.

Flood Damage

On May 14, 2003, a fuse plug at the Silver Lake reservoir owned by
UPPCO was breached. This breach resulted in subsequent flooding
downstream on the Dead River, which is located in Michigan's Upper
Peninsula near Marquette, Michigan.

A dam owned by Marquette Board of Light and Power, which is located
downstream from the Silver Lake reservoir near the mouth of the Dead
River, also failed during this event. In addition, high water conditions
and siltation resulted in damage at the Presque Isle Power Plant
owned by Wisconsin Electric Power Company. Presque Isle, which is
located downstream from the Marquette Board of Light and Power
dam, was ultimately forced into a temporary shutdown.

The FERC’s Independent Board of Review issued its report in
December of 2003 and concluded that the root cause of the incident
was the failure of the design to take into account the highly erodible
nature of the fuse plug's foundation materials and spillway channel,
resulting in the complete loss of the fuse plug, foundation, and
spillway channel, which caused the release of Silver Lake far beyond
the intended design of the fuse plug. The fuse plug for the Silver
Lake reservoir was designed by an outside engineering firm.

WPS Resources maintains a comprehensive insurance program that
includes UPPCO and which provides both property insurance for its
facilities and liability insurance for liability to third parties.

WPS Resources is insured in amounts that it believes are sufficient
to cover its responsibilities in connection with this event. Deductibles
and self-insured retentions on these policies are not material to
WPS Resources. To date no lawsuits have been commenced.

In November 2003, UPPCO received approval from the MPSC and
the FERC for deferral of costs that are not reimbursable through
insurance or recoverable through the power supply cost recovery
mechanism. Recovery of costs deferred will be addressed in future
rate proceedings. On October 14, 2004, the MPSC approved final
recovery of the $5.2 million of increased 2003 power supply costs
related to UPPCO’s integrated system. As of December 31, 2004,
UPPCO has deferred $2.6 million pretax and expensed $1.5 million
pretax of costs for damages resulting from the flood. In addition,
UPPCO has recorded an $0.8 million insurance receivable at
December 31, 2004. The total insurance payments received to
date as of December 31, 2004, were $2.7 million.

In January 2005, UPPCO announced its decision to restore Silver Lake
as a reservoir for power generation, pending approval of a design by
FERC. Provided that FERC approves a design in the spring of 2005,
work is expected to begin in 2005 and be completed in 2006.

Wausau, Wisconsin, to Duluth, Minnesota,
Transmission Line

Construction of the 220-mile, 345-kilovolt Wausau, Wisconsin, to
Duluth, Minnesota, transmission line began in the first quarter of
2004 in Minnesota.

ATC has assumed primary responsibility for the overall management
of the project and will own and operate the completed line. WPSC
received approval from the PSCW and the FERC to transfer ownership
of the project to ATC. WPSC will continue to manage construction of
the project and be responsible for obtaining private property rights in
Wisconsin necessary for the construction of the project. Various
WDNR permit related decisions are currently the subject of a
contested case hearing in Wisconsin. A decision on the contested
case is expected in the third quarter of 2005.

In December 2003, the PSCW issued an amended Certificate of
Public Convenience and Necessity per ATC’s request for relief. This
decision was appealed to the Dane County Circuit Court by certain
landowners. The court affirmed the PSCW’s decision. It is unknown
whether the court decision will be appealed.

WPS Resources committed to fund 50% of total project costs incurred
up to $198 million. WPS Resources will receive additional equity in
ATC in exchange for a portion of the project funding. During the year
ended December 31, 2004, WPS Resources invested $15.7 million in
ATC, related to its agreement to fund approximately half of the Wausau
to Duluth transmission line. WPS Resources may terminate funding if
the project extends beyond January 1, 2010. On December 18, 2003,
WPSC and ATC received approval to continue the project with the new
cost estimate of $420.3 million. The updated cost estimate reflects
additional costs for the project resulting from time delays, added
regulatory requirements, changes and additions to the project at the
request of local governments, and ATC overhead costs. Completion of
the line is expected in 2008. WPS Resources has the right, but not the
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obligation, to provide additional funding in excess of $198 million up to
its portion of the equity portion of revised cost estimate. For the period
2005 through 2008, we expect to fund up to approximately $175 million
for our portion of the Wausau to Duluth transmission line. Our
commitment to fund this transmission line could decrease up to 50%
if Minnesota Power exercises its option to fund a portion of the project.

Synthetic Fuel Production Facility

We have significantly reduced our consolidated federal income tax
liability for the past four years through tax credits available to us under
Section 29 of the Internal Revenue Code for the production and sale
of solid synthetic fuel from coal. In order to maximize the value of our
synthetic fuel production facility, we have reduced our interest in the
facility from 67% to 23% through sales to third parties. Our ability to
fully utilize the Section 29 tax credits that remain available to us in
connection with our remaining interest in the facility will depend on
whether the amount of our federal income tax liability is sufficient to
permit the use of such credits. The Internal Revenue Service strictly
enforces compliance with all of the technical requirements of
Section 29. Section 29 tax credits are currently scheduled to expire
at the end of 2007. Other future tax legislation and Internal Revenue
Service review may also affect the value of the tax credits and the
value of our share of the facility.

We have recorded the tax benefit of approximately $113.3 million of
Section 29 tax credits as reductions of income tax expense from the

NOTE 18—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

WPS Resources has a non-contributory qualified retirement plan
covering substantially all employees. During 2004, $1.6 million
was contributed to the Pension Plan. No contributions were made in
2003 or 2002. WPS Resources also sponsors several nonqualified
retirement plans, which are not funded.

WPS Resources also currently offers medical, dental, and life
insurance benefits to employees and their dependents. We expense
these items for active employees as incurred. We fund benefits

for retirees through irrevocable trusts as allowed for income

tax purposes.

WPSC serves as plan sponsor and administrator for the qualified
retirement plan and the postretirement plans. Accordingly, WPSC's
financials reflect the assets and liabilities associated with these
plans. With the exception of UPPCO’s Supplemental Employee
Retirement Plan, the assets and liabilities related to the non-qualified
pension plans are also recorded on WPSC’s financials. The net
periodic benefit cost associated with the plans is allocated among
WPS Resources’ subsidiaries. Actuarial calculations are performed
(hased upon specific employees and their related years of service) in
order to determine the appropriate benefit cost allocation.
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project’s inception in June 1998 through December 31, 2004. As a
result of alternative minimum tax rules, approximately $71.1 million
of this tax benefit has been carried forward as a deferred tax asset
as of December 31, 2004. The tax benefit recorded with respect to
WPS Resources’ share of tax credits from the facility is based on our
expected consolidated tax liability for ali open tax years including the
current year, and all future years in which we expect to utilize deferred
tax credits to offset our future tax liability. Reductions in our expected
consolidated tax liability for any of these years could result in
disallowance of previously recorded credits, and/or a change in the
amount of the tax benefit deferred to future periods. A reduction in
our expected consolidated tax liability for the current year may result
in a reduction of the level of synthetic fuel production at the facility.
A portion of future payments under one of the agreements covering
the sale of a portion of our interest in the facility are contingent on
the facility’s continued production of synthetic fuel. Pre-tax gains
approximating $7 million annually are expected to be realized
through 2007 from this sell-down.

Dairyland Power Cooperative

Dairyland Power Cooperative has confirmed its intent to purchase an
interest in Weston 4 by signing a joint plant agreement in November
2004, subject to a number of conditions. The agreement with Dairyland
Power Cooperative is part of our continuing plan to provide least-cost,
reliable energy for the increasing electric demand of our customers.

The costs of pension and postretirement benefits are expensed over
the period in which the employee renders service. The transition
obligation for postretirement benefits of current and future retirees
is being recognized over a 20-year period beginning in 1993.

WPS Resources uses a December 31 measurement date for the
majority of its plans.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003 (“the Act”) provides a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare Part D as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of
certain retiree health care benefit plans. In May 2004, the FASB
staff issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) 106-2, “Accounting and
Disclosure Reguirements Related to the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.”

WPS Resources and its actuarial advisors determined that
benefits provided by the plan as of the date of enactment were

at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D, and, accordingly,
WPS Resources will be entitied to the federal subsidy. WPS Resources
performed a measurement of the effects of the Act on its accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation as of July 1, 2004 (the date

FSP 106-2 was adopted). As of July 1, 2004, WPS Resources'
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation decreased $40.3 million
as a result of the Act. The change in the accumulated postretirement




benefit obligation due to the Act is considered an actuarial gain that
will be recognized in future periods and, therefore, had no cumulative
effect on WPS Resources’ retained earnings as of July 1, 2004.

The effect of the subsidy served to reduce the net postretirement
benefit cost by $2.6 million for WPS Resources for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the
plan's benefit obligations and fair value of assets during 2004,

2003, and 2002, as well as a statement of the funded status as
of December 31 for each year.

2003

0 2004 2003 2002 2004 2002
Reconciliation of benefit obligation
(qualified and non-qualified plans)
Obligation at January 1 $637.2 $553.8 $513.1 $ 281.6 $234.3 $176.2
Service cost 20.5 15.2 12.0 7.5 7.1 5.3
Interest cost 39.8 36.9 34.9 16.9 15.3 125
Plan amendments - - - - (15.3) (4.7)
Actuarial (gain) loss - net 62.0 87.0 27.5 (3.4) 49.5 52.5
Benefit payments (38.8) (35.7) (33.7) (7.9) (9.3) (7.5)
Obligation at December 31 $ 720.7 $637.2 $553.8 $ 294.7 $281.6 $234.3
Reconciliation of fair vaiue of plan assets (qualified plans)
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 569.9 $511.6 $591.9 $ 149.7 $119.7 $134.7
Actual return on plan assets 545 92.7 (47.8) 12.9 23.7 (14.8)
Employer contributions 1.6 - - 16.2 15.6 7.3
Benefit payments (37.1) (34.4) (32.5) (7.9) (9.3) (7.5)
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 588.9 $569.9 $511.6 $170.9 $ 149.7 $119.7
Funded status of plans
Funded status at December 31 $(131.8) | $(67.3) $(42.2) | $(123.8) | $(131.9) | 3(114.6)
Unrecognized transition obligation 0.4 0.6 0.6 3.4 3.8 13.1
Unrecognized prior-service cost 44.8 50.5 56.3 (18.4) (21.5) (16.3)
Unrecognized loss 127.0 78.0 58.6 91.1 99.7 66.0
Net asset (liability) recognized $ 404 $ 61.8 $ 733 $(48.7) | $ (429 | $ (51.8)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to
the benefit plans consist of:
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Prepaid benefit cost $ - $67.9 $ - $ -
Accrued benefit cost (45.9) (87.8) (48.7) (49.9)
Intangible assets 45.0 41.6 - -
Regulatory asset 6.4 15.2 - -
Accumulated other comprehensive income 34.9 24.9 - -
(before tax effect of $14.0 million and $10.0 million, respectively)
Net asset (liability) recognized $40.4 $61.8 $(48.7) $(49.9)

Included in the above table is an accrued benefit cost of $1.7 million
at December 31, 2004, and $1.8 million at December 31, 2003,
related to UPPCQ's Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension
plans was $634.8 million and $572.4 million at December 31, 2004,

(Millions)

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

and 2003, respectively. Information for pension plans with an
accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets is presented
in the following table.

December 31,

2003
$720.7 $321.4
634.8 315.1
588.9 250.2
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The following table presents the components of the consolidated net
periodic benefit cost {credit) for the plans for 2004, 2003, and 2002:

Pension Benefits Otf:her Benefits

(Millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cost $20.5 $15.2 $12.0 $75 $ 71 $ 53
Interest cost 39.8 36.9 34.9 16.9 15.3 12.5
Expected return on plan assets (45.9) (46.7) (47.7) (11.8) (10.6) (10.2)
Amortization of transition (asset) obligation 0.2 - (1.8) 0.4 1.0 1.3
Amortization of prior-service cost (credit) 5.7 5.8 5.8 (2.2) (1.8) (1.2)
Amortization of net (gain) loss 4.5 0.7 (0.6) 4.1 2.6 (1.2)
Special termination benefits - 0.8 - - - -
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) before settlement/curtailment 24.8 12.7 2.6 15.1 13.6 6.5
Amortization of settlement gain regulatory liability - - (11.8) - - -
Amortization of curtailment loss regulatory asset - - 8.1 - - -
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $24.8 $12.7 $(1.1) $15.1 $13.6 $ 6.5

Assumptions

The weighted average assumptions used at December 31 in the

accounting for the plans are as follows:

Pension Benefits 0thefr Benefits
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Discount rate for benefit obligations 5.75% 6.25% 6.75% 5.75% 6.25% 6.75%
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost 6.25% 6.75% 7.25% 6.25% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on assets 8.75% 8.75% 8.75% 8.75% 8.75% 8.75%
Rate of compensation increase 5.50% 5.50% 5.50% - - -

Starting in 2005, WPS Resources plans to change its expected The assumptions used for WPS Resources’ medical and dental cost

return on plan assets from 8.75% to 8.50%. To develop the expected trend rates are shown in the following table:

long-term rate of return on assets, WPS Resources considered the

historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset

class, as well as the target allocation of the benefit trust portfolios. 2004 2003 2002
Assumed medical cost trend rate (under age 65) 10.0% 11.0% 12.0%
Ultimate trend rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Ultimate trend rate reached in 2010 2010 2010
Assumed medical cost trend rate (over age 65) 12.0% 13.0% 14.0%
Ultimate trend rate 6.5% 6.5% 6.5%
Ultimate trend rate reached in 2011 2011 2011
Assumed dental cost trend rate 5.0% 5.0% 6.0%
Ultimate trend rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Ultimate trend rate reached in 2004 2004 2004

Assumed healith care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the
amounts reported for the health care plans. A 1% change in assumed
health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

0 1% Increase | 1% Decrease

Effects on total of service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement health care benefit cost $ 35 $ (3.1)

Effect on the heaith care component of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation $42.0 $(34.7)
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Plan Assets

Weighted-average asset allocations of the plans at December 31, 2004,
and 2003, are as follows:

Postretirement

Pension Plan

Assets at Plan Assets at

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003 2004 2003

Asset category

Equity securities 63% 61% 63% 62%
Debt securities 33% 36% 37% 38%
Real estate 4% 3% 0% 0%
Tota! 100% 100% 100% 100%

The Board of Directors has established the Employee Benefits
Administrator Committee to manage the operations and administration
of all benefit plans and related trusts. The Committee has investment
policies for the plan assets that establish target asset allocations for
the above listed asset classes as follows: pension plan — equity
securities 60%, debt securities 35%, and real estate 5%;
postretirement plan — equity securities 65%, debt securities 35%.

Cash Flows

WPS Resources expects to contribute $8.2 million to its pension plans
and $20.9 million to its other postretirement benefit plans in 2005.

The following table shows the payments, reflecting expected future
service, that WPS Resources expects to make for pension and other
postretirement benefits. In addition, the table shows the expected
federal subsidies under Medicare Part D, which will partially offset
other postretirement benefits, as discussed earlier.

Other
Benefits

Pension
Benefits

(Millions)

Federal
Subsidies

2005 $10.8 $ -

2006 11.9 (1.3)
2007 13.1 (1.5)
2008 14.1 (1.6)
2009 15.3 (1.8)
2010-2014 89.9 (10.9)

Defined Contribution Benefit Plans

WPS Resources maintains a 401(k) Savings Plan for substantially

all fulltime employees. Employees generally may contribute from

1% to 30% of their base compensation to individual accounts within
the 401(k) Savings Plan. Participation in this plan automatically
qualifies eligible non-union employees for participation in the Employee
Stock Ownership Plan (ESCP). The company match, in the form

of WPS Resources shares of common stock, is contributed to an
employee’s ESOP account. The plan requires a match equivalent

to 100% of the first 4% and 50% of the next 2% contributed by
non-union employees. Certain union employees receive a contribution
to their ESOP account regardless of their participation in the 401(k)
Savings Plan. The ESOP held 2.2 million shares of WPS Resources
common stock (market value of approximately $109 million) at
December 31, 2004. Total costs incurred under these plans were
$7.7 million in 2004, $5.7 million in 2003, and $4.8 million in
2002. WPSC's share of the total costs was $6.5 million in 2004,
$4.6 million in 2003, and $3.9 million in 2002.

WPS Resources maintains a deferred compensation plan that
enables certain key employees and non-employee directors to

defer a portion of their compensation or fees on a pre-tax basis.
Non-employee directors can defer up to 100% of their director fees.
There are essentially two separate investment programs available
to plan participants. The first program (“Program 1”) offers

WPS Resources common stock as a hypothetical investment option
for participants; deemed dividends paid on the common stock are
automatically reinvested; and all distributions must be made in
WPS Resources common stock. The second program (“Program 27)
offers a variety of hypothetical investment options indexed to mutual
funds, WPS Resources' return on equity, and WPS Resources
common stock. Participants may not redirect investments between
the two programs. All employee deferrals are remitted to WPSC and,
therefore, the liabilities and costs associated with the deferred
compensation plans are included on WPSC's financials.

Program 1 is accounted for as a plan that does not permit
diversification. As a result, the deferred compensation arrangement
is classified as an equity instrument and changes in the fair value
of the deferred compensation obligation are not recognized. The
deferred compensation obligation associated with Program 1 was
$13.0 million at December 31, 2004, and $10.3 million at
December 31, 2003.

Program 2 is accounted for as a plan that permits diversification.
As a result, the deferred compensation obligation associated with this
program is classified as a liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
and adjusted, with a charge or credit to expense, to reflect changes in
the fair value of the deferred compensation obligation. The obligation,
classified within other long-term liabilities, was $21.0 million at
December 31, 2004, and $18.7 million at December 31, 2003.
The costs incurred under Program 2 were $2.1 million in 2004,
$2.4 million in 2003, and $1.6 million in 2002.

The deferred compensation programs are partially funded through
WPS Resources common stock that is held in a rabbi trust. The
common stock held in the rabbi trust is classified in equity in a
manner similar to accounting for treasury stock. The total cost of
WPS Resources common stock held in the rabbi trust was $8.4 million
at December 31, 2004, and $6.5 million at December 31, 2003,

TO BELIEVE IN

CNETO

WPS RESOURCES CORPORATION 81




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FIj‘NANCI

[

AL STATEMENTS

L

NOTE 19—PREFERRED STOCK OF SUBSIDIARY

WPSC has 1,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock with no mandatory redemption and a $100 par value. Qutstanding shares are as
follows at December 31.:

Shares Carrying Shares Carrying
(Millions, except share amounts) Series Qutstanding Vaiue Outstanding Value
5.00% 130,799 $13.1 130,853 $13.1
5.04% 29,920 3.0 29,920 3.0
5.08% 49,928 5.0 49,928 5.0
6.76% 150,000 15.0 150,000 15.0
6.88% 150,000 15.0 150,000 15.0
Total 510,647 $51.1 510,701 $51.1

All shares of preferred stock of all series are of equal rank except
as to dividend rates and redemption terms. Payment of dividends
from any earned surplus or other available surplus is not restricted by
the terms of any indenture or other undertaking by WPSC. Each series
of outstanding preferred stock is redeemable in whole or in part

at WPSC’s option at any time on 30 days’ notice at the respective
redemption prices. WPSC may not redeem less than all, nor purchase
any, of its preferred stock during the existence of any dividend default.

In the event of WPSC's dissolution or liquidation, the holders of
preferred stock are entitied to receive (a) the par value of their

NOTE 20—COMMON EQUITY

Shares outstanding
at December 31 2004 2003
Common stock, $1 par value,

200,000,000 shares authorized 37,500,791 | 36,830,556
Treasury stock 12,000 15,700
Average cost of treasury shares $25.19 $25.19
Shares in deferred compensation

rabbi trust 229,238 192,880
Average cost of deferred

compensation rabbi trust shares $36.84 $33.72

On November 24, 2003, 4,025,000 shares of WPS Resources
common stock were issued at $43.00 per share and resulted in
a net increase in equity of $166.8 million.

Treasury shares at December 31, 2004, relate to our Non-Employee
Directors Stock Option Plan. The number of stock options granted
under this plan may not exceed 100,000 shares. All options under
this plan have a ten-year life, but may not be exercised until one year
after the date of grant.

Effective January 2001, we began issuing new stock under our
Stock Investment Plan and under certain of our stock-based
employee benefit plans. These stock issuances increased equity
$28.3 million, $31.0 million, and $28.3 million in 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively.

preferred stock out of the corporate assets other than profits before
any of such assets are paid or distributed to the holders of common
stock and (b) the amount of dividends accumulated and unpaid on
their preferred stock out of the surplus or net profits before any of
such surplus or net profits are paid to the holders of common stock.
Thereafter, the remainder of the corporate assets, surplus, and net
profits shall be paid to the holders of common stock.

The preferred stock has no pre-emptive, subscription, or conversion
rights, and has no sinking fund provisions.

Common
Stock Shares
Outstanding

Reconciliation of Common Shares

Balance at December 31, 2001 31,053,250
Stock Investment Plan and other stock-based
employee benefit plans 544,578
Stock issued from Treasury Stock 241,402
Increase in deferred compensation rabbi
trust shares (30,451)
Balance at December 31, 2002 31,808,779
Common stock offering 4,025,000
Stock Investment Plan and other stock-based
employee benefit plans 764,681
Stock issued from Treasury Stock 49,950
Increase in deferred compensation rabbi
trust shares (26,434)
Balance at December 31, 2003 36,621,976
Stock Investment Plan and other stock-based
employee benefit plans 670,235
Stock issued from Treasury Stock 3,700
increase in deferred compensation rabbi
trust shares (36,358)
Balance at December 31, 2004 37,259,553




In Decernber 1996, we adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan. The
plan is designed to enhance the ability of the Board of Directors to
protect shareholders of WPS Resources if efforts are made 1o gain
control of our company in a manner that is not in the best interests
of our shareholders. The plan gives our existing shareholders, under
certain circumstances, the right to purchase stock at a discounted
price. The rights expire on December 11, 2006.

WPS Resources is a holding company and our ability to pay dividends
is largely dependent upon the ability of our subsidiaries to pay
dividends to us. The PSCW has by order restricted our principal
subsidiary, WPSC, to paying normal dividends on its common stock
of no more than 109% of the previous year's common stock
dividend. The PSCW also requires WPSC to maintain a capital
structure (i.e., the percentages by which each of common stock,
preferred stock and debt constitute the total capital invested in a
utility), which has a common equity range of 54% to 58%. Each of
these limitations may be modified by a future order of the PSCW.
Our right to receive dividends on the common stock of WPSC is also
subject to the prior rights of WPSC'’s preferred shareholders and to
provisions in WPSC's restated articles of incorporation, which limit
the amount of common stock dividends which WPSC may pay if its
common stock and common stock surplus accounts constitute less
than 25% of its total capitalization. These limitations are not
expected to limit any dividend payments in the foreseeable future.

UPPCO's indentures relating to its first mortgage bonds contain
certain limitations on the payment of cash dividends on its common
stock, which is held solely by WPS Resources. Under the most
restrictive of these provisions, approximately $19.6 miilion of
retained earnings were available at December 31, 2004, for the
payment of common stock cash dividends by UPPCO.

At December 31, 2004, WPS Resources had $474.4 million of
retained earnings available for dividends.

Earnings per share is computed by dividing income available for
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings
per share is computed by dividing income available for common
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding during the period adjusted for the exercise and/or
conversion of all potentially dilutive securities. Such dilutive items
include inthe-money stock options, restricted shares, and performance
share grants. The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the
years shown excludes some stock option plan shares that had an
anti-dilutive effect. The shares having an anti-dilutive effect are not
significant for any of the years shown. The following table reconciles
the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Reconciliation of Earnings
Per Share
(Millions, except per
share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Income available for

common shareholders $139.7 $94.7 $109.4
Basic weighted average

shares 37.4 33.0 31.7
Incremental issuable shares 0.2 0.2 0.3
Diluted weighted average

shares 37.6 33.2 32.0
Basic earnings per common

share $3.74 $2.87 $3.45
Diluted earnings per

common share $3.72 $2.85 $3.42

NOTE 21—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

WPS Resources has three main stock option plans: the 2001 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan (“Omnibus Plan”), the 1999 Stock Option
Plan ("Employee Plan"), and the 1999 Non-Employee Directors Stock
Option Plan ("Director Plan"). No additional stock options will be
issued under the Employee Plan, although the plan wili continue to
exist for purposes of the existing outstanding options.

in May of 2001, shareholders approved the Omnibus Plan for certain
management personnel. The Long-Term Incentive Plan was approved

under the 2001 Omnibus Plan. The Long-Term Incentive Plan has two
stock-based compensation components: non-qualified stock options

and performance shares.

Under the provisions of the Omnibus Plan, the number of shares for
which stock options may be granted may not exceed 2 million, and
no single employee that is the chief executive officer of the company
or any of the other four highest compensated officers of the
company and its subsidiaries can be granted options for more than
150,000 shares during any calendar year. Stock options are granted
by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and may
be granted at any time. No stock options will have a term longer than
ten years. The exercise price of each stock option is equal to the fair
market value of the stock on the date the stock option was granted.

A portion of the executive long-term incentive was awarded in the
form of performance shares. These shares vest over a three-year
performance period and are paid out in shares of WPS Resources
common stock. The number of shares paid out is calculated by
multiplying a performance percentage by a target number of shares. The
performance muitiplier is based on the performance of WPS Resources
relative to the performance of a specific peer group of companies.
The payout may range from 0% to 200% of target. Based upon these
criteria, 119,296 shares are included in the denominator of the diluted
earnings per share computation at December 31, 2004. In accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, WPS Resources
accrues the plan expense over the three-year period in which the
services are performed. Compensation expense recorded was
$2.3 million in 2004, $3.3 million in 2003, and $1.8 million in 2002.

Restricted stock shares granted on April 18, 2002, totaled 12,186
shares and had a one-year vesting period. Beginning April 18, 2003,
15% of the shares became unrestricted, with an additional 15%
release of restriction at each six-month interval thereafter until fully
unrestricted. Restricted shares have a value equal to the fair market
value of the shares on the grant date. No compensation expense was
recorded for these shares in 2004. In 2003 and 2002, $0.2 million
and $0.3 million of compensation expense was recorded, respectively.
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Under the provisions of the Director Plan, the number of stock
options granted under the plan may not exceed 100,000, and the
shares to be delivered will consist solely of treasury shares. Stock
options are granted at the discretion of the Board of Directors. No
options may be granted under this plan after December 31, 2008. All
options have a ten-year life, but may not be exercised until one year
after the date of grant. Options granted under this plan are immediately
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One-fourth of the stock options granted under the Omnibus Plan and
the Employee Plan will become vested and exercisable each year on
the anniversary date of the grant. The number of shares subject to
each stock option plan, each outstanding stock option, and stock
option exercise prices are subject to adjustment in the event of any
stock split, stock dividend, or other transaction affecting our
outstanding common stock.

vested. The exercise price of each option is equal to the fair market
value of the stock on the date the stock options were granted.

A summary of the activity of the stock option plans for 2004, is presented below:

Stock Options Shares Exercise Price
Options outstanding at beginning of year

Omnibus plan 993,677 $38.9707

Employee plan 283,621 33.1055

Director plan 15,700 25.4853
Granted during 2004

Omnibus plan 321,313 48.1100
Exercised during 2004

Omnibus plan 30,431 35.1724

Employee plan 38,301 30.5332

Director plan 3,700 25.4375
Forfeited during 2004

Omnibus plan 4,437 41.2294
Qutstanding at end of year

Omnibus plan 1,280,122 41.3472

Employee plan 245,320 33.5071

Director plan 12,000 25.5000
Options exercisable at year-end

Omnibus plan 459,425 37.3676

Employee plan 245,320 33.5071

Director pian 12,000 25.5000
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2004

Omnibus plan $4.40

A summary of the activity of the stock option plans for 2003, is presented below:

Stock Options Shares Exercise Price
Options outstanding at beginning of year

Omnibus plan 663,548 $36.1131

Employee plan 492,021 31.5572

Director plan 19,400 25.4762
Granted during 2003

Omnibus plan 335,424 44.5601
Exercised during 2003

Omnibus plan 4,420 34.6538

Employee plan 207,150 29.4879

Director plan 3,700 25.4375
Forfeited during 2003

Omnibus plan 875 36.3014

Employee plan 1,250 23.1875
Outstanding at end of year

Omnibus plan 993,677 38.9707

Employee plan 283,621 33.1055

Director plan 15,700 25.4853
Options exercisable at year-end

Omnibus plan 241,076 35.4684

Employee plan 225,116 33.0890

Director plan 15,700 25.4852
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2003

Omnibus plan $4.53




A summary of the activity of the stock option plans for 2002, is presented below:

Weighted-Average

Options outstanding at beginning of year

Omnibus plan 327,427 $34.1038

Employee plan 705,916 30.9806

Director plan 23,150 25.4699
Granted during 2002

Omnibus plan 341,613 38.0064
Exercised during 2002

Employee plan 206,849 29.5512

Director plan 3,750 25.4375
Forfeited during 2002

Omnibus plan 5,492 34.0900

Employee plan 7,046 32.6744
Outstanding at end of year

Omnibus plan 663,548 36.1131

Employee plan 492,021 31.5572

Director plan 19,400 25.4762
Options exercisable at year-end

Omnibus plan 80,484 34.1040

Employee plan 256,011 31.6679

Director plan ) 19,400 25,4762
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2002

Omnibus plan $3.64

The following table summarizes the status of the stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004, under the 2001 Omnibus Plan.

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Exercise Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercise Price
Prices Shares (in Years) Per Share Shares Per Share
$34.0900 281,689 7 $34.0900 205,545 $34.0900
34.3800 13,386 6 34.3800 9,493 34.3800
36.3800 500 7 36.3800 250 36.3800
37.9600 325,310 8 37.9800 158,383 37.9600
41,2900 5,000 7 41.2900 2,500 41.2900
38.2500 8,797 8 38.2500 2,200 38.2500
44,7300 324,127 ] 44.7300 81,054 44,7300
48.1100 321,313 10 48.1100 - 48.1100
1,280,122 $41.3472 459,425 $37.3676

The following table summarizes the status of the stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004, under the 1999 Stock Option Plan.

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Exercise Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercise Price
Prices Shares (in Years) Per Share Shares Per Share
$29.8750 49,500 4 $29.8750 49,500 $298.8750
23.1875 5,500 5 23.1875 5,500 23.1875
34.7500 190,320 [¢] 34,7500 190,320 34.7500
245,320 $33.5071 245,320 $33.5071

The following table summarizes the status of the stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004, under the 1999 Non-Employee

Stock Options Exercisable

Director Stock Option Plan.

Stock Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Exercise Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercise Price
Prices Shares (in Years) Per Share Shares Per Share
$25.4375 9,000 5 $25.4375 9,000 $25.4375
25.6875 3,000 5 25.6875 3,000 25.6875
12,000 $25.5000 12,000 $25.5000
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NOTE 22—REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Wisconsin

On December 19, 2003, the PSCW issued a final written order
authorizing a retail electric rate increase of $59.4 million (2.4%) and
a retail natural gas rate increase of $8.9 million (2.2%), effective
January 1, 2004. The rates reflect a 12.0% return on equity and
allowed average equity of 56% of total capital.

As a result of the Kewaunee unplanned outage, which lasted
approximately two weeks during late January and into early February
2004, and other fuel cost and purchased power increases expected
in 2004, WPSC received an interim fuel rate order from the PSCW
allowing for a $6.0 million (1.2%) increase in rates that went into
effect April 2, 2004. In September 2004, the PSCW issued its final
order, requiring WPSC to refund $1.8 million of revenues collected
under the interim rate order to customers. The refund was returned
to customers in October and November 2004. The reduction from
the interim rate was necessary due to lower than anticipated fuel
and purchased power costs in the third quarter of 2004, which were
the result of cooler than normal weather conditions. The final order
allowed WPSC recovery of an estimated $3.2 million of its increased
fuel and purchased power costs.

On December 21, 2004, the PSCW issued a final written order
authorizing a retail electric increase of $60.7 million (8.6%) and

a retail natural gas rate increase of $5.6 million (1.1%), effective
January 1, 2005. The retail electric rate increase is primarily driven
by increased costs related to fuel and purchased power, construction
of Weston 4, benefit costs, and Midwest Independent System
Operator costs. The natural gas rate increase is primarily related
to increases in benefit costs and the cost of distribution system
improvements. The 2005 rates reflect an 11.5% return on equity.
The PSCW also approved a common equity ratio of 57.35% in the
utility's regulatory capital structure.

On November 5, 2004, WPSC filed an application with the PSCW
to defer all incremental costs, including carrying costs, resulting
from unexpected problems encountered in the refueling outage

at Kewaunee. During the refueling outage, an unexpected problem
was encountered with equipment used for lifting internal vessel
components to perform a required 10-year inspection. These
equipment problems caused the outage to be extended by
approximately three weeks. On November 11, 2004, the PSCW
authorized WPSC to defer the replacement fuel costs related to
the extended outage. On November 23, 2004, the PSCW authorized
WPSC to defer purchased power costs ($5.4 million) and operating
and maintenance expenses ($1.8 million) related to the extended
outage, effective from when the problems were discovered, including
carrying costs at WPSC's authorized weighted average cost of
capital. Kewaunee returned to service on December 4, 2004. On
February 18, 2005, WPSC filed for PSCW approval to recover these

costs and it is anticipated that these costs will be recovered in
20086, pending final approval by the PSCW.

On November 9, 2004, WPSC filed an application with the PSCW to
defer, with carrying costs, the 2005 revenue requirement impacts
resulting from the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (Jobs
Creation Act), The Jobs Creation Act reduces the corporate income
tax on certain manufacturing industries. Because the act was not
signed into law until October 22, 2004, it was not included in
WPSC’s 2005 rate proceeding. On December 7, 2004, the PSCW
authorized WPSC to defer the 2005 revenue requirement impacts
resulting from the Jobs Creation Act including carrying costs at
WPSC’s authorized weighted average cost of capital.

On February 20, 2005, Kewaunee was temporarily removed from
service after a potential design weakness was identified in a backup
cooling system. Plant engineering staff identified the concern and the
unit was shutdown in accordance with the plant license. A modification
is being made to resolve the issue and it is anticipated that the unit will
be back in service at 100% power by mid April. WPSC intends to file a
request with the PSCW for recovery of incremental costs associated
with fuel, purchased power, and operating and maintenance costs.
WPSC and Dominion remain committed to the sale of Kewaunee.

Michigan

On March 31, 2004, UPPCO submitted an application to the MPSC to
recover $5.2 million of increased 2003 power supply costs relating to
UPPCO’s integrated system. In addition, UPPCO requested deferral of
$1.8 million of power supply costs related to the Dead River flood. On
August 31, 2004, the MPSC approved the deferral of the $1.8 million
of power supply costs relating to the Dead River flood, and authorized
the interim recovery of the $5.2 million pending a final prudence
determination. On October 14, 2004, the Commission approved final
recovery of the $5.2 million of increased 2003 power supply costs
relating to UPPCO’s integrated system. These costs will be recovered
from customers through December 2005.

On December 8, 2004, UPPCO submitted a request to the MPSC to
approve UPPCQ’s proposed treatment of the net gain proceeds from
certain sales of undeveloped and partially developed land located

in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan as appropriate for ratemaking
purposes. If approved by the MPSC, UPPCO will voluntarily forego retail
electric service base rate increases through December 31, 2005;
however, UPPCO may file for base rate increases in 2005 to be
effective on and after January 1, 2006. UPPCO may also file for MPSC
consideration of deferred accounting of any governmental mandates
during the moratorium and for any unusual and extraordinary events.
At this time, the MPSC has not accepted the proposal, and final
approval or denial from the MPSC is still pending.




On February 4, 2005, UPPCO submitted an application to the MPSC
for a 7.6% increase in retail electric rates ($5.7 million in revenues).
UPPCO also requested interim rate recovery of 6,0% ($4.5 million in
revenues) to allow UPPCO to recover costs during the time the MPSC
is reviewing the full case. The retail electric rate increase is primarily
due to costs associated with improving service quality and reliability,
technology upgrades, and managing rising employee and retiree
benefit costs.

Federal

On April 30, 2003, WPSC received a draft order from the FERC
approving a $4.1 million (21%), interim increase in wholesale electric
rates. The new wholesale rates were effective on May 11, 2003, and
were subject to refund if the final rate increase was less. The draft
order also granted the use of formula rates, which allow for the
adjustment of wholesale electric rates to refiect actual costs without
having to file additional rate requests. On March 4, 2004, the FERC
and WPSC reached a tentative settlement regarding the final rate
increase. WPSC had no material refunds or other adjustments to

revenues recorded under the interim rates based on the terms of the
tentative agreement. The final settiement was approved by FERC on
November 19, 2004. No material refunds were required as a result
of the settlement. This was WPSC's first rate increase for its
wholesale electric customers in 17 years.

On February 10, 2005, the FERC issued an order accepting
compliance filings implementing the Seams Elimination Charge
Adjustment effective December 1, 2004, subject to refund and
surcharge, and set the matters raised for evidentiary hearing. On
February 28, 2005, Quest Energy, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of
ESI, filed a motion for partial stay of FERC's February 10, 2005,
order imposing a Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment on Quest.
The purpose of the Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment is to
compensate transmission owners for the revenue they would no
longer receive due to the elimination of the Regional Through and
Out Rates. Because ESl is a load serving entity, it will be billed for
Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment charges based on its power
imports during 2002 and 2003.

NOTE 23—VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The FASB has issued Interpretation No. 46R (as revised),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,” in order to improve financial
reporting by companies involved with variable interest entities.
Interpretation No. 46R requires certain variable interest entities to
be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity
investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling
financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity
to finance its activities without additional financial support from
other parties. The primary beneficiary is the party that absorbs the
majority of the expected losses and/or receives the majority of the
expected residual returns of the variable interest entity's activities.

The application of Interpretation No. 46R was required for financial
statements of public entities that have interests in special-purpose
entities for periods ending after December 15, 2003. WPS Resources
identified WPSR Capital Trust | as a special purpose entity that

is within the scope of Interpretation No. 46R. Refer to Note 24,
“Company-Obligated Mandatorily Redeemable Trust Preferred
Securities of Preferred Stock Trust,” for further discussion of the
impacts of implementing this portion of Interpretation No. 46R

on the financial statement of WPS Resources.

WPS Resources adopted the provisions of Interpretation No. 46R
for variable interest entities not defined as special purpose entities
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effective March 31, 2004. The required adoption had no impact on our
consolidated financial statements, as we did not identify significant
variable interests in any unconsolidated variable interest entities where
we were determined to be the primary beneficiary. We have identified
our equity ownership in a synthetic fuel producing facility as a variable
interest in a variable interest entity. Through an affiliate of PDI,
WPS Resources owns a partial interest in a synthetic fuel facility
located in Kentucky and received tax credits pursuant to Section 29
of the Internal Revenue Code based on sales to unaffiliated
third-party purchasers of synthetic fuel produced from coal. At
December 31, 2004, WPS Resources had a 23% ownership interest

in the synthetic fuel facility. No other variable interests were identified.
WPS Resources' maximum exposure to 10ss as a result of our
involvement with this variable interest entity is limited to our investment
in this entity, which was not significant at December 31, 2004.

We were not identified as the primary beneficiary of this entity and,
therefore, were not required to consolidate the synthetic fuel facility
into our financial statements at December 31, 2004. The adoption

of Interpretation No. 46R also included an analysis of our power
purchase and sale agreements. We do not believe that any of our
power purchase or sale agreements constitute significant variable
interests that would lead us to consolidate entities not currently
consolidated or deconsolidate any entities currently consolidated.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTE 24—COMPANY-OBLIGATED MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE TRUST
PREFERRED SECURITIES OF PREFERRED STOCK TRUST

On July 30, 1998, WPSR Capital Trust |, a Delaware business

trust, issued $50.0 million of trust preferred securities to the public.
WPS Resources owned all of the outstanding trust common securities
of the Trust, and the only asset of the Trust was $51.5 million of
subordinated debentures issued by WPS Resources. The debentures
were due on June 30, 2038, and bore interest at 7% per year. The
terms and interest payments on the debentures corresponded to the
terms and distributions on the trust preferred securities.

As discussed in Note 23, “Variable Interest Entities,” it was
determined that WPSR Capital Trust | qualified as a special purpose
entity and, therefore, the provisions of Interpretation No. 46R were
applied to the Trust at December 31, 2003. Prior to this date, we
consolidated the preferred securities of the Trust into our financial
statements as we held all of the voting securities. Per the provisions
of Interpretation No. 46R, however, it was determined that the

NOTE 25—SEGMENTS OF BUSINESS

We manage our reportable segments separately due to their different
operating and regulatory environments.

Our principal business segments are the regulated electric utility
operations of WPSC and UPPCO and the regulated natural gas utility
operations of WPSC. WPSC's revenues are primarily derived from the
service of electric and natural gas retail customers in northeastern
and central Wisconsin and an adjacent portion of Upper Michigan.
WPSC also provides wholesale electric service to various customers,
including municipal utilities, electric cooperatives, energy marketers,
other investor-owned utilities, and a municipal joint action agency.
Portions of WPSC'’s electric and natural gas operations cannot be
specifically identified as electric or natural gas and instead are
allocated using either actual labor hours, revenues, number of
customers, or number of meters. UPPCO derives revenues from the
sale of electric energy in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

Our other reportable segments include ESI and PDI. ESI offers
nonregulated natural gas, electric, and alternate fuel supplies as well
as energy management and consulting services to retail and wholesale
customers primarily in the northeastern quadrant of the United States
and adjacent portions of Canada. Although ESI has a widening array of
products and services, revenues are primarily derived through sales of
electricity and natural gas to retail and wholesale customers. ESl's
marketing and trading operations manage power and natural gas
procurement as an integrated portfolio with its retail and wholesale
sales commitments. Electricity required to fulfill these sales
commitments was procured primarily from independent generators,
energy marketers, and organized electric power markets. Natural gas

preferred security holders held the majority of the residual economic
risks associated with WPSR Capital Trust | and, therefore, the Trust
was deconsolidated effective December 31, 2003. As a result of the
deconsolidation, WPS Resources recorded a $1.5 million investment
in trust within other current assets and a $51.5 million note payable
to preferred stock trust, respectively, within the Consolidated Balance
Sheet at December 31, 2003.

On January 8, 2004, WPS Resources redeemed all of the
subordinated debentures that were initially issued to the Trust for
$51.5 million and paid accrued interest of $0.1 million. This action
required the Trust to redeem an equal amount of trust securities at
face value plus any accrued interest and unpaid distributions. As a
result of these transactions, the Trust was dissolved effective
January 8, 2004.

was purchased from a variety of suppliers under daily, monthly,
seasonal and long-term contracts with pricing delivery and volume
schedules to accommodate customer requirements. ESI's customers
include utilities, municipalities, cooperatives, commercial and industrial
consumers, aggregators, and other marketing and retail entities.

PDI competes in the wholesale merchant electric power generation
industry, primarily in the Midwest and northeastern United States and
adjacent portions of Canada. PDI's core competencies include power
plant operation and maintenance, and material condition assessment
of assets. In order to enable PD! to focus on its core competencies
and improve the efficiency and reliability of its existing fleet of power
plants, ESI has assumed much of the market price risk associated
with these plants. In 2004, PDI entered into tolling and power purchase
agreements with ESI to manage electric production from many

of its facilities and to manage natural gas costs for its gas-fired
generation facilities. PDI continues to manage costs of fuel for its
coalfired facilities. The agreements allow ESI to operate PDI facilities
at its discretion, when market conditions and fuel costs are
advantageous. PDI has power purchase agreements in place with
third-party customers at facilities not under contract with ESI.

The Holding Company and Other segment includes the operations of
WPS Resources and WPS Resources Capital Corporation as holding
companies and the nonutility activities at WPSC and UPPCO.

The tables below present information for the respective years
pertaining to our operations segmented by lines of business.
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Segments of Business Regulated Utilities Nonutility and Nonregulated Operations

(Miltions) Electric Gas Total Reco g | WPS Resources
2004 Utility ® Utility @ Utility ESI PDI Other atio Consolidated
Income Statement
External revenues $ 875.6 $416.4 $1,292.0 | $3,553.5 $ 45.1 $ - $ - $4,890.6
Internal revenues 21.0 4.5 25.5 2.8 26.3 1.1 (55.7) -
Depreciation and

decommissioning 79.5 16.0 95.5 2.5 8.5 0.5 - 107.0
Miscellaneous income 10.4 0.4 10.8 1.7 (2.0) 40.6 (3.4) 47.7
Interest expense 25.6 7.7 33.3 0.8 2.4 20.8 (3.1) 54.2
Provision for income taxes 39.2 10.2 49.4 20.4 (36.0) (3.8) - 30.0
Discontinued operations - - - 0.4 (13.8) - - (13.4)
Income available for common

shareholders 68.8 i7.3 86.1 36.7 5.0 11.9 - 139.7
Total assets 2,225.2 577.9 2,803.1 1,087.3 380.5 321.5 (146.8) 4,445.6
Cash expenditures for

long-lived assets 223.0 62.7 285.7 1.6 2.4 0.3 - 290.0

M Includes only utility operations. Nonutility operations are included in the Other column.

DT B e Regulated £ 0 ana pnregulated Operatio

’ Electric Gas Total Reco g PS Resource

i Utility @ Utility @ Utility @ ESI PDI Other atio onsolidated
Income Statement
External revenues $ 785.6 $398.1 $1,183.7 | $3,063.2 $ 74.3 $ 01 $ - $4,321.3
Internal revenues 28.5 6.1 34.6 18.0 8.1 1.1 (61.8) -
Depreciation and

decommissioning 112.8 14.3 127.1 1.8 89 0.6 - 1384
Miscellaneous income 43.6 1.3 44.9 1.2 (5.0) 30.7 (8.2) 63.6
Interest expense 24.9 6.7 31.6 0.5 2.8 27.3 (6.6) 55.6
Provision for income taxes 33.9 9.2 43.1 17.4 (24.2) (2.6) - 33.7
Discontinued operations - - - 0.3 (16.3) - - (16.0)
Cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle - - - 33 {0.3) - 0.2 3.2
Income available for common

shareholders 60.0 15.7 75.7 29.0 (7.9) (2.1) - °4.7
Total assets 2,102.1 497.0 2,599.1 1,162.7 373.8 305.0 (148.3) 4,292.3
Cash expenditures for

long-lived assets 131.0 40.7 171.7 1.4 3.3 (0.2) - 176.2

™ Includes only utility operations. Nonutility operations are included in the Other column.

Nonutility and Nonregulated Operations

Segments of Business Regulated Utilities

(Miltions) Electric Gas Total Reco B PS5 Resource
2002 Utility @ Utility @ Utility @ ESI PDI Other atio onsolidated
Income Statement
External revenues $741.6 $308.7 $1,050.3 $358.8 $51.8 $ 0.2 $ - $1,461.1
Intersegment revenues 21.5 2.0 23.5 2.4 7.6 1.1 (34.6) -
Depreciation and

decommissioning 72.6 13.3 85.9 1.1 7.3 0.5 - 94.8
Miscelianeous income 6.3 0.3 6.6 1.8 27.7 19.8 (8.1) 47.8
Interest expense 28.7 6.3 35.0 1.6 3.4 22.4 (6.6) 55.8
Provision for income taxes 31.8 12.4 © 443 6.6 (18.3) (3.6) (0.3) 28.7
Discontinued operations - - - 0.6 (6.6) - -~ (6.0)
Income available for common

shareholders 61.0 18.4 79.4 11.0 24.0 (5.0) - 109.4
Cash expenditures for

long-lived assets 164.3 34.0 198.3 0.8 8.2 3.0 - 210.3

4 Includes only utility operations. Nonutility operations are included in the Other column.
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OTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Geographic Information Long-Lived Long-Lived

(Miflions) Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues
United States $3,763.6 $2,823.8 $3,749.6 $2,618.4 $1,407.4
Canada @ 1,127.0 22.9 571.7 24.1 53.7
Total $4,890.6 $2,846.7 $4,321.3 $2,642.5 $1,461.1

@ Revenues and assets of Canadian subsidiaries.

NOTE 26—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

2004

(Millions, except for share amounts) September Dgcember
Operating revenues $1,373.3 $1,045.9 $1,072.5 $1,398.9 $4,890.6
Operating income 71.0 17.5 49.9 50.9 189.3
Income from continuing operations 46.4 10.7 37.8 61.3 156.2
Income available for common shareholders 42,6 4.6 34.8 57.7 139.7
Average number of shares of common stock (basic) 37.1 37.3 37.4 37.5 37.4
Average number of shares of common stock (diluted) 37.3 37.5 37.6 37.8 37.6
Earnings per common share (basic) @

Income from continuing operations $1.23 $0.27 $0.99 $1.61 $4.09

Earnings per common share (basic) 1.15 0g.12 0.83 1.54 3.74
Earnings per common share (diluted) @

Income from continuing operations $1.22 $0.26 $0.99 $1.60 $4.07

Earnings per common share (diluted) 1.14 0.12 0.93 1.53 3.72

Three Months Ended

2003
{Millions, except for share amounts) June September chgmber
Operating revenues @ $1,281.8 $971.9 $989.3 $1,078.3 | $4,321.3
Operating income 57.4 10.5 52.5 10.3 130.7
Income from continuing operations 35.7 9.2 33.3 32.4 110.6
Net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles 30.6 3.5 34.8 25.7 94.6
Income available for common shareholders 33.0 2.7 34.1 24.9 94.7
Average number of shares of common stock 321 32.4 32.6 34.5 33.0
Average number of shares of common stock (diluted) 32.4 32.7 32.9 34.8 33.2
Earnings per common share (basic) ©©
Income from continuing operations $1.09 $0.26 $1.00 $0.92 $3.26
Net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles 0.93 0.08 1.05 0.72 2.77
Earnings per common share (basic) 1.03 0.08 1.05 0.72 2.87
Earnings per common share (diluted) @
Income from continuing operations $1.08 $0.26 $0.99 $0.91 $3.24
Net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles 0.92 0.08 1.04 0.72 2.75
Earnings per common share (diluted) 1.02 0.08 1.04 0.72 2.85

B0

1) Revenue has been reclassified, including revenues related to discontinued
operation, to conform to current year presentation.

(2 Earnings per share for the Individual quarters do not total the year ended
earnings per share amount because of the significant changes to the average
number of shares outstanding and changes in incremental issuable shares
throughout the year.

Because of various factors, which affect the utility business, the quarterly
results of operations are not necessarily comparable.
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What does a retired line electrician do? Dave Wachowiak
continues to provide power, by empowering his grandson,
Spencer, for his own future, and by joining with other
WPS Resources’ retirees to stay current on energy
issues and lend their support when it's needed.

i

“/\/\q qrandpa used to be a lineman, but he i¢ retived. He vced o c/limb
oles, or he would vse hi¢ bucket trvcke o aive OWCV to peo
P J people.

Spencer Shirek, age 9
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Deloitte

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of WPS Resources Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of WPS Resources Corporation and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
and the related consolidated statements of income,
common shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2004. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of WPS Resources Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, effective January 1, 2003 the Company
changed its method of accounting for certain energy
trading contracts to adopt EITF 02-3, “Issues Involved
in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading
Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and
Risk Management Activities.” As discussed in Notes 1
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, effective
January 1, 2003, the Company changed its method of
accounting for asset retirement obligations to adopt
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.”

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the criteria established in internal Control—
integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
and our report (not presented herein) dated March 9,
2005 expressed an ungualified opinion on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting and an ungualified opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

De lo: te + Tovche 1P

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
March 9, 2005




FINANCIAL STATISTICS

As of or for Year Ended December 31

(Millions, except per share amounts, stock price, return on

average equity, and number of shareholders and employees) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Total revenues * $4,890.6 $4,321.3 $1,461.1 $1,345.4 $1,094.1
Income from continuing operations 156.2 110.6 118.5 87.6 75.6
Income available for common shareholders 139.7 94.7 109.4 77.6 67.0
Total assets 4,445.6 4,292.3 3,671.2 3,346.5 3,202.7
Preferred stock of subsidiaries 51.1 51.1 511 51.1 511

Long-term debt and capital lease obligation
(excluding current portion) 865.7 871.9 824.4 727.8 660.0

Shares of common stock (less treasury stock
and shares in deferred compensation trust)
Outstanding 37.3 36.6 31.8 31.1 26.4
Average 37.4 33.0 31.7 28.2 26.5

Earnings per common share (basic)

Income from continuing operations $4.09 $3.26 $3.64 $3.00 $2.74

Earnings per common share 3.74 2.87 3.45 2.75 2.53
Earnings per common share (diluted)

Income from continuing operations 4.07 3.24 3.61 2.99 2.74

Earnings per common share - 372 2.85 3.42 2.74 2.53
Dividend per share of common stock 2.20 2.16 2.12 2.08 2.04
Stock price at year-end $43.96 $46.23 $38.82 $36.55 $36.8125
Book value per share $29.30 $27.40 $24.62 $23.02 $20.76
Return on average equity 13.5% 11.5% 14.6% 12.8% 12.3%
Number of common stock shareholders 21,358 22,172 22,768 23,478 24,029
Number of employees 3,048 3,080 2,963 2,856 3,030

* Revenues increased $2,860.2 million in 2003 compared to 2002. Approximately $1,127 million of the increase relates to WPS Energy Services, Inc.'s required
adoption of Issue No. 02-03, “Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and
Risk Management Activities,” effective January 1, 2003. Volume growth driven by WPS Energy Services, Inc.'s acquisition of a retail natural gas business in
Canada accounted for another $500 million of the increase. The remaining increase in revenues was primarily related to increased natural gas prices at
Wisconsin Public Service Corporation and WPS Energy Services, Inc. and electric rate increases at the utilities.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

Shareholder Inquiries

Our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,

can be reached via telephone between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and
6:00 p.m., Central time, Monday through Thursday, or 7:00 a.m.
and 4:00 p.m., Central time, Friday, by calling 800-236-1551.. You
also have direct access to your account 24 hours a day through
the Internet at www.amstock.com.

Qur Investor Relations staff is also available to assist you by calling
920-433-1050 between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m.,
Central time, Monday through Friday.

Mailing addresses and Internet addresses, along with additional
telephone numbers, are listed on the back cover of this report.

Cocmmon Stock

The New York Stock Exchange is the principal market for
WPS Resources Corporation common stock, which trades under the
ticker symbol of WPS.

—— You may purchase or sell our
C—]
=== common stock through our
el - i Stock Investment Plan
s ! described below or through
% brokerage firms and banks
that offer brokerage services.
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_ T Common stock certificates
issued before September 1, 1994, bear the name of Wisconsin
Public Service Corporation and remain valid certificates.

Effective December 16, 1996, each share of our common stock has
a Right associated with it, which would entitle the owner to purchase
additional shares of common stock under specified terms and
conditions. The Rights are not presently exercisable. The Rights
would become exercisable ten days after a person or group

(1) acquires 15% or more of WPS Resources Corporation’s common
stock or (2) announces a tender offer to acquire at least 15% of
WPS Resources’ common stock.

On December 31, 2004, we had 37,259,553 shares of common
stock outstanding, which were owned by 21,358 holders of record.

Year Ended December 31 By quarter)

Dividends Price Range
Per Share High Low
2004 1st quarter $ .545 $48.93 $44.99
2nd quarter 545 48.70 43.50
3rd quarter 555 48.81 44.85
4th quarter _.b55 50.53 45,35
$2.20
2003 1st quarter $ .535 $41.18 $36.80
2nd quarter 535 44.28 39.53
3rd quarter 545 41.60 38.28
4th guarter .545 46.80 40.94
$2.16

Dividends

We have paid gquarterly cash dividends on our common stock since
1953, and we expect to continue that trend. Future dividends are
dependent on regulatory limitations, earnings, capital requirements,
cash flows, and other financial considerations.

Anticipated record and payment dates for common stock dividends
to be paid in 2005 are:

Record Date Payment Date

February 28 March 19
May 31 June 20
August 31 September 20

November 30 December 20

If you are a record holder of our common stock, you may have your
dividends electronically deposited in a checking or savings account
at a financial institution. If you are a record holder and your
dividends are not electronically deposited, we will mail your dividend
check directly to you.

If you are a record holder of our common stock and your dividend
check is not received on the payment date, wait approximately ten
days to allow for delays in mail delivery. After that time, contact
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company to request a
replacement check.

Stock Investment Plan

———

We maintain a Stock Investment Plan for the 0@
purchase of common stock, which allows P Rescurces Corparsson
persons who are not already shareholders to

become participants by making a minimum

initial cash investment of $100. Our Plan —_—
enables you to maintain registration with us Froseceun
in your own name rather than with a broker in :m

“street name.”

The Stock Investment Plan also provides you

with options for reinvesting your dividends and

making optional cash purchases of common ‘ e
stock directly through the Plan without paying :

brokerage commissions, fees, or service charges.

Optional cash payments of not less than $25 per payment may be
made subject to a maximum of $100,000 per calendar year. An
automatic investment option allows you to authorize the deduction of
payments from your checking or savings account automatically once
each month, on the third day of the month, by electronic means for
investment in the Plan.

Cash for investment must be received by the 3rd or 18th day of the
month for investment, which generally commences on or about the
5th or 20th day of the month, or as soon thereafter as practicable.




The shares you hold in our Stock Investment Plan may be sold

by the agent for the Plan as you direct us, or you may request a
certificate for sale through a broker you select. We will accumulate
sale requests from participants and, approximately every five
business days, will submit a sale request to the independent
broker-dealer on behalf of those participants.

Participation in the Stock Investment Plan is being offered only
by means of a prospectus. If you would like a copy of the Stock
Investment Plan prospectus, you may use American Stock
Transfer's Web site at www.amstock.com, call American Stock
Transfer at 800-236-1551, contact us via e-mail by using our
e-mail address of investor@wpsr.com, or you may order or
download the prospectus and enrollment forms using the
Internet at www.wpsr.com under Investor information.

Safekeeping Services

As a participant in the Stock Investment Plan, you may transfer
shares of common stock registered in your name into a Plan account
for safekeeping. Contact American Stock Transfer or our Investor
Relations staff for further details.

Preferred Stock of Subsidiary

The preferred stock of Wisconsin Public Service Corporation trades
on over-the-counter markets. Payment and record dates for preferred
stock dividends to be paid in 2005 are:

Record Date Payment Date

January 14 February 1
April 15 May 1

July 15 August 1
October 14 November 1

Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar

Questions about transferring common or preferred stock, lost
certificates, or changing the name in which certificates are
registered should be directed to our transfer agent, American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, at the addresses or telephone numbers
listed on the back cover.

Address Changes

If your address changes, write to American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company at the address on the back of this report or use their
Web site at www.amstock.com.

Availability of Information

Company financial information is available on our Web site at
www.wpsr.com under Investor Information.

You may obtain, without charge, a copy of our 2004 Form 10-K, without
exhibits, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, by
contacting the Corporate Secretary, at the corporate office mailing
address listed on the back cover, or by using our Web site.

internet

Visit our award-winning Web site at www.wpsr.com to find a wealth
of information about our company and its subsidiaries.

The site will give you instant access to Annual Reports, SEC filings,
proxy statements, financial news, presentations, news releases,
corporate governance,
career opportunities, and
much more. You may also
download a copy of the
prospectus for the Stock
Investment Plan and the
associated forms for
participation in the Plan.

The site is updated
regularly, so visit it often.

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

Our Annual Shareholders’ Meeting will be held on Thursday,
May 19, 2005, at 10:00 a.m. at the Weidner Center, University of
Wisconsin — Green Bay, 2420 Nicolet Drive, Green Bay, Wisconsin.

Proxy statements for our May 19, 2005, Annual Shareholders’
Meeting were mailed to shareholders of record on April 8, 2005.

Annual Report

If you or another member of your household receives more than one
Annual Report because of differences in the registration of your
accounts, please contact American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
s0 account mailing instructions can be modified accordingly.

This Annual Report is prepared primarily for the information of
our shareholders and is not given in connection with the sale
of any security or offer to sell or buy any security.

Corporate Governance Information

Corporate governance information, including our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, our Code of Conduct, charters for the
committees of our Board of Directors, By-Laws, and Articles of
Incorporation, is available on our Web site at www.wpsr.com under
Investor Information. You may also obtain the information by
written request to the Corporate Secretary at the mailing address
for the corporate office indicated on the back cover of this report.

Certifications

We have filed as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, the certifications of
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required
by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We also submitted
to the New York Stock Exchange during 2004 the Annual CEO
Certification required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York
Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.
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Wisconsin Utility Investors, Inc.
Wisconsin Utility Investors, Inc.
{“WUI"} is an independent, non-profit
organization representing the
collective voices of more than 16,000
shareholders in Wisconsin utilities. it
monitors and evaluates industry
issues and trends and is a resource
for its members, regulators, and the
public. WUI can be reached by calling
B808-663-5813 or by e-mail at
contact@wuiinc.org.

Equal Employment Opportunity

WPS Resources Corporation is
committed to equal employment
opportunity for all qualified individuals
without regard to race, creed, color,
religion, sex, age, national origin,
sexual orientation, disability, or veteran
status. To that end, we support and
will cooperate fully with all applicable -
laws, regulations, and executive orders
in all of our employment policies,
practices, and decisions.
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